
 
Monday, October 26, 2020 AGENDA Page 1 

 
BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL AGENDA & RULES COMMITTEE 

SPECIAL MEETING 

MONDAY, OCTOBER 26, 2020 
2:30 P.M. 

Committee Members:  
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Sophie Hahn and Susan Wengraf 

Alternate: Councilmember Ben Bartlett 
 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  
 
Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 
2020, this meeting of the City Council Agenda & Rules Committee will be conducted exclusively 
through teleconference and Zoom videoconference.  Please be advised that pursuant to the 
Executive Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public by limiting human contact that 
could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting location available.   
 
To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android 
device: Use URL https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83948920765.  If you do not wish for your name to 
appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to 
be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen. 
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 839 
4892 0765.  If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 
and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  
 
Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Agenda & Rules Committee by 5:00 
p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the Committee 
in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record.  City offices are currently 
closed and cannot accept written communications in person. 
 

 

  

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83948920765


 
Monday, October 26, 2020 AGENDA Page 2 

AGENDA 
 

Roll Call 

Public Comment 
 
Review of Agendas 

1. Approval of Minutes: October 13, 2020 

2. Review and Approve Draft Agenda: 
a. 11/10/20 – 6:00 p.m. Regular City Council Meeting 

3. Selection of Item for the Berkeley Considers Online Engagement Portal 

4. Adjournments In Memory 
 
Scheduling 

5. Council Worksessions Schedule 

6. Council Referrals to Agenda Committee for Scheduling 

7. Land Use Calendar 
 
Referred Items for Review 

8. Discussion Regarding Impact of COVID-19 (novel coronavirus) on 
Meetings of Legislative Bodies 

 
 

 
 
  

2



Unscheduled Items 

 
Monday, October 26, 2020 AGENDA Page 3 

 These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

9. Commission Reorganization for Post-COVID19 Budget Recovery 
From: Councilmember Droste (Author), Councilmember Robinson (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Kesarwani (Co-Sponsor) 
Referred: June 15, 2020 
Due: November 30, 2020 
Recommendation: 1. Reorganize existing commissions with the goal of 
achieving 20 total commissions; 2. Reorganize existing commissions within 
various departments to ensure that no single department is responsible for more 
than five commissions; 3. Reorganize commissions within the Public Works 
Department to ensure Public Works oversees no more than three commissions; 
4. Refer to the City Manager and every policy committee to agendize at the next 
meeting available to discuss commissions that are in their purview and make 
recommendations to the full Council on how to reorganize and address the 
various policy areas. Commission members should be notified and chairs should 
be invited to participate. Policy committee members are encouraged to consider 
the renaming of some commissions in order to ensure that all policy areas are 
addressed.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Lori Droste, Councilmember, District 8, (510) 981-7180 

 

10.    Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act to prohibit Officeholder 
Accounts; Amending BMC Chapter 2.12 (Item contains supplemental material) 
From: Fair Campaign Practices Commission 
Referred: July 28, 2020 
Due: January 29, 2021 
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and upon conclusion, adopt first 
reading of an ordinance amending the Berkeley Election Reform Act, Berkeley 
Municipal Code Chapter 2.12, to prohibit Officeholder Accounts (See Section 
18531.62. Elected State Officeholder Bank Accounts, Regulations of the Fair 
Political Practices Commission).   
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Sam Harvey, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6950 
 

 

 

 

 

 

3



Unscheduled Items 

 
Monday, October 26, 2020 AGENDA Page 4 

11.     Relinquishments and grants from Councilmembers’ office budgets 
From: Open Government Commission 
Referred: August 31, 2020 
Due: February 15, 2021 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution creating a temporary advisory committee 
consisting of three (3) members each of the City Council and the Open 
Government Commission (“OGC”) to enable discussion between the Council and 
the OGC to make recommendations governing relinquishments and grants from 
Councilmembers’ office budgets.  
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Sam Harvey, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6950 

  
Items for Future Agendas 

• Discussion of items to be added to future agendas 

 
Adjournment – Next Meeting Monday, November 2, 2020 

 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
 
Additional items may be added to the draft agenda per Council Rules of 
Procedure. 
Rules of Procedure as adopted by Council resolution, Article III, C3c - Agenda - Submission of Time Critical 
Items 

Time Critical Items.  A Time Critical item is defined as a matter that is considered urgent by the sponsor 
and that has a deadline for action that is prior to the next meeting of the Council and for which a report 
prepared by the City Manager, Auditor, Mayor or council member is received by the City Clerk after 
established deadlines and is not included on the Agenda Committee’s published agenda.   

 If the Agenda Committee finds the matter to meet the definition of Time Critical, the Agenda Committee 
may place the matter on the Agenda on either the Consent or Action Calendar.  

The City Clerk shall not accept any item past the adjournment of the Agenda Committee meeting for which 
the agenda that the item is requested to appear on has been approved. 

Written communications addressed to the Agenda Committee and submitted to the City Clerk Department 
by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting, will be distributed to the Committee prior to the 
meeting.   

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect.  Members of the City 
Council who are not members of the standing committee may attend a standing committee meeting even 
if it results in a quorum being present, provided that the non-members only act as observers and do not 
participate in the meeting. If only one member of the Council who is not a member of the committee is 
present for the meeting, the member may participate in the meeting because less than a quorum of the 
full Council is present. Any member of the public may attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this 
matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900. 
 

4



 

 
Monday, October 26, 2020 AGENDA Page 5 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including 
auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 
(V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date.  

* * * 
I hereby certify that the agenda for this special meeting of the Berkeley City Council was posted at the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin Luther King 
Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on October 22, 2020. 

 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA. 

5



6



 
Tuesday, October 13, 2020 MINUTES Page 1 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL AGENDA & RULES COMMITTEE 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 13, 2020 
2:30 P.M. 

Committee Members:  
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Sophie Hahn and Susan Wengraf 

Alternate: Councilmember Ben Bartlett 
 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  
 
Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 
2020, this meeting of the City Council Agenda & Rules Committee will be conducted exclusively 
through teleconference and Zoom videoconference.  Please be advised that pursuant to the 
Executive Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public by limiting human contact that 
could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting location available.   
 
To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android 
device: Use URL https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84345655218.  If you do not wish for your name to 
appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to 
be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen. 
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 843 
4565 5218.  If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 
and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  
 
Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Agenda & Rules Committee by 5:00 
p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the Committee 
in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record.  City offices are currently 
closed and cannot accept written communications in person. 
 

 

  

7

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84345655218
arichardson
Typewritten Text
01



 
Tuesday, October 13, 2020 MINUTES Page 2 

Roll Call: 2:33 p.m. All present. 

Public Comment – 2 speakers 
 
Review of Agendas 

1. Approval of Minutes: September 29, 2020 
Action: M/S/C (Wengraf/Hahn) to approve the minutes of 9/29/20. 

 Vote: All Ayes. 

2. Review and Approve Draft Agenda: 
a. 10/27/20 – 6:00 p.m. Regular City Council Meeting 

Action: M/S/C (Wengraf/Hahn) to approve the agenda of the 10/27/2020 
meeting with the changes noted below. 
 Item 15 UC Theater (Arreguin) – Councilmember Wengraf added as a co-sponsor 
 Item 16 Clean Streets (Bartlett) – Councilmember Harrison added as a co-sponsor 
 Item 17 Traffic Circles (Harrison) – Councilmember Bartlett added as a co-sponsor 
 Item 19a/b Smoke Free Multi Unit Housing – Moved to Consent Calendar 
 Item 20a/b Smoke Free Multi Unit Housing – Moved to Consent Calendar 
 Item 21 Treatment of Horses (Arreguin) – Councilmembers Hahn and Wengraf added as 

co-sponsors; Moved to 10/27 Consent Calendar 
 Item 22 Rights of Nature (Davila) – Referred to Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 
 Item 23 Fire Extinguishers (Davila) – Referred to Public Safety Committee 
 Item 24 Conversion of 62nd Street (Bartlett) – Moved to 10/27 Consent Calendar 
 Item 25 Berkeley Mutual Aid (Hahn) – Councilmember Harrison added as a co-sponsor; 

moved to 10/27 Consent Calendar 
 Item 26 Outdoor Dining (Droste) – Councilmembers Harrison added as a co-sponsor; 

referred to Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment and Sustainability 
Committee with a request to analyze of the impact on parking and parking revenues 

Vote: All Ayes. 

3. Selection of Item for the Berkeley Considers Online Engagement Portal 
- None Selected 

4. Adjournments In Memory – None  
 

Scheduling 

5. Council Worksessions Schedule – received and filed 

6. Council Referrals to Agenda Committee for Scheduling 
Action: Revised material received from Councilmember Harrison. M/S/C 
(Arreguin/Wengraf) to schedule Item 2 on the City’s Energy Plan for the 
10/27/2020 Action Calendar. 

 Vote: All Ayes. 
 

 

8



 
Tuesday, October 13, 2020 MINUTES Page 3 

7. Land Use Calendar 
- The Mayor called a special meeting on January 21, 2021 to hear pending 

land use appeals.
 

Referred Items for Review 

8. Discussion Regarding Impact of COVID-19 (novel coronavirus) on 
Meetings of Legislative Bodies 

 

Action: 2 speakers.  Discussion held. M/S/C (Arreguin/Wengraf) to endorse the 
City Manager’s proposal related to the meetings of City boards and commissions 
as follows: All commissions may meet once before the end of 2020 to develop 
and finalize the commission work plan for 2021, and to analyze any Council 
referrals to the commission related to the COVID-19 pandemic.  If a second 
meeting is needed, the City Manager may approve such meeting according to 
the limitations listed. 

 Vote: All Ayes. 
 

 

 

  

9



Unscheduled Items 

 
Tuesday, October 13, 2020 MINUTES Page 4 

 

 These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

9. Commission Reorganization for Post-COVID19 Budget Recovery 
From: Councilmember Droste (Author), Councilmember Robinson (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Kesarwani (Co-Sponsor) 
Referred: June 15, 2020 
Due: November 30, 2020 
Recommendation: 1. Reorganize existing commissions with the goal of 
achieving 20 total commissions; 2. Reorganize existing commissions within 
various departments to ensure that no single department is responsible for more 
than five commissions; 3. Reorganize commissions within the Public Works 
Department to ensure Public Works oversees no more than three commissions; 
4. Refer to the City Manager and every policy committee to agendize at the next 
meeting available to discuss commissions that are in their purview and make 
recommendations to the full Council on how to reorganize and address the 
various policy areas. Commission members should be notified and chairs should 
be invited to participate. Policy committee members are encouraged to consider 
the renaming of some commissions in order to ensure that all policy areas are 
addressed.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Lori Droste, Councilmember, District 8, (510) 981-7180 

 

     Action: Continued to next meeting under Unscheduled Items. 

10.    Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act to prohibit Officeholder 
Accounts; Amending BMC Chapter 2.12 (Item contains supplemental material) 
From: Fair Campaign Practices Commission 
Referred: July 28, 2020 
Due: January 29, 2021 
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and upon conclusion, adopt first 
reading of an ordinance amending the Berkeley Election Reform Act, Berkeley 
Municipal Code Chapter 2.12, to prohibit Officeholder Accounts (See Section 
18531.62. Elected State Officeholder Bank Accounts, Regulations of the Fair 
Political Practices Commission).   
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Sam Harvey, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6950 
 
Action: Continued to next meeting under Unscheduled Items. 

 

 

 

 

10



Unscheduled Items 

 
Tuesday, October 13, 2020 MINUTES Page 5 

11.     Relinquishments and grants from Councilmembers’ office budgets 
From: Open Government Commission 
Referred: August 31, 2020 
Due: February 15, 2021 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution creating a temporary advisory committee 
consisting of three (3) members each of the City Council and the Open 
Government Commission (“OGC”) to enable discussion between the Council and 
the OGC to make recommendations governing relinquishments and grants from 
Councilmembers’ office budgets.  
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Sam Harvey, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6950 

Action: Continued to next meeting under Unscheduled Items. 

  
Items for Future Agendas 

 Discussion of items to be added to future agendas  - None  

 
Adjournment  

 

Action: M/S/C (Wengraf/Hahn) to adjourn the meeting. 
 Vote: All Ayes. 
 

  Adjourned at 3:43 p.m. 

 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct record of the Agenda & Rules 
Committee meeting held on October 13, 2020. 
 
_________________________ 
Mark Numainville 
City Clerk 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA. 

11



12



Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 1 

D R AF T  AG E N D A 

 
BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 
6:00 PM 

 
JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 

Councilmembers: 
DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI  DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – CHERYL DAVILA  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – RIGEL ROBINSON 
DISTRICT 4 – KATE HARRISON  DISTRICT 8 – LORI DROSTE 

 
PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  
Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 2020, this meeting 
of the City Council will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference.  Please be 
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety 
of the public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting 
location available.   
 
Live audio is available on KPFB Radio 89.3. Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable 
B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet accessible video stream at 
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx. 
 
To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL 
<<INSERT URL HERE>>.  If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu 
and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon by 
rolling over the bottom of the screen.  
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: <<INSERT MEETING 
ID HERE>>. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be 
recognized by the Chair.  
 
To submit an e-mail comment during the meeting to be read aloud during public comment, email 
clerk@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject Line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM ##.” Please observe a 
150 word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the public record.   
 
Please be mindful that the teleconference will be recorded as any Council meeting is recorded, and all other rules 
of procedure and decorum will apply for Council meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953.  Any member 
of the public may attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City 
Clerk, (510) 981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda. Meetings will 
adjourn at 11:00 p.m. - any items outstanding at that time will be carried over to a date/time to be specified. 

 

13

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx
mailto:clerk@cityofberkeley.info
arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a



Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 2 

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  

Ceremonial Matters: In addition to those items listed on the agenda, the Mayor may add additional 
ceremonial matters. 

City Manager Comments:  The City Manager may make announcements or provide information to 
the City Council in the form of an oral report.  The Council will not take action on such items but may 
request the City Manager place a report on a future agenda for discussion. 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: Persons will be selected to address matters not on 
the Council agenda.  If five or fewer persons wish to speak, each person selected will be allotted two 
minutes each.  If more than five persons wish to speak, up to ten persons will be selected to address 
matters not on the Council agenda and each person selected will be allotted one minute each. The 
remainder of the speakers wishing to address the Council on non-agenda items will be heard at the end 
of the agenda. 
 
Consent Calendar 
 The Council will first determine whether to move items on the agenda for “Action” or “Information” to the 

“Consent Calendar”, or move “Consent Calendar” items to “Action.” Three members of the City Council 
must agree to pull an item from the Consent Calendar for it to move to Action. Items that remain on the 
“Consent Calendar” are voted on in one motion as a group. “Information” items are not discussed or acted 
upon at the Council meeting unless they are moved to “Action” or “Consent”. 

No additional items can be moved onto the Consent Calendar once public comment has commenced. At 
any time during, or immediately after, public comment on Information and Consent items, any 
Councilmember may move any Information or Consent item to “Action.” Following this, the Council will 
vote on the items remaining on the Consent Calendar in one motion.  

For items moved to the Action Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons 
who spoke on the item during the Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again at the time 
the matter is taken up during the Action Calendar. 

Public Comment on Consent Calendar and Information Items Only: The Council will 
take public comment on any items that are either on the amended Consent Calendar or the Information 
Calendar.  Speakers will be entitled to two minutes each to speak in opposition to or support of Consent 
Calendar and Information Items.  A speaker may only speak once during the period for public comment 
on Consent Calendar and Information items. 

Additional information regarding public comment by City of Berkeley employees and interns: Employees 
and interns of the City of Berkeley, although not required, are encouraged to identify themselves as such, 
the department in which they work and state whether they are speaking as an individual or in their official 
capacity when addressing the Council in open session or workshops. 
 
 
 
 

14



Consent Calendar 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 3 

1. 
 

Memorandum of Understanding for a Winter Relief Program 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager or her 
designee to execute a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between Alameda 
County and the City of Berkeley for a Winter Relief Program, consisting of $25,000 
allotted from Alameda County to the City, which will provide homeless people on the 
streets of Berkeley housing respite through May 31, 2021.  
Financial Implications: 
Contact: Erin Steffen, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000 

 
2. 
 

Memorandum of Understanding: Berkeley Fire Fighters Association, Local 
1227 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution approving an one (1) year extension to 
Memorandum of Understanding (hereafter referred to as “MOU”) with the Berkeley 
Fire Fighters Association (hereafter referred to as the “Union”) with a term of July 1, 
2020 through June 30, 2021 and authorizing the City Manager to execute and 
implement the terms and conditions of employment set forth in the extended MOU 
with no changes in compensation or terms except for economic items related to the 
COVID-19 epidemic items within the mandatory scope of bargaining including ballot 
measures adopted by the voters to permit additional time to assess the financial 
effects of the COVID-19 epidemic. Also, authorize the City Manager to make non-
substantive edits to the format and language of the Memorandum of Understanding 
in alignment with Council Direction, the tentative agreement and conforming to legal 
requirements.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: LaTanya Bellow, Human Resources, (510) 981-6800 

 
3. 
 

Lease for 5385 Cazadero Hwy, Cazadero, CA 95421 – Cazadero Preforming 
Arts Camp (CPAC) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt first reading of an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager 
to execute a lease agreement and necessary amendments with Cazadero 
Performing Arts Camp, at 5385 Cazadero Hwy, Cazadero, CA 95421 for a term of 
twenty-five (25) years, with an option to renew for ten (10) years.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Scott Ferris, Parks, Recreation and Waterfront, (510) 981-6700 

 

15



Consent Calendar 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 4 

4. 
 

Referral Response: Including Climate Impacts in City Council Reports 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Request that the City Manager update the templates and 
associated training materials to add “Climate Impacts” in the “Environmental 
Sustainability” section of reports to the City Council, and codify the changes in 
Appendix B in the next update to the Berkeley City Council Rules of Procedure. This 
recommendation is a partial response to a January 21, 2020 referral, sponsored by 
Councilmembers Davila and Bartlett, to require that all City Council items and staff 
reports include “climate impacts” in addition to environmental sustainability.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 
5. 
 

Acceptance of $20,000 Grant for utility bill management software analysis 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to accept a 
$20,000 grant award from the Energy Council through East Bay Energy Watch 
Partnership, to support staff analysis of online utility bill database management 
services.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 
6. 
 

Purchase Order:  Pape Machinery, Inc. for One (1) John Deere 310SL Backhoe 
Loader 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution satisfying requirements of City Charter 
Article XI Section 67.2 allowing the City to participate in Sourcewell Contract No. 
032119-JDC and authorizing the City Manager to execute a purchase order for one 
2020 John Deere 310SL Backhoe Loader with Pape Machinery, Inc. in an amount 
not to exceed $150,000.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
7. 
 

Purchase Order: Altec Industries, Inc. for One Aerial Bucket Truck 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution satisfying requirements of City Charter 
Article XI Sections 67.2 allowing the City to participate in Sourcewell contract bid 
procedures, and authorizing the City Manager to execute a purchase order for one 
(1) aerial bucket truck with Altec Industries, Inc. in an amount not to exceed 
$200,000.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
 

16



Council Consent Calendar 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 5 

8. 
 

Berkeley Holiday Fund: Relinquishment of Council Office Budget Funds to 
General Fund and Grant of Such Funds 
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author) 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution approving the expenditure of an amount not 
to exceed $500 per Councilmember including $500 from Mayor Arreguin to the 
Berkeley Holiday Fund’s annual campaign with funds relinquished to the City’s 
general fund for this purpose from the discretionary Council Office Budgets of Mayor 
Arreguin and any other Councilmembers who would like to contribute.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 

 
9. 
 

Open Pathways (including laundry services), West Campus Pool and Martin 
Luther King Jr. Pool (King pool) to implement the City of Berkeley Shower 
Program at these locations and provide the ability for our community to 
shower during the COVID 19 pandemic (Item contains revised materials. 
Reviewed by the Budget & Finance Committee) 
From: Councilmember Davila (Author) 
Recommendation: Direct the City Manager to open the Pathways (including laundry 
services), West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School (King pool) 
Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. Opening 
these locations will provide the ability for our community to shower during the COVID 
19 Pandemic, a humane action required during this crisis.  
(On October 8, 2020, the Budget & Finance Committee took action to send the item 
to Council with a qualified positive recommendation acknowledging that the City 
Manager is already implementing a shower program and to thank the City Manager 
for initiating this program and to encourage its continued operation during the COVID 
emergency. Vote: All Ayes.)  
Financial Implications: $270,100 
Contact: Cheryl Davila, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 

 

17



Council Consent Items 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 6 

10. 
 

Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity 
Pilot Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to 
low-income residents (Reviewed by the Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, 
Environment & Sustainability Committee) 
From: Councilmember Harrison (Author) 
Recommendation: Refer to the City Manager the design of a Resilient Homes 
Equity Pilot Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to 
low-income residents as a companion to the Council referral to expand the Seismic 
Transfer Tax Rebate Program to include efficiency and electrification retrofit 
measures.  
(On October 7, 2020, the Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment & 
Sustainability Committee adopted the following action: M/S/C (Harrison/Robinson) to 
move recommendation two to “Refer to the City Manager the design of a Companion 
Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program that would provide funding for home retrofit 
improvements for low income residents” to the City Council with a positive 
recommendation. Vote: All Ayes.)  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140 

 
Action Calendar 
 The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. For items 

moved to the Action Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons who spoke on 
the item during the Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again at the time the matter is 
taken up during the Action Calendar. 

The Presiding Officer will request that persons wishing to speak use the "raise hand" function to determine 
the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. Up to ten (10) speakers may speak for two 
minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Presiding Officer may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to 
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes. The Presiding Officer may, 
with the consent of persons representing both sides of an issue, allocate a block of time to each side to 
present their issue. 

Action items may be reordered at the discretion of the Chair with the consent of Council. 
 
Action Calendar – Old Business 
 

11. 
 

Resumption of Fees at Oregon Park Senior Apartments (Continued from October 
13, 2020) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation:  
Authorize the City Manager to resume charging fees, including housing inspection 
service fees, at Oregon Park Senior Apartments (OPSA), located at 1425 Oregon 
Street, to increase the effectiveness of housing code enforcement.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

18



Action Calendar – New Business 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 7 

12. Resolution Accepting the Surveillance Technology Report for Automatic
License Plate Readers, GPS Trackers, Body-Worn Cameras, and the Street-
Level Imagery Project
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution accepting the Surveillance Technology
Report for Automatic License Plate Readers, GPS Trackers, Body Worn Cameras,
and the Street Level Imagery Project Pursuant to Chapter 2.99 of the Berkeley
Municipal Code
Financial Implications: None
Contact: Andrew Greenwood, Police, (510) 981-5900, Dave White, City Manager's
Office, (510) 981-7000

Action Calendar – Policy Committee Track Items 

13. Four Way Stop Signs on Eighth Street at Carleton Street and Pardee Street
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author)
Recommendation: Refer to the City Manager a proposal to install stop signs at the
intersections of Eighth Street and Carleton Street and Eighth Street and Pardee
Street.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

19



Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 8 

14. Implement Protocols for managing the City Council Meetings on Zoom
From: Councilmember Davila (Author)
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution with the following actions:
1. Implement the following protocols and criteria for City Council Meetings held on
the Zoom Video Conferencing service, which shall take effect upon adoption, as well
as adding the following section to the City Council Rules of Procedures:
A) Gallery view showing the list of all participants and attendees; B) Display the
timer, during public comment on any item on the agenda, the timer for each speaker
shall be displayed. The timer countdown shall start when the person starts speaking,
and shall notify the speaker their time has exceeded the allotted time; but will stop
when the speaker stops speaking. In the event of technical difficulties during a
speaker presentation, the speaker time will stop and will resume when the speaker
resumes speaking; C) Time yielded, in order to yield extra time to the current
speaker, attendees speaking shall state the name of the person yielding their time
prior to speaking, each person yielding time must be on the zoom as an attendee at
the time, time is yielded; D) The designated meeting host shall keep track of a list
and record attendees requesting to speak in the order when they raised their hands
for public comment. The list shall be presented on screen publicly that shows who
raised their hand to speak on Zoom, how they were chosen and in what order; E)
Notify speakers they have exceeded their time, and allow to complete their sentence
and state you are moving on to the next speaker, prior to cutting the speaker off; F)
Allow chat and reactions capabilities for attendees and participants; G) The chat
should be saved and part of the public record.
2. Designate a third party community organization to host and manage the meeting
with neutrality.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Cheryl Davila, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120

15. Consider Fire Safety Options for Fire Pit at Codornices Park
From: Councilmember Wengraf (Author)
Recommendation: Referral to the Parks & Waterfront Commission to consider
safety options regarding the future of the fire pit at Codornices Park. Please consider
1) Complete removal of fire pit or 2) Manufacture of a cover that can be secured and
locked.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Susan Wengraf, Councilmember, District 6, (510) 981-7160

Public Comment – Items Not Listed on the Agenda

Adjournment 
NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to approve 
or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  1) No 
lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of Decision 
of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be barred.  2) 
In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use permit or variance, 
the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally or in writing, at a 

Action Calendar – Policy Committee Track Items

20



 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 DRAFT AGENDA Page 9 

public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33),  
via internet accessible video stream at http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx 

and KPFB Radio 89.3. 
Archived indexed video streams are available at http://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil. 
Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be posted on the City's website at http://www.cityofberkeley.info. 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at 
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil 

 
COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
 

 
Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

21

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil


22



Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

To: Honorable Members of the City Council

From: Mayor Jesse Arreguín

Subject: Berkeley Holiday Fund: Relinquishment of Council Office Budget Funds to 
General Fund and Grant of Such Funds

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution approving the expenditure of an amount not to exceed $500 per 
Councilmember including $500 from Mayor Arreguin to the Berkeley Holiday Fund’s 
annual campaign with funds relinquished to the City’s general fund for this purpose from 
the discretionary Council Office Budgets of Mayor Arreguin and any other 
Councilmembers who would like to contribute. 

BACKGROUND
The Berkeley Holiday Fund has helped make the holiday season happier for hundreds 
of Berkeley's neediest residents for 107 years. An all-volunteer organization, the 
Berkeley Holiday Fund has been partnering with 29 Berkeley service agencies, such as 
the Center for Elder Independence, the YMCA, Berkeley Food and Housing Project, and 
the Berkeley Health Department. By keeping operating costs to a minimum, the 
Berkeley Holiday Fund ensures that all contributions go directly to help those who need 
it the most. Last year, they were able to bring a little cheer into the lives of over 1,000 
Berkeley citizens distributing over $85,000. This year, with the onset of COVID-19, they 
have expanded their Emergency Fund to offer cash assistance to families and 
individuals that their partner agencies have identified as suffering financial hardship due 
to COVID-19 and the Shelter in Place Orders.

The Mayor’s office has actively participated in this program for over 25 years by 
providing application cards and first class postage to Berkeley Holiday Fund recipients. 
This year the Berkeley Holiday Fund anticipates distributing over 1,000 request forms. 
This item requests the City Council approve an expenditure, not to exceed $500 of 
funds from the from the Mayor’s office budget to cover reproduction costs and postage.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
No General Fund impact. $500 is available from the Mayor’s office budget discretionary 
account.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with adopting 
this recommendation.

Page 1 of 4

23

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.08



Berkeley Holiday Fund 2020 CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

Page 2

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7100

Attachments: 
1: Resolution
2: Letter from Berkeley Holiday Fund

Page 2 of 4

24



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

BERKELEY HOLIDAY FUND 2020

WHEREAS, the Berkeley Holiday Fund has been making small grants to Berkeley’s
neediest citizens for 107 years; and

WHEREAS, last year, the Berkeley Holiday Fund distributed about $85,000 to over 1,000 
Berkeley residents; and

WHEREAS, Berkeley Holiday Fund partners with 29 Berkeley service agencies
including the Center for Elder Independence, the YMCA, Berkeley Food and Housing
Project, and the Berkeley Health Department; and

WHEREAS, this year, the Berkeley Holiday Fund has expanded their Emergency Fund 
to offer cash assistance to families and individuals that their partner agencies have 
identified as suffering financial hardship due to COVID-19 and the Shelter in Place 
Orders; and

WHEREAS, the Berkeley Mayor’s Office has supported the Berkeley Holiday Fund’s
efforts for over 25 years by reproducing request forms and providing first class postage
costs; and; and

WHEREAS, Mayor Arreguin has surplus funds in his office expenditure account; and

WHEREAS, the Berkeley Holiday Fund seeks funds in the amount of $500 to provide
application cards and first class postage to Berkeley Holiday Fund recipients; and

WHEREAS, the provision of such services would fulfill the following municipal public
purpose of providing services to low income residents of the City of Berkeley.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that funds 
relinquished by the Mayor and Councilmembers from their Council Office Budget up to 
$500 per office shall be granted to the Berkeley Holiday Fund for providing application 
cards and first class postage to Berkeley Holiday Fund recipients.

Page 3 of 4

25



Page 4 of 4

26



Cheryl Davila
Councilmember 
District 2

CONSENT CALENDAR
April 14, 2020

To:           Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
 
From:      Councilmember Cheryl Davila

Subject:  Open Pathways (including laundry services), West Campus Pool and Martin Luther 
       King Jr. Pool (King pool) to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at 
       these locations and provide the ability for our community to shower during the 
   COVID 19 pandemic.

Subject:  Open West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Pool (King pool) to implement the 
City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations, and provide the ability for our community to 
shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic.

RECOMMENDATION
Direct the City Manager to open the Pathways (including laundry services), West 
Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School (King pool) Pool to implement 
the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. Opening these locations will 
provide the ability for our community to shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic, a 
humane action required during this crisis.  

Direct the City Manager to open the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle 
School (King pool) Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. 
Opening the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School (King pool) pool will 
provide the ability for our community to shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic, a humane 
action required during this crisis.  

POLICY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
On October 8, 2020, the Budget & Finance Committee took action M/S/C (Arreguin/Droste) to 
send the item to Council with a qualified positive recommendation acknowledging that the City 
Manager is already implementing a shower program and to thank the City Manager for initiating 
this program and to encourage its continued operation during the COVID emergency. Vote: All 
Ayes. 

Page 1 of 9

27

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.09



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
To operate a year-round shower program that duplicates the program at the Willard Pool would 
cost to establish a shower program would be approximately $270,100 plus for the two locations.

To operate a year-round shower program that duplicates the program at the Willard Pool would 
cost to establish a shower program would be approximately $270,100 for both locations..

BACKGROUND
Berkeley, now impacted by the COVID19 pandemic crisis, a housing affordability crisis, and a 
homelessness crisis. COVID 19 requires one to have good personal hygiene and washing one’s 
hands multiple times during the day for 20+ seconds, wiping surfaces, and enhanced 
cleanliness. Currently, there are no shower programs in West or South Berkeley where there 
are high concentrations of our curbside communities who do not have access to showers. The 
contract with Project WeHope / Dignity on Wheels that provides homeless individual access to 
clean showers, laundry service and bathroom facilities is pending. Therefore, Project WeHope / 
Dignity on Wheels is not available at this time. We are in a pandemic which requires ways for 
our community to be cleaner to prevent further community spread transmissions.  

The Coronavirus or COVID 19 pandemic requires cleanliness, washing our hands, often for 
twenty seconds or longer, washing our face, etc. Currently, there is no shower program in West 
or South Berkeley where there are high concentrations of our curbside communities who do not 
have access to showers. The contract with Project WeHope / Dignity on Wheels that provides 
homeless individual access to clean showers, laundry service and bathroom facilities is 
pending. Therefore, Project WeHope / Dignity on Wheels is not available at this time. We are in 
a pandemic which requires ways for our community to be cleaner to prevent further community 
transmissions.  

The Willard Shower program is operated by the Parks, Recreation and Waterfront 
Department (PRW) at the Willard Recreation Administration office, 2701 Telegraph 
Avenue. The Telegraph location is not convenient for the curbside community in West 
and South Berkeley. Pathways, West Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. 
Middle School pool will enable the curbside community in West and South Berkeley 
access to showers closer to their location. 

The Willard Shower program is operated by the Parks, Recreation and Waterfront Department 
(PRW) at the Willard Recreation Administration office, 2701 Telegraph Avenue. The Telegraph 
location is not convenient for the curbside community in West and South Berkeley. West 
Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School pool will enable the curbside 
community in West and South Berkeley access to showers closer to their location. 

Pathways should open their showers and laundry facilities to be utilized, as well 
during the COVID 19 pandemic. 

In January 2018, the City Council considered Council Item1“. Open the West Campus 
Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus Pool”. 
Months later, the City Manager provided a response 2 to the City Council in June 
2018, where it identified the cost to establish a shower program similar to the Willard 
Shower Program at West Campus pool. The COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must 

Page 2 of 9

28

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%2520Referral%2520Response%2520061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%2520Referral%2520Response%2520061218.pdf


do all that we can to mitigate the dire consequences. We need to ensure that the 
shower program is also accessible and equitable to all residents.

In January 2018, the City Council considered Council Item 1”Open the West Campus Pool All 
Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus Pool”. Months later, the City 
Manager provided a response 2 to the City Council in June 2018, where it identified the cost to 
establish a shower program similar to the Willard Shower Program at West Campus pool. The 
COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must do all that we can to mitigate the dire consequences. 
We need to ensure that the shower program is also accessible and equitable to all residents.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Access to the West Campus pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School Pool is an important 
part of a healthy living lifestyle for the residents in West, South and all of Berkeley.

REFERENCES
1. Open the West Campus Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West 

Campus Pool
2. https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-

_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf 

CONTACT PERSON
Cheryl Davila
Councilmember District 2                                                                                      
510.981.7120
cdavila@cityofberkeley.info

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution

CONTACT PERSON
Cheryl Davila
Councilmember District 2    
510.981.7120, cdavila@cityofberkeley.info

Page 3 of 9

29

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/01_Jan/Documents/2018-01-23_Item_27_Open_West_Campus_Pool.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/01_Jan/Documents/2018-01-23_Item_27_Open_West_Campus_Pool.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%252520Referral%252520Response%252520061218.pdf


RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BERKELEY DIRECTING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO OPEN PATHWAYS (INCLUDING LAUNDRY SERVICES), WEST 
CAMPUS POOL AND MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. POOL (KING POOL) TO IMPLEMENT THE 
CITY OF BERKELEY SHOWER PROGRAM AT THESE LOCATIONS, AND PROVIDE THE 
ABILITY FOR OUR COMMUNITY TO SHOWER DURING THE COVID 19 PANDEMIC, A 
HUMANE ACTION REQUIRED DURING THIS CRISIS.

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BERKELEY DIRECTING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO OPEN THE WEST CAMPUS POOL AND MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. 
MIDDLE SCHOOL POOL TO IMPLEMENT THE CITY OF BERKELEY SHOWER PROGRAM 
AT THESE LOCATIONS, AND PROVIDING THE ABILITY FOR OUR COMMUNITY TO 
SHOWER DURING THE COVID 19 PANDEMIC, A HUMANE ACTION REQUIRED DURING 
THIS CRISIS.

WHEREAS, Berkeley, now impacted by the COVID19 pandemic crisis, a housing affordability 
crisis, and a homelessness crisis; and

WHEREAS, the Coronavirus or COVID 19 pandemic requires cleanliness, washing our hands, 
often for twenty seconds or longer, washing our face, etc.; and 

WHEREAS, The Coronavirus or COVID 19 pandemic requires cleanliness, washing our hands, 
often for twenty seconds or longer, washing our face, etc., and 

WHEREAS, there is no shower program in West or South Berkeley where there are high 
concentrations of our curbside communities who do not have access to showers; and 

WHEREAS, There is no shower program in West or South Berkeley where there are high 
concentrations of our curbside communities who do not have access to showers and, 

Page 4 of 9

30



WHEREAS, The Telegraph location is not convenient for the curbside community in West and 
South Berkeley. West Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School pool will 
enable the curbside community in West and South Berkeley access to showers closer to their 
location; and 

WHEREAS, The Telegraph location is not convenient for the curbside community in West and 
South Berkeley. West Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School pool will 
enable the curbside community in West and South Berkeley access to showers closer to their 
location, and,. 

WHEREAS, In January 2018, the City Council considered Council Item: “Open the West 
Campus Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus Pool”. 

WHEREAS, The COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must do all that we can to mitigate the dire 
consequences. We need to ensure that the shower program is also accessible and equitable to 
all residents; and

WHEREAS, The COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must do all that we can to mitigate the dire 
consequences. We need to ensure that the shower program is also accessible and equitable to 
all residents.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley, hereby directs 
the City Manager to open the Pathways, West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle 
School (King pool) Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. 
Opening these locations will provide the ability for our community to shower during the COVID 
19 Pandemic, a humane action required during this crisis.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley, hereby directs 
the City Manager to open the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr Middle School (King 
pool) Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. Opening the 
West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School (King Pool) pool will the ability for 
our community to shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic, a humane action required during this 
crisis.  
 

Page 5 of 9

31



Page 6 of 9

32



Cheryl Davila
Councilmember 
District 2

CONSENT CALENDAR
April 14, 2020

To:           Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
 
From:      Councilmember Cheryl Davila
    
Subject:  Open West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Pool (King pool) to implement the 
City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations, and provide the ability for our community to 
shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic.

RECOMMENDATION
Direct the City Manager to open the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. 
Middle School (King pool) Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at 
these locations. Opening the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle 
School (King pool) pool will provide the ability for our community to shower during the 
COVID 19 Pandemic, a humane action required during this crisis.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
To operate a year-round shower program that duplicates the program at the Willard Pool would 
cost to establish a shower program would be approximately $270,100 for both locations..

BACKGROUND
The Coronavirus or COVID 19 pandemic requires cleanliness, washing our hands, 
often for twenty seconds or longer, washing our face, etc. Currently, there is no 
shower program in West or South Berkeley where there are high concentrations of our 
curbside communities who do not have access to showers. The contract with Project 
WeHope / Dignity on Wheels that provides homeless individual access to clean 
showers, laundry service and bathroom facilities is pending. Therefore, Project 
WeHope / Dignity on Wheels is not available at this time. We are in a pandemic which 
requires ways for our community to be cleaner to prevent further community 
transmissions.  

The Willard Shower program is operated by the Parks, Recreation and Waterfront 
Department (PRW) at the Willard Recreation Administration office, 2701 Telegraph 
Avenue. The Telegraph location is not convenient for the curbside community in West 
and South Berkeley. West Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School 
pool will enable the curbside community in West and South Berkeley access to 
showers closer to their location. 

In January 2018, the City Council considered Council Item 1: “Open the West Campus 
Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus Pool”. 
Months later, the City Manager provided a response 2 to the City Council in June 
2018, where it identified the cost to establish a shower program similar to the Willard 
Shower Program at West Campus pool. The COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must 
do all that we can to mitigate the dire consequences. We need to ensure that the 
shower program is also accessible and equitable to all residents.

Page 7 of 9

33

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.wehope.org/all-programs
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf


ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Access to the West Campus pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School Pool is an 
important part of a healthy living lifestyle for the residents in West, South and all of Berkeley.

REFERENCES
1. Open the West Campus Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus 

Pool
2. https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-

_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf 

CONTACT PERSON
Cheryl Davila
Councilmember District 2                                                                                      
510.981.7120
cdavila@cityofberkeley.info

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BERKELEY DIRECTING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO OPEN THE WEST CAMPUS POOL AND MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. 

MIDDLE SCHOOL POOL TO IMPLEMENT THE CITY OF BERKELEY SHOWER PROGRAM 
AT THESE LOCATIONS, AND PROVIDING THE ABILITY FOR OUR COMMUNITY TO 

Page 8 of 9

34

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/01_Jan/Documents/2018-01-23_Item_27_Open_West_Campus_Pool.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/01_Jan/Documents/2018-01-23_Item_27_Open_West_Campus_Pool.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_General/Shower%20Referral%20Response%20061218.pdf


SHOWER DURING THE COVID 19 PANDEMIC, A HUMANE ACTION REQUIRED DURING 
THIS CRISIS.

WHEREAS, The Coronavirus or COVID 19 pandemic requires cleanliness, washing our hands, 
often for twenty seconds or longer, washing our face, etc., and 

WHEREAS, There is no shower program in West or South Berkeley where there are high 
concentrations of our curbside communities who do not have access to showers and, 

WHEREAS, The Telegraph location is not convenient for the curbside community in West and 
South Berkeley. West Campus Pool and the Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School pool will enable 
the curbside community in West and South Berkeley access to showers closer to their location, 
and,. 

WHEREAS, In January 2018, the City Council considered Council Item: “Open the West Campus 
Pool All Year Round and Start the Shower Program at the West Campus Pool”. 

WHEREAS, The COVID 19 Pandemic is upon us we must do all that we can to mitigate the dire 
consequences. We need to ensure that the shower program is also accessible and equitable to 
all residents.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley, hereby directs the 
City Manager to open the West Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr Middle School (King pool) 
Pool to implement the City of Berkeley Shower Program at these locations. Opening the West 
Campus Pool and Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School (King Pool) pool will the ability for our 
community to shower during the COVID 19 Pandemic, a humane action required during this crisis.  
 

Page 9 of 9

35



36



Kate Harrison
Councilmember District 4

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7140 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-6903 E-Mail: 
KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info

1

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Councilmember Harrison

Subject: Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity 
Pilot Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to 
low-income residents

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the City Manager the design of a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program that 
would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to low-income residents as a 
companion to the Council referral to expand the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program 
to include efficiency and electrification retrofit measures.  

POLICY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
On October 7, 2020, the Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment & 
Sustainability Committee adopted the following action: M/S/C (Harrison/Robinson) to 
move recommendation two to the City Council with a positive recommendation. The 
item was continued to the next meeting. Vote: All Ayes

BACKGROUND
On November 27, 2018, City Council adopted a referral sponsored by Councilmembers 
Harrison and Davila to expand the existing Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program to 
include qualifying electrification, energy efficiency and water conservation retrofits. Staff 
recently proposed delaying amendments to the ordinance expanding the scope of the 
program due to budgetary uncertainty. The item is currently under review by the 
Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment & Sustainability Committee. 
Staff’s item also included a proposed referral to the City Manager to design a 
companion Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program that would eventually provide funding 
for home retrofit improvements to low-income residents. 

The Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment & Sustainability Committee 
continued the item at the October 7, 2020 meeting to further consult stakeholders and 
review the ordinance, however in recognition of the outreach-intensive nature and lead 

Page 1 of 48

37

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.10



Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity Pilot 
Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to low-income 
residents

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

5

time of designing a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program, the Committee acted to 
expeditiously advance the referral as a separate item to Council. 

Council approval of the referral will ensure that staff will be able to design the Resilient 
Homes Equity Pilot Program in coordination with the proposed amendment to the 
Transfer Tax ordinance. Staff have indicated that they can begin to design the program 
in collaboration with community partners with existing staff resources; adoption of this 
referral does not commit the Council to expending additional funds. 

Staff Proposal for Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program 

Communities of color and low-income communities are not only most impacted by 
financial disparities, they are also the frontline communities most impacted by climate 
change and other disasters. The City of Berkeley values equity and strives to be a 
leader in developing creative approaches for addressing the affordability and housing 
crises the City faces, leading to displacement of people of color and low-income 
community members. The City also has ambitious goals to combat climate change and 
to become a more resilient City. Further, in the referral, Council urged staff to consider 
“the framework for a just and equitable transition” as laid out in the Climate Emergency.1 
These goals can all be aligned together to achieve multiple benefits in a new Resilient 
Homes Equity Pilot Program proposed by City staff. 

An equity analysis of the impacts of the Transfer Tax Rebate Program considers who 
benefits, who is burdened and who is excluded. A transfer tax rebate program only 
benefits Berkeley residents who can afford to purchase a home, currently selling for an 
average of $1.27 million.2 Low-income residents often live in older homes that are most 
in need of home improvements for safety, health, comfort, efficiency, and resilience. 
Attachment 1 is an Equity White Paper written by Noel Simpkin, a UC Berkeley Masters 
of Planning graduate student. This paper applies an equity lens to the Seismic Retrofit 
Refund Program and recommends developing an equity pilot program that targets 
Berkeley’s underserved residents. 

A concurrent Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program would provide direct funding to low-
income residents to improve their homes as a parallel program to the proposed 
expanded Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate, for home improvements. This equity pilot 
program would aim to provide a valuable benefit to low-income residents, long-term 
homeowners with limited incomes, and renters, who are not able to access the existing

1 City of Berkeley, November 27, 2018 Council Referral: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/Item_24_Rev_Harrison.as
px

2 Zillow, “Berkeley Home Prices & Values”: https://www.zillow.com/berkeley-ca/home-values/. Last 
accessed 3/5/2020.

Page 2 of 48

38



Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity Pilot 
Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to low-income 
residents

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

5

Seismic or future Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program. This program could support 
homeowners’ ability to remain in their homes, improve occupant health and increase 
resilience in an aging building stock. An equity pilot program would create a replicable 
example of how City programs can operationalize equity in residential buildings and 
assure equitable distribution of City resources. This program, once developed and 
approved, may provide additional funding and/or free resources for homeowners and 
leverage work in existing programs that benefit low income residents and homeowners. 
Staff would design the program in collaboration with community stakeholders to ensure 
that it will meet the needs of frontline communities such as low-income communities, 
communities of color, and those most affected by the impacts of climate change. If 
approved by Council, staff will begin to:

1. Design the program in collaboration with community stakeholders;

2. Develop a detailed budget;

3. Identify potential funding sources for the program;

4. Determine necessary staffing for program administration and implementation;

5. Prepare an implementation strategy including timelines; and

6. Return to Council for approval of the budget and implementation of the 
program.

This equity pilot program concept was discussed with and received support from the 
Berkeley Energy Commission, Disaster & Fire Safety Commission, and other 
stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Developing a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program would extend the City’s 
sustainability efforts further by providing these benefits to more buildings, serving a 
broader and more diverse set of Berkeley residents than would otherwise have 
access to the Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Staff time will be necessary to design the Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program. 
Staff will seek additional resources to support engagement and co-creation of an 
equity program in partnership with representatives from low-income communities. 

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Kate Harrison
510-981-7140

ATTACHMENTS

Page 3 of 48

39



Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity Pilot 
Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to low-income 
residents

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

5

1. Staff Report
2. Equity White Paper, “Resilience for All: Applying an Equity Lens to Berkeley’s 

Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program” 

Page 4 of 48

40



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
July 21, 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Timothy Burroughs, Director, Department of Planning & Development

Subject: Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 
7.52, Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy 
Efficiency and Water Conservation Retrofits

RECOMMENDATION
1. Delay adoption of the first reading of an ordinance amending the Berkeley

Municipal Code (BMC) Chapter 7.52 to expand the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate
Program to include qualifying sustainability and resilience measures, and any
associated budget requests, until FYE 2022 when more information on budget
due to COVID-19 response and recovery is available; and

2. Refer to the City Manager the design of a companion Resilient Homes Equity
Pilot Program that would provide funding for home retrofit improvements to low-
income residents.

SUMMARY  
On November 27, 2018, City Council adopted a referral sponsored by Councilmembers 
Harrison and Davila to expand the existing Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program to 
include qualifying electrification, energy efficiency and water conservation retrofits.1 The 
Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program provides refunds for voluntary seismic upgrades 
to residential properties. Up to one-third of the base 1.5% transfer tax rate may be 
refunded, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, for voluntary seismic upgrades to residential 
property. Applicants have up to one year from the record of transfer to complete all 
seismic retrofit work, then apply for the rebate. The ordinance allows this deadline to be 
extended for good cause for up to one additional year. 

This report and proposed actions are the result of in-depth analysis and input from 
stakeholders, including the Energy Commission and Disaster & Fire Safety 
Commission. The recommendations for updating the Transfer Tax Rebate program 
have General Fund budget implications for the City. Given challenges and uncertainties 
from COVID-19 response and recovery, staff now recommend that adoption of these 

1 See November 27, 2018 Council Referral: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/Item_24_Rev_Harrison.aspx 

Page 1 of 45

02

19

Page 5 of 48

41

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/Item_24_Rev_Harrison.aspx


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 2

proposed changes be delayed. Staff will return to Council in one year, when more 
information on future budget constraints is available. Should Council approve the 
program changes in the future, staff would develop Administrative Regulations to define 
the qualifying measures and rebate application process. 

The current Transfer Tax Rebate Program only benefits Berkeley residents who can 
afford to purchase a home in Berkeley, while low-income residents who often live in 
older homes most in need of improvements are excluded from this resource. Given that 
COVID-19 is exacerbating vulnerabilities of low income homeowners and renters, staff 
proposes development of a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program now, to complement 
a proposed future update to the Transfer Tax Rebate program. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program

The current proposal of delaying program changes for one year has no fiscal impacts.

If these program changes are adopted in the future, there would be budget impacts. The 
current Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program reserves one-third of the base 1.5% 
transfer tax amount to be rebated from the General Fund. Based on residential property 
sales from 2014 to 2019, the average annual total net residential Transfer Tax (1.5%) 
was nearly $14 million,2 and the eligible rebate amount was approximately $4.6 million. 
Funds not spent on rebates have remained in the General Fund.

As of the FY2018-2019 adopted budget, up to $12.5 million of the net Transfer Tax 
amount goes to the General Fund, including the one-third subset which can be rebated 
to homeowners as part of the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program. Anything received 
by the City exceeding $12.5 million is to be used for Capital Improvement Projects.3

See Table 1 below for average transfers of residential, commercial, and mixed-use 
properties from 2014-2019.

2 This amount does not include the additional 1.0% of Transfer Tax funds that is dedicated for Measure P.
3 City of Berkeley, Fiscal Years 2018 & 2019 Adopted Biennial Budget: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/FY%202018-
2019%20Adopted%20Budget%20Book.pdf 

Page 2 of 45

20

Page 6 of 48

42

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/FY%202018-2019%20Adopted%20Budget%20Book.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/FY%202018-2019%20Adopted%20Budget%20Book.pdf


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 3

Table 1 – 2014-2019 Residential, Commercial + Mixed Use Property Transfers4

Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program

Staff would design the program with existing capacity and return to Council with a full 
budget request, implementation strategy, and timelines. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On November 27, 2018, the City Council adopted a referral, sponsored by 
Councilmembers Harrison and Davila, to expand the existing Seismic Transfer Tax 
Rebate Program for qualifying electrification, energy efficiency and water conservation 
retrofits. The referral was intended to increase use of the program to advance the 
community’s greenhouse gas reductions, address the urgency of the Climate 
Emergency Declaration, and increase the community’s resilience. The referral asked 
staff to evaluate options for additional qualifying measures, evaluate how the program 
expansion should interact with the existing seismic program, and consider the 
framework for a just and equitable transition as set out in the Climate Emergency 
Declaration.

In response to the referral, staff conducted outreach over many months with staff from 
multiple City departments, the Energy Commission, the Disaster and Fire Safety 
Commission, as well as several technical experts and stakeholders. As developed 
through those efforts, staff developed proposed changes to amend BMC Chapter 7.52 
to:

1. Add qualifying measures for the expanded Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program
to include electrification, sustainability and resilience measures that require a
building permit, in addition to the seismic measures already included in the program;

2. Expand the program to apply to all residential, commercial, and mixed-use buildings
at time of property transfer, augmenting the current program which applies to only
residential or mixed-use buildings with two or more dwelling units; and

4 From City of Berkeley Finance Department.

Page 3 of 45

21

Page 7 of 48

43



Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 4

3. Expand the deadline of the program so applicants have two years to apply for the 
rebate plus the opportunity to apply for a one-year extension, instead of the current 
program’s one year deadline with a one-year extension.

Staff is recommending delaying approval of these changes, which would have 
potentially significant impacts to the General Fund. Staff will return next year and make 
another recommendation based on the budget situation at that time. If these changes 
are approved, staff would develop Administrative Regulations including qualifying 
measures, an implementation strategy, and timelines. In order to develop and 
administer the proposed changes, the next recommendation would include additional 
staff capacity to support the increased application review and processing.

Proposal for Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program

Communities of color and low-income communities are not only most impacted by 
financial disparities, they are also the frontline communities most impacted by climate 
change and other disasters. The City of Berkeley values equity and strives to be a 
leader in developing creative approaches for addressing the affordability and housing 
crises the City faces, leading to displacement of people of color and low-income 
community members. The City also has ambitious goals to combat climate change and 
to become a more resilient City. Further, in the referral, Council urged staff to consider 
“the framework for a just and equitable transition” as laid out in the Climate Emergency.5 
These goals can all be aligned together to achieve multiple benefits in a new Resilient 
Homes Equity Pilot Program proposed by City staff. 

An equity analysis of the impacts of the Transfer Tax Rebate Program considers who 
benefits, who is burdened and who is excluded. A transfer tax rebate program only 
benefits Berkeley residents who can afford to purchase a home, currently selling for an 
average of $1.27 million6. Low-income residents often live in older homes that are most 
in need of home improvements for safety, health, comfort, efficiency, and resilience. 
Attachment 2 is an Equity White Paper written by Noel Simpkin, a UC Berkeley Masters 
of Planning graduate student. This paper applies an equity lens to the Seismic Retrofit 
Refund Program and recommends developing an equity pilot program that targets 
Berkeley’s underserved residents. 

A concurrent Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program would provide direct funding to low-
income residents to improve their homes as a parallel program to the proposed 
expanded Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate, for home improvements. This equity pilot 
program would aim to provide a valuable benefit to low-income residents, long-term 
homeowners with limited incomes, and renters, who are not able to access the existing 

5 City of Berkeley, November 27, 2018 Council Referral: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/Item_24_Rev_Harrison.aspx
6 Zillow, “Berkeley Home Prices & Values”: https://www.zillow.com/berkeley-ca/home-values/. Last 
accessed 3/5/2020.

Page 4 of 45

22

Page 8 of 48

44

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/Item_24_Rev_Harrison.aspx
https://www.zillow.com/berkeley-ca/home-values/


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 5

Seismic or future Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program. This program could support 
homeowners’ ability to remain in their homes, improve occupant health and increase 
resilience in an aging building stock. An equity pilot program would create a replicable 
example of how City programs can operationalize equity in residential buildings and 
assure equitable distribution of City resources. 

This program, once developed and approved, may provide additional funding and/or 
free resources for homeowners and leverage work in existing programs that benefit low 
income residents and homeowners. Staff would design the program in collaboration with 
community stakeholders to ensure that it will meet the needs of frontline communities 
such as low-income communities, communities of color, and those most affected by the 
impacts of climate change. If approved by Council, staff will:

1. Design the program in collaboration with community stakeholders;
2. Develop a detailed budget;
3. Identify potential funding sources for the program;
4. Determine necessary staffing for program administration and implementation;
5. Prepare an implementation strategy including timelines; and
6. Return to Council for approval of the budget and implementation of the program.

This equity pilot program concept was discussed with and received support from the 
Berkeley Energy Commission, Disaster & Fire Safety Commission, and other 
stakeholders.

Related Initiatives
Staff is concurrently advancing other programs and initiatives which may be directly 
impacted by an expansion of the Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program:

- Building Energy Savings Ordinance (BESO)7: The BESO program has just
completed its evaluation, and will be updated to better align with the City’s priorities
of building electrification and resilience. The proposed update to BESO would
prioritize electrification and provide recommendations at time of listing that would
align with the transfer tax rebate eligible measures. This change, along with possible
future mandatory requirements, has the potential to increase Transfer Tax Rebate
Program participation.

- Existing Building Electrification Strategy: In April 24, 2018, Council requested the
development of “policies to incentivize energy efficiency and electrification, in
support of Climate Action Plan (CAP) goals” and referred $50,000 to the budget
process to fund the Existing Building Efficiency Strategy. Staff is working with a team
of experts to identify how Berkeley can electrify its existing buildings as soon as

7 BESO requires building owners and homeowners to complete and publicly report comprehensive energy 
assessments to uncover energy saving opportunities. More information at: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/.

Page 5 of 45

23

Page 9 of 48

45

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 6

possible. This report will include equitable strategies, policies, and programs that will 
help Berkeley achieve its goal of becoming a fossil fuel-free City, and will include 
specific building measures that can be supported by the proposed Resilience 
Transfer Tax Rebate Program and Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Project.

- Automatic Gas Shutoff Valve Referral: Another Council referral asked the Disaster & 
Fire Safety Commission to consider an ordinance amending BMC 19.34.040 to 
expand requirements for automatic natural gas shut-off valves or excess flow valves. 
The referral would expand use of such devices in multifamily, condominium and 
commercial buildings undergoing renovations, and in all existing buildings prior to 
execution of a contract for sale or close of escrow. It also asks the Commission to 
consider other triggers as appropriate. Installation of an automatic gas shutoff valve 
has been included as a qualifying measure under the proposed Resilience Transfer 
Tax Rebate Program.

Amending the BMC to update the Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program as 
proposed and approving the development of a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Project 
would advance the City Strategic Plan goal to be a global leader in addressing climate 
change, advancing environmental justice, and protecting the environment. It also 
advances the following goals:

 Create affordable housing and housing support service for our most vulnerable 
community members.

 Create a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared city.
 Champion and demonstrate social and racial equity.

BACKGROUND
Existing Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program

In 1991 the City created the Seismic Retrofit Refund Program which provides refunds 
for voluntary seismic upgrades to residential properties. Up to one-third of the base 
1.5% transfer tax rate may be refunded on a dollar-for-dollar basis, for all expenses 
incurred on or after October 17, 1989 for voluntary seismic upgrades to residential 
property. This program applies to structures that are used exclusively for residential 
purposes, or any mixed-use structures that contains two or more dwelling units. 
Applicants have up to one year from the recordation of transfer to complete all seismic 
retrofit work, then apply for the rebate. The ordinance allows this deadline to be 
extended for good cause for up to one additional year. 

Since July 2002, the City has distributed over $12 million to homeowners through the 
Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program, which reduces the real estate transfer tax to 

Page 6 of 45

24

Page 10 of 48

46



Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 7

building owners who perform seismic safety work.8 As shown in the table below, 
between 2014-2019 an average of 13% of homeowners took advantage of the program. 

Table 2 - Seismic Transfer Tax Rebates, 2014-2019

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Amending the Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program would advance the City’s 
ambitious climate action goals, by incentivizing energy efficiency, electrification, and 
other resilience improvements in Berkeley’s buildings. 

Developing a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program would extend the City’s 
sustainability efforts further by providing these benefits to more buildings, serving a 
broader and more diverse set of Berkeley residents than would otherwise have access 
to the Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Given the need to address COVID-19 response and recovery, and the associated 
budgetary impacts, staff recommends that Council delay approving the proposed 
changes to the B.M.C. Chapter 7.52. Staff will return next year for Council to consider 
approval at that time.

In the future, expanding the current Transfer Tax Rebate Program would encourage and 
incentivize sustainability and resilience upgrades in homes. 

Developing the Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program is aligned with the City’s Strategic 
Plan Goal to champion and demonstrate social and racial equity, and is aligned with the 
City’s Resilience Strategy goal to advance racial equity. This program would aim to 
serve as an anti-displacement strategy for low-income homeowners as well as to 
incorporate equity into existing City policies. This could serve as a pilot equity pilot 
program that could be replicated and scaled. 

8 City of Berkeley 2019 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, Summary-11: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Fire/Level_3_-
_General/City%20of%20Berkeley%202019%20LHMP%20-%20FINAL%2012-10-19%20-
%20REDUCED%20SIZE.pdf

Page 7 of 45

25

Page 11 of 48

47

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Fire/Level_3_-_General/City%20of%20Berkeley%202019%20LHMP%20-%20FINAL%2012-10-19%20-%20REDUCED%20SIZE.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Fire/Level_3_-_General/City%20of%20Berkeley%202019%20LHMP%20-%20FINAL%2012-10-19%20-%20REDUCED%20SIZE.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Fire/Level_3_-_General/City%20of%20Berkeley%202019%20LHMP%20-%20FINAL%2012-10-19%20-%20REDUCED%20SIZE.pdf


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 8

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Rather than delaying approval of this proposal, Council could consider adopting the 
proposed changes to the BMC Chapter 7.52 at this time. This would provide a benefit to 
home buyers sooner, but would have ongoing budget impacts. 

Whenever Council does consider adopting the proposed changes to the BMC Chapter 
7.52, other potential alternative actions for this proposal include: 

 Qualifying Measures: Council could consider expanding the qualifying measures to 
include work that does not require a building permit. This would provide additional 
options and flexibility to the building owner, but would require design, development, 
and implementation of a new process to validate the measures, plus additional 
ongoing staff resources, because it would be staff time-intensive to verify completion 
of qualifying work.

 Building Types: 
o Council could continue to limit the program to residential and mixed-use 

buildings with two or more dwelling units. This approach would not generate 
as significant greenhouse gas emissions reductions, electrification, or 
resilience improvements in buildings. 

o Council could consider including industrial building types, for which sufficient 
information was not available for analysis in this report. 

 Application Deadline: Council could keep the current program timeline as is, at one 
year plus a one year extension, or it could further extend timelines to provide even 
greater flexibility to applicants.

Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program: Council could reject the proposal for a 
Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program. Eliminating this program would mean no new 
benefits would be provided to low income residents, and would have no financial impact 
on the current budget.

CONTACT PERSON
Billi Romain, Sustainability Manager, Office of Energy and Sustainable Development, 
Planning & Development Department, 510-981-7432.
Katie Van Dyke, Climate Action Program Manager, 510-981-7403.

Attachments: 
1. Draft Ordinance language to expand existing Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate 

Program for possible future action
2. Equity White Paper
3. Potential list of qualifying measures for consideration in Administrative 

Regulations
4. Original Referral Report from November 27, 2018

Page 8 of 45

26

Page 12 of 48

48



ATTACHMENT 1

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX-N.S.

AMENDMENTS TO THE BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE TO EXPAND THE 

TRANSFER TAX REBATE PROGRAM FOR RESILIENCE MEASURES

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows: 

Section 1. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52.060 is amended to read as 

follows:

7.52.060 Exceptions.

K. 1. Up to one-third of the tax imposed by this chapter shall be reduced, on a dollar
for dollar basis, for all expenses incurred on or after October 17, 1989 to perform a
"resilience seismically retrofitretrofit" on either any structure which is used exclusively
for residential, mixed-use, or commercial purposes, or any mixed use structure which
contains two or more dwelling units.

2. The term "resilience seismically retrofit" within the meaning of this
chapter means any of the following:

a. That work which is needed and directly related to make the
structure capable of withstanding lateral loads equivalent to the force
levels defined by Chapter 23 of the 1976 Uniform Building Code;

b. Replacement or repair of foundations; replacement or repair of
rotted mud sills; bracing of basement or pony walls; bolting of mud sills
to standard foundations; installation of shear walls; anchoring of water
heaters; and/or securing of chimneys, stacks or water heaters;

c. Corrective work on buildings which fit the criteria in subsection K.1,
which are listed on the City of Berkeley inventory of potentially

Page 9 of 45

27

Page 13 of 48

49

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager


Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 2

hazardous, unreinforced masonry buildings when such work is 
necessary to meet City standards or requirements applicable to such 
buildings;

d.    Any other work found by the building official to substantially 
increase the capability of those structures, specified in subsection K.1, 
to withstand destruction or damage in the event of an earthquake.

e.   Any other work as defined in the list of qualifying measures for the 
Resilience Transfer Tax Rebate Program Administrative Regulations, 
including but not limited to measures that provide the following types of 
benefits: safety, health, electrification, efficiency, or other resilience 
measures.

3.  The work to perform resilience seismically retrofits on structures as 
provided herein shall be completed either prior to the transfer of property or 
as provided in subsection K.4.

4.    If the work to perform resilience seismically retrofits on the structures 
provided for herein is to be performed after the transfer of property which is 
subject to the tax imposed by this chapter, upon completion of such work 
and certification by the building official as to the amount of the expenses of 
such work the City Manager or his/her designee may refund such expenses 
not to exceed one-third of the base 1.5% transfer tax imposed to the parties 
to the sale in accordance with the terms of such sale. Any remaining tax 
shall be retained by the City.

5.    From the date of the recordation of the transfer document, the applicant 
shall have one two years to complete all seismic resilience retrofit work and 
submit a resilience seismic retrofit verification application to the codes and 
inspection division of the City of Berkeley. If the work is not completed at the 
end of one two years, that portion which has been completed may be 
credited to the applicant upon submission of a resilience seismic retrofit 

Page 10 of 45

28

Page 14 of 48

50



Referral Response: Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52 CONSENT CALENDAR
JULY 21, 2020

Page 3

verification application and substantiating documentation, as required by the 
codes and inspections division of the City of Berkeley, showing the dollar 
amount of work completed up to that date. All other monies remaining in 
escrow will be returned to the City of Berkeley upon written request by the 
Finance Department.

6. Within the onetwo-year period established by paragraph 5, an applicant
may request, and the City Manager may approve, an extension of up to one
year. The City Manager or his/her designee may grant such an extension
only for good cause. The decision of the City Manager or his/her designee
shall be entirely within his or her discretion and shall be final.

a. "Good cause" includes (i) the inability of the applicant, after a
prompt and diligent search to find and retain the services of an
architect, engineer, contractor or other service provider whose services
are necessary for the seismic resilience retrofit work; (ii) unforeseen
and unforeseeable circumstances such as a significant change in the
scope of the seismic resilience retrofit work due to circumstances in the 
field which could not reasonably have been known earlier; and (iii) 
serious illness or other extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances 
that prevented the timely commencement or completion of 
the seismicresilience retrofit work.

b. "Good cause" does not include (i) ignorance of the applicable City
ordinances or regulations concerning the seismic resilience
retrofit rebate provided in this chapter or state or local laws relating to
the standards with which seismicresilience retrofit work must comply;
or (ii) any delays which were within the control or responsibility of the
applicant. (Ord. 6971-NS § 1, 2007: Ord. 6741-NS § 1, 2003: Ord
6539-NS § 1, 2000: Ord. 6262-NS § 1, 1994: Ord. 6146-NS §§ 1, 2,
1992: Ord. 6072-NS § 2, 1991: Ord. 6069-NS § 1, 1991: Ord. 5061-NS
§ 5, 1978)

Page 11 of 45

29

Page 15 of 48

51



1 

MARCH 2020 

NOEL SIMPKIN 
MASTER OF CITY PLANNING, CLASS OF 2020 
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, BERKELEY 

RESILIENCE 
FOR ALL 

Applying an Equity 
Lens to Berkeley’s 
Seismic Transfer 
Tax Rebate Program 

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 12 of 45

30

Page 16 of 48

52



2 

Contents 
I. Executive Summary ................................................................................... 3 

II. Introduction .............................................................................................. 4 

III. Equity Principles & Frameworks ................................................................ 5 

1. Community-Driven Engagement ........................................................................... 7 
2. Targeted Universalism ........................................................................................... 8 
3. Tripartite Approach to Equity ................................................................................ 8 
4. GARE Racial Equity Toolkit .................................................................................... 9 
5. City of Berkeley Racial Equity Lens Toolkit ............................................................ 9 

IV. Berkeley’s Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program .................................... 10 

V. Applying an Equity Lens to the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program ..... 10 

1. Current Homeownership ..................................................................................... 11 

2. Segregation and Displacement............................................................................ 12 

VI. Recommendations .................................................................................. 15 

VII. Potential Impact ..................................................................................... 17 

1. Increased Safety .................................................................................................. 17 

2. Improved Health Outcomes ................................................................................ 18 

3. Reduction in Greenhouse Gas Emissions ............................................................ 19 

4. Enables a Just Transition ..................................................................................... 20 

VIII. Conclusion .............................................................................................. 21 

IX. References .............................................................................................. 21 

Page 13 of 45

31

Page 17 of 48

53



 

 

3 
 

I. Executive Summary 

The City of Berkeley (City) has long had a reputation for tolerance and inclusiveness, and yet social and 
racial inequity remains a significant challenge.0F

1 In its 2018-2019 Strategic Plan, the City identified a 
goal to “champion and demonstrate social and racial equity” and has prioritized integrating equity 
considerations throughout City operations and services.1F

2 To support this work, the City developed a 
Racial Equity Lens Toolkit (Toolkit) to assess city policies, plans, programs, and budgets in order to 
identify biases and help ensure equitable access to opportunities for all community members. 
Incorporating equity is particularly important in City programs aimed at increasing resilience for two 
reasons: without careful and deliberate planning, resilience strategies can actually exacerbate 
inequalities,2F

3 and true resilience can only be achieved when physical challenges as well as social 
challenges are addressed.3F

4  

The City’s current Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program (Program) offers an example of a resilience 
strategy that addresses physical vulnerabilities but fails to advance social and racial equity. The current 
Program allows a portion of the City’s transfer tax to be refunded to residential property owners for 
seismic upgrades, thus incentivizing homeowners who recently purchased a home to make important 
safety improvements. However when analyzing the Program through an equity lens it becomes clear 
that the Program is not reaching underserved members of the community, despite the fact that low-
income and minority communities are more vulnerable to natural disasters and the impacts of climate 
change.4F

5 The current median sale price for a single-family home in Berkeley is over $1.2 million, which 
suggests that many recent homebuyers in Berkeley are economically advantaged.5F

6 In addition, 75 
percent of the City’s homeowners are white, and income disparities in the region demonstrate the 
challenge people of color face to purchase a home in Berkeley.6F

7  

In 2018, Berkeley City Council declared a Climate Emergency and established a goal of becoming a 
Fossil Fuel Free city. That same year, Council passed a referral to the City Manager and Office of Energy 
and Sustainable Development to expand the existing Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program in an effort 
to accelerate the transition toward more sustainable buildings. The referral identified the need for 
expanding the Program in order to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, address the urgency of the 
Climate Emergency Declaration, and increase the City’s resilience. In response, staff is providing 
recommendations to Council to expand the Program to include specific sustainability and resilience 
upgrades, as well as to establish a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program (Equity Pilot) that would 
provide similar home-improvement benefits to frontline communities. A new, equity-centered 
program that parallels the existing Program can help the City more quickly achieve its Fossil Fuel Free 

                                                
1 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 
2 City of Berkeley Strategic Plan 2018 
3 Anguelovski 2016 
4 100 Resilient Cities 2019 
5 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 
6 Zillow 2020 
7 ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table DP05, Universe: Total Population; and Table B25003H, Universe: Occupied housing units 
with a householder who is White alone, not Hispanic or Latino. 

Page 14 of 45

32

Page 18 of 48

54



4 

goal, while benefitting low-income residents, long-term homeowners with limited incomes, and 
renters, who are not able to access the current Program.  

This paper analyzes the current Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program through an equity lens, and aims 
to demonstrate the need for a more inclusive approach to increasing Berkeley’s resilience. In addition, 
it recommends Berkeley City Council take the following actions to build both physical and social 
resilience: 

1. Approve the development of a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program that leverages the City’s
Racial Equity Lens Toolkit in collaboration with community organizations and stakeholders.

2. Confirm a commitment to dedicate additional future funding to implement the Equity Pilot,
with the exact annual amount to be determined during the program design phase.

An Equity Pilot offers many potential benefits, including: increased safety, improved health outcomes, 
reduction in GHG emissions, and it enables a Just Transition. It is also an opportunity to operationalize 
the City’s Toolkit, and learnings can inform how other City programs and policies can incorporate 
equity and assure equitable distribution of City resources. Through the Equity Pilot, the City will be 
better positioned to achieve its goals of demonstrating social equity and becoming Fossil Fuel Free, 
while building a safer, healthier, more sustainable, and more resilient community.  

II. Introduction
The City’s Resilience Strategy, released in 2016, prioritizes both physical and social resilience: through a 
combination of long-term goals and short-term actions, the strategy aims to build the capacity of 
residents, institutions, and businesses to manage physical challenges, such as earthquakes and sea 
level rise, as well as social challenges, including racial inequity.7F

8 The City reaffirmed this holistic 
approach more recently in its 2018-2019 Strategic Plan, which articulates a goal to “create a resilient, 
safe, connected and prepared city” as well as a “responsibility to advance social and racial equity.”8F

9 In 
order to make progress in these areas, City policies and programs must be designed to enable all 
residents to participate in, contribute to, and benefit from building Berkeley’s resilience – especially 
historically underserved residents. There is an opportunity to make meaningful progress toward 
achieving these goals while prioritizing those most in need by examining the City’s Seismic Transfer Tax 
Rebate Program, historically referred to as the Seismic Retrofit Rebate Program, through an equity 
lens. The current Program allows a portion of the City’s transfer tax to be refunded to residential 
property owners for seismic upgrades. This program incentivizes homeowners who recently purchased 
a home to make important safety improvements and creates a more resilient housing stock. However, 
because the median price to purchase a home in Berkeley is currently over $1.2 million,9F

10 the Program 
is primarily supporting higher-income households and fails to reach low-income or long-term members 
of the community.  

8 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 
9 City of Berkeley Strategic Plan 2018 
10 Zillow 2020 

Page 15 of 45

33

Page 19 of 48

55



 

 

5 
 

 

In November 2018 Berkeley City Council passed a referral to the City Manager and the Office of Energy 
and Sustainable Development to expand the existing Program to include subsidies beyond seismic 
retrofit and potentially include qualifying electrification, energy efficiency, and water conservation 
retrofits. In addition, Council urged staff to consider “the framework for a just and equitable transition” 
as laid out in the Climate Emergency.10F

11 In response, staff has conducted an analysis with stakeholder 
input11F

12 and is providing recommendations to Council to expand the Program to include specific 
sustainability and resilience upgrades, as well as to establish a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program 
that would provide similar home-improvement benefits to frontline communities. An Equity Pilot, that 
parallels the existing Program, can improve physical resilience and advance equity by enabling 
underserved residents to improve their physical environments – making them safer, more comfortable, 
more sustainable, and less susceptible to disasters and climate change (more on potential impact in 
Section VII). The following sections describe how an Equity Pilot aims to address the impacts of harmful 
racist policies that favor high-income, white homeowners while furthering the City’s goals of resilience 
and equity. 

III. Equity Principles & Frameworks 

Income inequality and health disparities are unfortunate realities in Berkeley: white families earn 
roughly three times more than African American families, and African American residents experience 
higher rates of hospitalization due to high blood pressure, stroke, asthma, and diabetes compared to 
other groups.12F

13 Improving these and other outcomes requires the City and its partners to address the 
“underlying social, economic, and environmental inequities that perpetuate them.”13F

14 However, 
addressing these inequities is rarely simple or straightforward and without intentional, strategic 
planning even well-intentioned efforts can reinforce injustices. When discussing equity principles and 
frameworks, it’s important to first define what is meant by “equity”. Equity is focused on giving 
communities what they need to thrive, while equality is about treating everyone the same (see Figure 
1).  

Equity frameworks are a valuable tool for governments, community development practitioners, and 
others to design and evaluate equitable policies and programs. By identifying who will benefit from or 
be burdened by decisions and potential unintended consequences of an intervention, equity 
frameworks help decision-makers mitigate negative effects and implement solutions that emphasize 
equity instead of equality.14F

15 In addition, it’s important to clearly identify the ‘who’ when assessing 

 

                                                
11 City of Berkeley Short-Term Referral Item 24, Nov. 27, 2018 
12 Including the Energy Commission, Disaster & Fire Safety Commission, as well as other internal and external stakeholders 
13 City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 
14 Ibid. 
15 GARE 2016 

“We have a responsibility to advance social and racial equity.” 
- City of Berkeley 2018-2019 Strategic Plan 

Page 16 of 45

34

Page 20 of 48

56



 

 

6 
 

Figure 1: Equity is focused on giving communities what they need to thrive,  
while equality is about treating everyone the same 

 

Source: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 2017 

who may benefit or be burdened by interventions, and use the appropriate language to describe this 
group. There are a variety of terms that can describe potential target groups, such as frontline, 
underserved, vulnerable, low-income, and marginalized. These terms are often used interchangeably in 
development programs, despite the fact that they each have different definitions. According to The 
Greenlining Institute, “in conversations about social equity, terms such as underserved, vulnerable, 
low-income, disadvantaged, or environmental justice community are often interchanged but can 
potentially have different meaning depending the context.”15F

16 As a result, it’s important when 
designing an equitable program to clearly identify and define the target communities it aims to impact. 
In addition to providing clarity on specific target populations, terms are important because words can 
“promote compassion, empowerment, inclusiveness and equity.”16F

17 For example, the term ‘vulnerable’ 
can describe a population group that is socioeconomically disadvantaged, but it can also be a term that 
communities choose not to identify with because it can feel disempowering. For the purposes of this 
paper, the terms ‘underserved’ and ‘frontline’ are used interchangeably, and refers to “communities 
that are already facing environmental, health and socioeconomic inequities, and that are 
disproportionately impacted by climate change” as well as disasters.17F

18 

The following is a set of equity frameworks the City has engaged with and/or implemented in various 
planning processes and projects in recent years. In addition, principles from each framework presented 

                                                
16 The Greenlining Institute 2019 
17 National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health 2013 
18 The Greenlining Institute 2019 

Page 17 of 45

35

Page 21 of 48

57



 

 

7 
 

below have helped to inform this analysis of the current Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program through 
an equity lens, and may be further leveraged in the development of the Equity Pilot. 

1 | Community-Driven Engagement 

Engaging communities is a critical part of developing equitable programs, however in order to be 
effective involving community members must be done in an authentic, strategic manner. Staff may use 
the following Continuum of Community Engagement as a way to strengthen its approach to creating a 
collaborative planning process (see Figure 2). Developed by the Urban Sustainability Directors 
Network, this continuum demonstrates increasing levels of engagement and partnership from left to 
right. The USC Program for Environmental and Regional Equity as well as The Greenlining Institute – 
organizations committed to racial and economic justice – advocate for program development that 
creates “authentic partnerships that center the perspectives of vulnerable communities, support 
community-based participation and power, and result in shared decision-making”.18F

19 The California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) recently leveraged principles of joint decision-making in its San 
Joaquin Valley Disadvantaged Communities Pilot Project, which brings clean, affordable energy options 
to frontline communities. The project aims to empower communities who rely on propane or wood-
burning appliances for heating and cooking to choose an energy solution that worked best for  

Figure 2: Continuum of Community Engagement 

Inform Consult Involve Shared Leadership Community-Driven 
Local government 
initiates an effort, 
coordinates with 
departments, and uses 
a variety of channels to 
inform the community 
to take action 

Local government 
gathers information 
from the community to 
inform local 
government-led 
interventions 

Local government 
engages community 
members to shape 
government priorities 
and plans 

Community and local 
government share in 
decision-making to co-
create solutions 
together 

Community initiates 
and directs strategy and 
action with 
participation and 
technical assistance 
from local government 

Characteristics of Engagement 
- Primarily one-way 
channel of 
communication 
- One interaction 
- Term-limited to 
project 
- Addresses immediate 
need of local 
government 

- Primarily one-way 
channel of 
communication 
- One to multiple 
interactions 
- Short to medium-term 
- Shapes and informs 
local government 
programs 

- Two-way channel of 
communication 
- Multiple interactions 
- Medium to long-term 
- Advancement of 
solutions to complex 
problems 

- Two-way channel of 
communication 
- Multiple interactions 
- Medium to long-term 
- Advancement of 
solutions to complex 
problems 

- Two-way channel of 
communication 
- Multiple interactions 
- Medium to long-term 
- Advancement of 
solutions to complex 
problems 

Strategies 
Media releases, 
brochures, pamphlets, 
outreach to population 
groups, translated 
information, new and 
social media 

Focus groups, 
interviews, community 
surveys, public 
hearings, public 
comment periods 

Forums, advisory 
boards, stakeholder 
involvement, coalitions, 
policy development and 
advocacy, including 
legislative briefings, and 
testimony, workshops, 
community-wide events 

Co-led community 
meetings, advisory 
boards, coalitions, and 
partnerships, policy 
development and 
advocacy, including 
legislative briefings and 
testimony 

Community-led 
planning efforts, 
community-hosted 
forums, collaborative 
partnerships, coalitions, 
policy development and 
advocacy including 
legislative briefings and 
testimony 

Source: Urban Sustainability Directors Network 2017 (Adapted from King County, Washington and IAP2) 

                                                
19 The Greenlining Institute 2019 

Page 18 of 45

36

Page 22 of 48

58



8 

them. Ten out of the 11 pilot communities will 
receive cleaner energy through electrification, 
and one community will implement a joint gas 
and electrification approach.19F

20 This project 
demonstrates “community members can decide 
the best ways to overcome the challenges they 
see”20F

21 and serves as a model for community 
decision-making. 

2 | Targeted Universalism 

Targeted Universalism, a framework developed 
by the Othering & Belonging Institute at UC 
Berkeley, promotes establishing a universal goal 
with corresponding, specific strategies that target 
different groups to achieve that goal. This 
approach focuses on advancing all people toward 
the same goal through diverse implementation 
strategies that account for how different groups 
“are situated within structures, culture, and 
across geographies.”21F

22 The City is incorporating a 
Targeted Universalism approach in its Pathway to 
Clean Energy Buildings work to ensure that 
proposed programs and policies benefit all 
communities. 

3 | Tripartite Approach to Equity 

In 2014 the City of Berkeley was one of the first 
32 cities selected by the Rockefeller Foundation to participate in 100 Resilient Cities (100RC), an 
initiative aimed at building community resilience to face social, economic, and physical challenges.22F

23 
Last year, researchers at Arizona State University and the University of Toronto released a study 
analyzing the goals, priorities, and strategies of the 100RC initiative, and developed a tripartite 
framework of equity that includes distributional, recognitional, and procedural dimensions (see Figure 
3). In their analysis, researchers found that many cities that participated in the 100RC program 
emphasized the distributional aspect of equity, but focused less on the recognitional and procedural 
dimensions. They go on to advocate for resilience strategies that “explicitly consider resilience for 
whom, while at the same time promoting the equitable distribution of social and material goods, 
meaningful participation and engagement in decision-making processes, and acknowledgment of 
social, cultural, and political differences.”23F

24 

20 The Greenlining Institute 2019 
21 Ibid. 
22 Powell et al. 2019 
23 City of Berkeley Agenda Item 1, June 6 2015 
24 Meerow et al. 2019 

Source: Meerow et al. 2019

Figure 3: Tripartite approach to equity 
in resilience planning

Page 19 of 45

37

Page 23 of 48

59



 

 

9 
 

4 | GARE Racial Equity Toolkit 

The GARE (Government Alliance on Race & Equity), a national network of governments working to 
achieve racial equity, developed the Racial Equity Toolkit in 2015. The toolkit presents a multi-layered 
approach to integrating racial equity into city decisions and processes, and is incorporated into the City 
of Berkeley’s Resilience Strategy as well as the 2018-2019 Strategic Plan. As described in the toolkit, 
when “racial equity is not explicitly brought into operations and decision-making, racial inequities are 
likely to be perpetuated.”24F

25 Questions in the toolkit, such as – Who will benefit from or be burdened 
by your proposal? What are your strategies for advancing racial equity or mitigating unintended 
consequences? – help decision-makers place racial equity at the center of every strategy and make 
more thoughtful, informed decisions. 

5 | City of Berkeley Racial Equity Lens Toolkit 

As part of its Adeline Corridor Specific Plan process, the City of Berkeley developed its own Racial 
Equity Lens Toolkit to assess city policies, plans, programs, and budgets in order to identify biases and 
help ensure equitable access to opportunities for all community members. This Toolkit, which was 
adapted from the City of Madison’s racial equity work and builds on principles outlined in the GARE 
toolkit, was created not only to inform work on the Adeline Corridor, but to enable City staff to 
integrate equity considerations into all operations and services. Through a series of questions, the 
Toolkit is designed to help users think about the interaction between race and place, and design 
successful neighborhood change efforts with a focus on underserved populations.25F

26 A few of the 
guiding questions include: 

 How can our approaches to increasing affordable housing, health, wealth, and equitable 
development become more effective – particularly for the most racially, socially, and 
economically vulnerable? 

 How do we know if we are being successful without ensuring that success is measured through 
an equity lens? 

 How do we get neighborhood transformation right? 

The Toolkit offers a number of tactics to help users get neighborhood transformation right, such as 
engaging communities in the design and development process, building the capacity of local 
community members, and analyzing data not only to understand the story that it tells but also to 
consider what stories may be missing. The Toolkit also provides guidance on how to determine the 
appropriate language for target communities by working toward mutually agreed upon language that 
is both clear and works to reduce power imbalances. 

Developing a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program as a parallel program to the City’s Seismic Transfer 
Tax Rebate Program presents a perfect opportunity to operationalize this Toolkit and use the tactics, as 
well as other equity principles mentioned above, to enable a more equity-centered approach to 
increasing the City’s resilience. Furthermore, this approach can serve as a valuable example of how to 

                                                
25 GARE 2016 
26 City of Berkeley Racial Equity Lens Toolkit 2019 (adapted from City of Madison, Race Forward) 

Page 20 of 45

38

Page 24 of 48

60



10 

incorporate equity into a City program, and learnings can help the City scale use of the Toolkit to other 
activities and operations – enabling the City to further its goal of championing social and racial equity. 

IV. Berkeley’s Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program
In response to the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake, the City took multiple steps to improve the seismic 
safety of buildings. One of those measures included the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program, which 
allows up to 1/3 of the base 1.5 percent City Transfer Tax to be refunded on a dollar-for-dollar basis for 
voluntary seismic upgrades to residential property within one year of purchase.26F

27 Examples of 
qualifying seismic retrofits include: work to repair or replace substandard foundations, securing 
chimneys, and anchoring existing water heaters. The Program has been extremely successful at 
increasing seismic safety, and has contributed to roughly 75 percent of Berkeley’s homes becoming 
more seismically safe over a 20-year period.27F

28 Since July 2002, more than 3,000 rebates have been 
processed resulting in over $12 million to property owners.28F

29 With fewer homes needing seismic 
retrofits, the Program has seen a decline in program participation in recent years (see Figure 3). 
Between 2014 and 2019, the number of rebates decreased by 63 percent. As a result of this trend, as 
well as a desire to make progress on the City’s broader goals around electrification and GHG emission 
reduction targets, Council is considering expansion of the Program to include rebates for other 
sustainability-related improvements. 

Figure 4: Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate 

Source: City of Berkeley Finance Department 

V. Applying an Equity Lens to the Seismic Transfer Tax
Rebate Program
Expanding the Program to include specific sustainability upgrades is a strong strategy to increase 
program participation and to accelerate progress toward the City’s broader resilience and sustainability 
goals. However, the Program only benefits those who can afford to purchase a home in Berkeley. 

27 The Program applies to structures that are used exclusively for residential purposes, or any mixed-use structure that 
contains two or more dwelling units. 
28 Bohland et al. 2018 
29 City of Berkeley Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 2019 

Fiscal Year # 
Residential 
Transfers 

Total # Seismic 
Transfer Tax 
Rebates 

Total Seismic 
Rebate Amount 
Spent ($) 

Eligible 
Residential 
Rebate Amount 

% Seismic 
Rebate 
Uptake (#) 

% Seismic 
Rebate 
Amount 
Spent 

2014 945 171 $823,352 $4,111,341 18% 20% 
2015 886 140 $781,447 $4,158,022 16% 19% 
2016 874 142 $826,993 $4,505,354 16% 18% 
2017 710 77 $518,057 $4,470,106 11% 12% 
2018 793 94 $676,042 $4,837,272 12% 14% 
2019 863 63 $427,581 $5,859,070 7% 7% 
Average 2014–2019 845 114 $675,579 $4,656,861 13% 15% 

 

Page 21 of 45

39

Page 25 of 48

61



 

 

11 
 

When assessing the Program in the context of the City’s Racial Equity Lens Toolkit, it becomes clear 
that the Program has failed on a number of fronts: 

 Success is not measured through an equity lens: Program metrics focus on number of rebates 
and total funding issued, and data related to race/ethnicity, age, ability, gender, or other social 
factors are unavailable. 

 It does not consider how access to the rebate may be limited for certain groups: barriers likely 
prevent individuals in certain racial/ethnic or socioeconomic groups from benefitting from this 
program, as it primarily benefits homeowners.29F

30 

Although Program data is limited, current homeownership trends and other information related to 
income, segregation, and displacement helps to illustrate how the current Program excludes frontline 
communities. Exclusion not only keeps resilience out of reach for these communities, but it 
perpetuates social and racial inequality in the City. 

1 | Current Homeownership 

The City is nearly equally split among homeowners 
and renters, with homeowners representing 46 
percent of the population.30F

31 Homeownership rates 
are not distributed evenly, however, among 
Berkeley residents: while white residents make up 
55 percent of Berkeley’s population they represent 
75 percent of the City’s homeowners (see Figure 5 
and 6).31F

32 The current median sale price for a 
single-family home in Berkeley is over $1.2 million, 
which requires an annual household income of 
approximately $200,000.32F

33 Income disparities in 
the region demonstrate one barrier people of 
color face to purchase a home in Berkeley (see 
Figure 7). In addition, since the rebate is only 
available for one year after purchasing a property, 
long-time Berkeley homeowners do not qualify for 
the Program. These residents may struggle to find 
the capital needed to make home improvements – 
making them more susceptible to unsafe living 
conditions and/or displacement. 

 

                                                
30 Buyers of multifamily properties are eligible for the rebate, which in some situations may benefit low-income renters; 
however, the rebate is primarily used by single-family residential properties.  
31 American Community Survey (ACS) 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table B25033; Universe: Total Population in Occupied Housing 
Units; N = 107,408 
32 ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table DP05, Universe: Total Population; and Table B25003H, Universe: Occupied housing units 
with a householder who is White alone, not Hispanic or Latino. 
33 Data from Zillow 2019, expects 20 percent down payment. 

Figure 5: There are significantly more white homeowners 
in Berkeley compared to any other racial group 

Source: ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table DP05, 
Universe: Total Population, N=120,179 

White, 55%

African 
American, 

8%

Asian, 20%

Latinx, 11%

Two or more 
races, 6% Other, 1%

Page 22 of 45

40

Page 26 of 48

62



12 

 2 | Segregation and Displacement 

Institutional and structural racism has and 
continues to contribute to unequal 
outcomes, not only in homeownership 
and income, as described above, but also 
in terms of segregation and displacement. 
These issues are interrelated, and a result 
of racist and discriminatory practices such 
as slavery, Jim Crow laws, racially 
restrictive covenants, and redlining. 
Although these policies have been 
banned, they have resulted in severe and 
lasting impacts on communities of color. 

The history of redlining is particularly 
important for understanding how 
segregation and displacement affect the 
Berkeley community still today, and helps 
shed light on how programs aimed at 
recent homebuyers – such as the Seismic 
Transfer Tax Rebate Program – support 
racial exclusion. The Home Owners’ Loan 
Corporation (HOLC), a federal agency 

created in 1933 as part of 
President Roosevelt’s New Deal 
legislation, was designed to 
provide relief for homeowners 
that were in default or at risk of 
foreclosure by refinancing 
mortgages; indeed, it 
successfully refinanced over one 
million mortgages, saving 80 
percent of homes for the original 
owner.33F

34  

34 TIME 1951 

Figure 6: There are significantly more white homeowners 
in Berkeley compared to any other racial group

Source: ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Tables B25003B, B25003D, 
B25003H, B25003I; Universe: Occupied housing units; Note: Figure 
4 does not include the race & ethnicity categories for American 
Indian & Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander, 
Some Other Race, or Two or More Races; Margins of Error 
expressed at 90 percent confidence level

Figure 7: On average, white households in Berkeley make almost three 
times more than African American households

Source: ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Tables B19013B, B19013D, B19013H, 
B19013I; Universe: Households; Note: ‘Bay Area’ consists of San Francisco, 
Alameda, Marin, Contra Costa, and San Mateo counties; Margins of Error 
expressed at 90 percent confidence level

Page 23 of 45

41

Page 27 of 48

63



 

 

13 
 

However, access to these government-backed, 
low-interest mortgages was not equal.34F

35 HOLC 
developed and relied on ‘residential security 
maps’ to evaluate mortgage lending risk in large 
American cities. Neighborhoods were classified as 
Best (green), Desirable (blue), Declining (yellow), 
or Hazardous (red) based on criteria such as: age 
and condition of housing stock, as well as 
economic class, employment status, and racial 
and ethnic composition of residents.35F

36 Potential 
borrowers in neighborhoods classified as 
Hazardous were often “redlined,” or denied 
access to credit based on the location of their 
property in minority or economically 
disadvantaged neighborhoods. As a result of 
limited access to traditional loans, many potential 
borrowers in these neighborhoods could not 
purchase property or fell victim to high-interest 
loans or other discriminatory practices. Because 
access to credit is a critical part of economic 
inclusion and purchasing a home can lead to 
building wealth within families over generations, 
we can see a lasting effect of redlining through 
racial disparities in poverty. On a national level, 
the median net worth of white families is nearly 
10 times the size of black families, and nearly 1 in 
5 black families have zero or negative net worth – 
twice the rate of white families.36F

37 In Berkeley 
today, “the proportion of families living in 
poverty is 8 times higher among African American 
families, 5 times higher among Latin[x] families, 
and 3 times higher among Asian families, 
compared to White families.”37F

38  

Although redlining was prohibited under the Fair 
Housing Act of 1968, its enduring effect is still 
evident across the US, including in Berkeley – not 
only in poverty rates, homeownership, and 
income, but also in segregation and 
displacement. According to the Urban 
Displacement Project, 83 percent of today’s 

                                                
35 Mitchell & Franco 2018 
36 Ibid. 
37 Jan 2017 
38 City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 

Source: Green 2016 

Figure 8: A 1937 San Francisco “residential security map” 
created by the Home Owners’ Loan Corporation 

 

Figure 9: Redlining in Berkeley 

Source: Barber 2018 

 

 

Page 24 of 45

42

Page 28 of 48

64



14 

gentrifying areas in the East Bay were 
rated as hazardous (red) or declining 
(yellow) by HOLC, and 75 percent of 
today’s exclusionary areas were rated as 
best (green) or desirable (blue).38F

39   
Redlining led to racial and economic 
segregation in cities, and South and West 
Berkeley – historically redlined 
communities – still contain more of 
Berkeley’s low-income communities and 
communities of color.39F

40 In addition, as 
the cost of living increases along with 
increased urbanization, these 
communities are also facing the greatest 
risk of gentrification and displacement 
(see Figure 10). As a result, Berkeley is 
losing its communities of color and low-
income communities. For example, the 
African American population across 
Berkeley fell from 13.3 percent in 2000 to 9.7 percent in 2010 (see Figure 11). The change is even more 
pronounced in South and West Berkeley: between 2000 and 2017 the number of African American 
residents declined by 40 percent (see Figure 12). This trend is not only impacting the diversity of 
Berkeley, but also highlights the continual disenfranchisement of people of color. 

39 Urban Displacement Project 
40 City of Berkeley Agenda Item 22, April 30 2019 

Source: Decennial Census 1990, 2000, 2010; Table DP-1 and Table P004; Universe: 
Total Population; Note: 1990 N=102,724, 2000 N=102,743, and 2010 N=112,580

Figure 11: Berkeley is losing its African American population

Figure 10: Formerly redlined communities are experiencing
higher rates of gentrification and displacement 

Source: Urban Displacement Project 

Page 25 of 45

43

Page 29 of 48

65



 

 

15 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

VI. Recommendations 

The City of Berkeley has committed to creating institutional change on racial equity,40F

41 and the Resilient 
Homes Equity Pilot Program is a perfect opportunity for the City to further its commitment. The City 
has already invested in creating a Racial Equity Lens Toolkit, which can be used to guide program 
expansion in a manner that reduces racial disparities and increases social resilience. As a result, this 
paper recommends Berkeley City Council take the following actions to build both physical and social 
resilience: 

1. Approve the development of a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program that leverages the City’s 
Racial Equity Lens Toolkit in collaboration with community organizations and stakeholders. 

2. Confirm a commitment to dedicate additional future funding to implement the Equity Pilot, 
with the exact annual amount to be determined during the program design phase. 

If these requests are approved by Council, staff will work with community-based organizations to 
determine a target group for the Equity Pilot and co-create it with community members. Using the City 
Toolkit as a guide, staff should also focus on creating an evaluation framework for the Equity Pilot that 
measures success through an equity lens, including program metrics that reflect data related to 
race/ethnicity, age, ability, gender, or other social factors when available. 

 

                                                
41 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 

Source: Decennial Census 2000 & 2010; Table DP-1; and ACS 2017 5-Year 
Estimates; Table B03002; Universe: Total Population; Note: Margins of Error 
expressed at 90 percent confidence level. Census tracts for West Berkeley 
include 4220, 4221, 4232, and South Berkeley include 4232, 4235, 4239.01, 
4240.01 

Figure 12: West Berkeley and South Berkeley have experienced 
the highest rate of decline in the African American population 

1,969 

4,547

1,535 

3,354

1,312 

2,536

-

1,000 

2,000 

3,000 

4,000 

5,000 

West Berkeley South Berkeley

AF
RI

CA
N

 A
M

ER
IC

AN
 P

O
PU

LA
TI

O
N

2000 2010 2017

Page 26 of 45

44

Page 30 of 48

66



16 

At a high level, the Equity Pilot may enable underserved households to make seismic, sustainability, 
electrification and resilience upgrades through subsidies or other mechanisms leading to safer, 
healthier, and more sustainable living environments. More research is required to determine the most 
appropriate mechanism, but rebates (like the existing Program structure) will likely not be an effective 
method for low-income groups because they require households to have cash upfront to make costly 
improvements. More work is also required to determine the Pilot’s specific target group. The Seismic 
Transfer Tax Rebate Program, as it is currently designed, reinforces economic inequality by benefitting 
recent homebuyers who are already economically advantaged.41F

42 To enable more equitable outcomes, 
the Equity Pilot should focus on reaching frontline communities, including communities of color, low-
income communities, and long-term homeowners with limited incomes. More specifically, the Equity 
Pilot may target benefitting renters, residents with disabilities or elderly residents, and others who are 
not able to access the Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program. 

Potential Target Groups 

One group the Pilot may target is renters. Renters are generally less secure financially42F

43 and more 
vulnerable to displacement,43F

44 and could benefit greatly from home improvements that they (or their 
landlords) could otherwise not afford. In California, 70 percent of low-income households are renters 
and 47 percent live in multifamily housing.44F

45 In Berkeley, 83 percent of households earning less than 
$50,000 in annual income are renters.45F

46 Focusing on renters may also mean impacting more 
communities of color: 67 percent of Berkeley’s African American households are renters46F

47 and 74 
percent of Latinx households are renters.47F

48 

Other potential target groups for the Pilot include priority populations that are homeowners, such as 
differently abled residents, seniors, and communities of color. Differently abled homeowners have 
more complex energy reliability needs, and often need more support preparing for and after a disaster. 
Because senior homeowners often have fixed incomes, they may struggle with housing maintenance 
costs.48F

49 Additionally, research shows that seniors may be more vulnerable to displacement.49F

50 With the 
number of residents 65-years and older expected to more than double by 2030 in Berkeley,50F

51 the need 
for services or additional support may also increase. Another important trend is the change in 
Berkeley’s diversity: between 2000 and 2010 the largest change to Berkeley’s ethnic diversity was the 
decline in its African American population51F

52 – and this trend has continued in recent years. Instituting 

42 Recent buyers in Berkeley can be considered economically advantaged because they have the resources and capital to 
purchase a property in a highly-competitive housing market. However, we recognize there is a range of home prices in the 
City, and not all buyers can afford a million-dollar home. We believe the Program offers real value for buyers in the lower 
range of home prices and who may not have the disposable income to spend on important safety or sustainability upgrades. 
43 Scally 2018 
44 Florida 2017 
45 Scavo 2016 
46 ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table B25118; Universe: Occupied Housing Units 
47 ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table B25003B; Universe: Occupied housing units with a householder who is Black or African 
American alone 
48 ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table B25003I; Universe: Occupied housing units with a householder who is Hispanic or Latino 
49 City of Berkeley Housing Element 2015 
50 Nyden et al. 2006 
51 Age-Friendly Berkeley Action Plan 2018 
52 City of Berkeley Housing Element 2015 

Page 27 of 45

45

Page 31 of 48

67



 

 

17 
 

additional anti-displacement measures, such as a 
Resilient Homes Equity Pilot, can slow this trend 
and enable more long-term members of the 
community to stay in their homes. Enabling 
homeowners to make important repairs is an 
effective strategy for preventing displacement.52F

53, 
53F

54 

Another way staff may choose to focus the Pilot is 
based on location of existing natural gas 
infrastructure. Targeting a group of underserved 
households that rely on the same segment of the 
gas distribution system, and helping them 
transition to all-electric, could lead to that entire 
gas line segment becoming decommissioned (see 
Figure 13). Strategic decommissioning of gas lines 
can help the overall system maintain sufficient 
pressure and reliable service, and may even lead 
to savings on maintenance costs.54F

55 Electrification 
of these homes would also provide health and 
safety benefits to the residents, as discussed in 
more detail below. 

VII. Potential Impact 

An equity-centered Pilot offers several potential benefits for Berkeley residents. As previously 
mentioned, the Equity Pilot is a great opportunity to operationalize the City’s existing Equity Toolkit – 
and can provide valuable learnings for how to integrate the Toolkit across other City programs. In 
addition, while the specifics of the Pilot need to be developed in partnership with community members 
and various stakeholders, several high-level impacts can be inferred based on a preliminary 
understanding of what the Pilot might include. Enabling underserved residents to improve their living 
space not only benefits them as individuals, but the community as a whole can benefit from a safer, 
healthier, more sustainable, and more inclusive environment. 

1 | Increased Safety 

It is estimated that in the event of a major earthquake over 600 housing units in Berkeley would be 
destroyed and 20,000 would be damaged, with low-income housing units experiencing the highest rate 
of damage.55F

56 Extending the Program to low-income residents (or landlords with low-income tenants) 
can enable them to make the necessary seismic improvements to better protect themselves and their 
homes during an earthquake. Improving the stability of buildings to withstand a major earthquake not 

                                                
53 The Housing Development Consortium of Seattle-King County 2019 
54 Alameda County 2018 The Housing Development Consortium of Seattle-King County 2019  
55 Gridworks 2019 
56 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 

Figure 13: Approaches to neighborhood-level 
electrification 

Source: Gridworks 2019 

Page 28 of 45

46

Page 32 of 48

68



18 

only reduces an individual’s risk of displacement, loss 
of property or loss of life, but better positions the city 
as a whole to recover more rapidly after an 
earthquake.56F

57 The Berkeley Seismic Transfer Tax 
Rebate Program flier says it best: “Get Involved. Get 
Ready. No One’s Prepared Until Everyone’s Prepared” 
(see Figure 14). 

Offering qualifying electrification upgrades as part of 
the Equity Pilot can also significantly reduce the risk of 
gas leaks following an earthquake. Gas leaks in general 
pose a safety risk, as can be seen in the Porter Ranch 
incident57F

58 and San Bruno gas explosion,58F

59 thus 
lessening the City’s reliance on natural gas can improve 
public safety. In addition, because repairing electric 
infrastructure post-disaster can happen faster than 
repairing gas lines, increasing electrification can 
position the city to recover more quickly post-
disaster.59F

60 

2 | Improved Health Outcomes 

Many aspects of the physical environment can directly 
affect people’s health. Enabling more households to 
switch to electric appliances can improve indoor air 

quality, which can have dramatic effects on health.60F

61 Gas stoves release nitrogen dioxide and other 
particulates while burning, and prolonged exposure to these can lead to asthma or other respiratory 
illnesses – especially among children and seniors.61F

62 One study found that children living in a home with 
a gas stove have a 42 percent increased risk of asthma and have a 24 percent increased risk of asthma 
over their lifetime.62F

63 Electric stoves do not emit particulates and, since electric stoves do not rely on 
combustion, there is also no risk of carbon monoxide poisoning. In addition, the risk of carbon 
monoxide poisoning can be reduced by replacing gas furnaces with electric heat pumps. According to 
the Center for Disease Control (CDC), approximately 50,000 people in the U.S. visit the emergency 
room each year as a result of accidental carbon monoxide poisoning and at least 430 people die from 
accidental exposure.63F

64 Electric heat pumps, which provide both heating and cooling, can also provide 
critical temperature control during heat waves. In 2017, 14 people died in the Bay Area as a result of 
extreme heat.64F

65 It is predicted that by 2100, Berkeley will have 6-10 additional heat waves each year, 

57 FEMA 2016 
58 Siders 2016 
59 Bowe et al. 2015 
60 City of Berkeley Adopt an Ordinance, Item 21, July 9, 2019 
61 Barron 2017 
62 The Greenlining Institute 2019 
63 Lin et al. 2013 
64 CDC 2020 
65 Peterson 2018 

Figure 14: Berkeley Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate 
Program Flier

Source: City of Berkeley 

Page 29 of 45

47

Page 33 of 48

69



 

 

19 
 

which will disproportionately impact seniors, children under five, and low-income community 
members.65F

66 As heat waves grow more frequent and more severe due to climate change, enabling low-
income and underserved communities to access clean cooling technology can be an important public 
health strategy.66F

67  

By prioritizing communities of color, the Equity Pilot can also contribute to reducing health disparities. 
People of color in Berkeley are more likely than white people to experience a wide variety of health 
problems throughout their lives and die prematurely.67F

68 Asthma hospitalization rates for African 
American children under five is 10 times higher than the rate among white children, and for Latinx 
children it is 2.8 times higher.68F

69 A key piece to improving health outcomes is ensuring access to 
environments that support health,69F

70 and a program that enables low-income and communities of color 
to improve their living environment and have access to clean technology can support better health and 
lead to better health outcomes. 

3 | Reduction in GHG Emissions 

Berkeley has been a longtime leader in climate change mitigation. In 2006, Berkeley voters 
overwhelmingly endorsed a ballot measure to reduce the community’s GHG emissions by 80 percent 
below 2000 levels by 2050,70F

71 and three years later the City adopted a Climate Action Plan that included 
a vision to achieve zero net energy consumption for all new and existing buildings by 2050.71F

72 In 2018, 
the City Council declared a Climate Emergency and established a goal of becoming a Fossil Fuel Free 
City. That same year, Berkeley Mayor Jesse Arreguin set a goal to reach 100 percent renewable 
electricity by 2035 and achieve net-zero carbon emissions by the year 2050. Because energy use in 
homes and commercial buildings is the second largest contributor of greenhouse gases in Berkeley 
(making up almost 40 percent of overall GHG emissions),72F

73 electrification of buildings is essential to 
reducing emissions and energy usage. Roughly 72 percent of Berkeley residents rely on gas for heating 
their homes, thus strategies aimed at accelerating the electrification of buildings could contribute 
significantly to the City’s goal of achieving Fossil Fuel Free status (see Figure 15). 

The City has made progress toward these goals and is leading the state and nation in pursuing stricter 
green building standards through the adoption of a natural gas ban in new residential buildings as well 
as through stretch and reach codes (codes beyond the minimum imposed by the state).73F

74 However, 
more action is needed if the City intends to meet its goals.74F

75 Council has identified building retrofits as 
a key strategy, and recommended staff consider offering financial incentives to subsidize the transition 
toward sustainable buildings, including expanding the existing transfer tax subsidy.75F

76 The Equity Pilot  

                                                
66 City of Berkeley Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 2014 
67 E3 2019 
68 City of Berkeley Health Status Report 2018 
69 Ibid. 
70 Ibid. 
71 City of Berkeley Electric Mobility Roadmap 2019 
72 Arreguin 2018 
73 City of Berkeley Pathway to Clean Energy Building Report RFP March 20, 2019 
74 City of Berkeley Short-Term Referral Item 24, Nov. 27, 2018 
75 According to the 2016 GHG emissions inventory, the City has achieved 15 percent reductions below 2000 levels. 
76 City of Berkeley Short-Term Referral Item 24, Nov. 27, 2018 

Page 30 of 45

48

Page 34 of 48

70



20 

Figure 15: Roughly 72 percent of Berkeley households rely on natural gas for heating 

Source: ACS 2017 5-Year Estimates; Table B25040; Universe: Occupied Housing Units; 
Note: Margins of Error expressed at 90 percent confidence level 

builds on this strategy of encouraging fuel switching to clean energy, and helps prevent low-income 
households from being left behind. All residents, regardless of their income or whether they own or 
rent their home, should have the opportunity to benefit from clean energy and contribute to 
Berkeley’s climate action goals. 

4 | Enables a Just Transition 

Accelerating progress towards the City’s Fossil Fuel Free goal is an important part of Berkeley’s fight 
against climate change; however, efforts to achieve this goal must be carried out in a manner that 
reduces (not perpetuates) harmful inequalities. Council urged staff to consider “the framework for a 
just and equitable transition,” and the Equity Pilot helps to enable a just transition. More specifically, it 
can address three critical elements: 

 Transitioning buildings away from fossil fuels to cleaner electricity is a key strategy for Berkeley;
however, high upfront costs can make this transition difficult for low-income homeowners. For
example, electrical panel upgrades range between $2,000-$4,00076F

77 and heat pump water
heaters are currently more expensive than traditional gas water heaters. Subsidies or similar
mechanisms can help households cover the higher upfront cost of such technologies, enabling
households to benefit from cleaner, more efficient appliances.

 As more buildings transition away from natural gas, the cost of gas will inevitably rise: the gas
distribution system is expensive to maintain, and as the number of ratepayers decreases the
costs will be distributed across fewer ratepayers – leading to higher bills for those who are still
using it.77F

78 The cost today for natural gas is roughly $1.50 per therm, and estimates place the
cost as high as $19 per therm by 2050.78F

79 The last customers relying on the gas system could
experience unreasonably high rates; and these customers “may well be those among us who

77 E3 2019 
78 Gridworks 2019 
79 Ibid. 

32,832 

9,999 

1,463 

1,044 

177 

Utility Gas

Electricity

No Fuel Used

Other

Solar Energy

- 5,000  10,000  15,000  20,000  25,000  30,000  35,000

FU
EL

 U
SE

D 
TO

 H
EA

T 
HO

M
ES

Page 31 of 45

49

Page 35 of 48

71



 

 

21 
 

A Resilient Homes Equity Pilot can help Berkeley further its commitment to social and racial 
equity and secure its position as a leader in climate change, while also building a safer, 

healthier, more inclusive and more resilient community. 

are least able to afford high rates and least able to finance the new appliances needed to 
convert to electricity.”79F

80 It is therefore critical to develop strategies that enable more low-
income communities to transition to all-electric and not be left to pay for an expensive, aging 
gas system. The City is in the process of developing an Existing Building Electrification Strategy, 
which will identify and assess the potential pathways to phasing out fossil fuels across all 
existing buildings in Berkeley as soon as possible and will incorporate an emphasis on a just 
transition. 

 Because many low-income households are renters, strategies must consider how to incentivize 
landlords to invest in clean technology in a way that does not lead to higher rents (and prevents 
the cost of upgrades being passed through to tenants). Furthermore, tenants should benefit 
from the bill savings of more energy efficient appliances. 

VIII. Conclusion 

Berkeley’s Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program has no doubt contributed to making the City more 
resilient to earthquakes and expanding the Program to include sustainability and energy efficiency 
upgrades will further build the City’s resilience to natural disasters and climate change. However, the 
current Program fails to reach underserved members of the community despite the fact that low-
income and minority communities are more vulnerable to natural disasters and the impacts of climate 
change.80F

81 Exclusion not only keeps resilience out of reach for frontline communities, but it perpetuates 
social and racial inequality in the City. Establishing a new, equity-centered program that incorporates 
key strategies from the City’s Racial Equity Lens Toolkit can enable all residents to contribute to and 
benefit from building Berkeley’s resilience – especially those most in need and historically 
underserved. With Council’s support, a Resilient Homes Equity Pilot Program can help the City further 
its commitment to social and racial equity and secure its position as a leader in climate change, while 
also building a safer, healthier, more inclusive and more resilient community. 

 

 

 

IX. References 

Age-Friendly Berkeley Action Plan. City of Berkeley, Dec. 2018, https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/livable-
communities/livable-documents/documents-2018/action-plans/berkeley-california-action-plan-2018.pdf. 

Alameda County Housing + Community Development. Measure A1 Home Preservation Loan Program Implementation-
Level Policies. 11 June 2018, 

                                                
80 Gridworks 2019 
81 City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy 2016 

Page 32 of 45

50

Page 36 of 48

72

https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/livable-communities/livable-documents/documents-2018/action-plans/berkeley-california-action-plan-2018.pdf
https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/livable-communities/livable-documents/documents-2018/action-plans/berkeley-california-action-plan-2018.pdf


22 

http://www.acgov.org/board/bos_calendar/documents/DocsAgendaReg_6_11_18/HEALTH%20CARE%20SERVICES/Regu
lar%20Calendar/Item_1_3_Measure_A1_HPLP_Policies_6_11_18.pdf. 

Anguelovski, Isabelle, et al. “Equity Impacts of Urban Land Use Planning for Climate Adaptation: Critical Perspectives 
from the Global North and South.” Journal of Planning Education and Research, vol. 36, no. 3, Sept. 2016, pp. 333–48. 
SAGE Journals, doi:10.1177/0739456X16645166. 

Arreguin, Jesse. At Global Summit, Berkeley Commits to Ambitious New Climate Goals. Sept. 2018, 
https://www.jessearreguin.com/press-releases/2018/9/13/at-global-summit-city-commits-to-ambitious-new-climate-
goals. 

Barber, Jesse. “Redlining: The History of Berkeley’s Segregated Neighborhoods.” Berkeleyside, 20 Sept. 2018, 
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2018/09/20/redlining-the-history-of-berkeleys-segregated-neighborhoods. 

Barron, Manuel, and Maximo Torero. “Householdelectrificationandindoorairpollution.” Journal of Environmental 
Economics and Management, 2017, https://www.ocf.berkeley.edu/~manuelb/Research/IAP/IAP-Jul2017.pdf. 

“Berkeley CA Home Prices & Home Values.” Zillow, https://www.zillow.com:443/berkeley-ca/home-values/. Accessed 
March 9, 2020. 

Bohland, James, et al. The Disaster Resiliency Challenge: Transforming Theory to Action. Charles C Thomas Publisher 
LTD., 2018. 

Bowe, Rebecca, and Lisa Pickoff-White. “Five Years After Deadly San Bruno Explosion: Are We Safer?” KQED News, Sept. 
2015, https://www.kqed.org/news/10667274/five-years-after-deadly-sanbruno-explosion-are-we-safer. 

California’s Gas System In Transition: Equitable, Affordable, Decarbonized and Smaller. Gridworks, 2019, 
https://gridworks.org/initiatives/cagas-system-transition/. 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). “Carbon Monoxide.” 20 Jan. 2020, 
https://www.cdc.gov/features/copoisoning/index.html. 

City of Berkeley 2015-2023 Housing Element. Apr. 2015, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/housingelement/. 

City of Berkeley 2018-2019 Strategic Plan: An Overview of Strategic Long-Term Goals with Short-Term Priorities to Guide 
City Government Operations within the 2-Year Fiscal Cycle. Jan. 2018, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/City_Manager/Level_3_-_General/berkeley-2018-strategic-plan.pdf. 

City of Berkeley Adopt an Ordinance Adding a New Chapter 12.80 to the Berkeley Municipal Code Prohibiting Natural Gas 
Infrastructure in New Buildings. Item 21, 9 July 2019, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/07_Jul/Documents/2019-07-
09_Item_21_Adopt_an_Ordinance_adding_a_new.aspx. 

City of Berkeley Electric Mobility Roadmap. 2019, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Electric%20Mobility%20Roadmap%20Public%20Review%20Draft%
2010.14.19.pdf. 

City of Berkeley Health Status Report. 2018, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Health_Human_Services/Public_Health/Public_Health_Reports.aspx. 

City of Berkeley Local Hazard Mitigation Plan. 2014, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Mitigation/. 

City of Berkeley Local Hazard Mitigation Plan. 2019, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Mitigation/. 

Page 33 of 45

51

Page 37 of 48

73

http://www.acgov.org/board/bos_calendar/documents/DocsAgendaReg_6_11_18/HEALTH%20CARE%20SERVICES/Regular%20Calendar/Item_1_3_Measure_A1_HPLP_Policies_6_11_18.pdf
http://www.acgov.org/board/bos_calendar/documents/DocsAgendaReg_6_11_18/HEALTH%20CARE%20SERVICES/Regular%20Calendar/Item_1_3_Measure_A1_HPLP_Policies_6_11_18.pdf
https://www.jessearreguin.com/press-releases/2018/9/13/at-global-summit-city-commits-to-ambitious-new-climate-goals
https://www.jessearreguin.com/press-releases/2018/9/13/at-global-summit-city-commits-to-ambitious-new-climate-goals
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2018/09/20/redlining-the-history-of-berkeleys-segregated-neighborhoods
https://www.ocf.berkeley.edu/%7Emanuelb/Research/IAP/IAP-Jul2017.pdf
https://www.zillow.com/berkeley-ca/home-values/
https://www.kqed.org/news/10667274/five-years-after-deadly-sanbruno-explosion-are-we-safer
https://gridworks.org/initiatives/cagas-system-transition/
https://www.cdc.gov/features/copoisoning/index.html
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/housingelement/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/City_Manager/Level_3_-_General/berkeley-2018-strategic-plan.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/07_Jul/Documents/2019-07-09_Item_21_Adopt_an_Ordinance_adding_a_new.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/07_Jul/Documents/2019-07-09_Item_21_Adopt_an_Ordinance_adding_a_new.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Electric%20Mobility%20Roadmap%20Public%20Review%20Draft%2010.14.19.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Electric%20Mobility%20Roadmap%20Public%20Review%20Draft%2010.14.19.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Electric%20Mobility%20Roadmap%20Public%20Review%20Draft%2010.14.19.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Health_Human_Services/Public_Health/Public_Health_Reports.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Mitigation/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Mitigation/


 

 

23 
 

City of Berkeley Pathway to Clean Energy Building Report RFP. March 20, 2019, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Finance/Level_3_-_General/19-11256-C%20-%20Final%20-
RFP%20Pathway%20to%20Clean%20Energy%20Building%20Report%20(Re-Issued).pdf.  

City of Berkeley Racial Equity Lens Toolkit. Sep. 2019. 

City of Berkeley Refer to the Planning Commission and Housing Advisory Commission to Research and Recommend 
Policies to Prevent Displacement and Gentrification of Berkeley Residents of Color and African Americans. Item 22, 30 
Apr. 2019, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-
30_Supp_3_Reports_Item_22_Rev_Davila_pdf.aspx. 

City of Berkeley Resilience Strategy: A Plan to Advance Preparedness and Equity in Berkeley, a Community Known for 
Inclusiveness and Innovation. Apr. 2016, http://www.cityofberkeley.info/resilience. 

City of Berkeley Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and Sustainable Development to Draft 
Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52, Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy 
Efficiency and Water Conservation Retrofits. Item 24, 27 Nov. 2018, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/2018-11-27_Item_24_Short-
Term_Referral_to_City_Manager.aspx. 

City of Berkeley Seismic Transfer Tax Rebate Program Flier. 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_(new_site_map_walk-through)/Level_3_-
_General/FlierTaxRebateV4b.pdf. 

City of Berkeley Update and Next Steps on Berkeley’s Participation in 100 Resilient Cities. Item 1, 9 June 6, 2015, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/07_Jul/Documents/2017-07-
18_WS_Item_03_Update_and_Next_Steps.aspx. 

Florida, Richard. “Gentrification Is Twice As Likely to Displace Renters As Homeowners.” CityLab, 
http://www.citylab.com/housing/2017/01/gentrification-hurts-renters-more-than-homeowners/510074/. Accessed 23 
Feb. 2020. 

“GOVERNMENT: End of HOLC.” Time, June 1951. content.time.com, 
http://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,858135,00.html. 

Green, Matthew. “How Government Redlining Maps Pushed Segregation in California Cities [Interactive].” KQED, Apr. 
2016. (Courtesy of University of Maryland’s T-Races project), https://www.kqed.org/lowdown/18486/redlining. 

Jan, Tracy. “White Families Have Nearly 10 Times the Net Worth of Black Families. And the Gap Is Growing.” The 
Washington Post, 28 Sept. 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2017/09/28/black-and-hispanic-
families-are-making-more-money-but-they-still-lag-far-behind-whites/. 

Lin, Weiwei, et al. “Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Indoor Nitrogen Dioxide and Gas Cooking on Asthma and Wheeze in 
Children.” International Journal of Epidemiology, no. 42:1724–1737, 2013, https://academic.oup.com/ije/article-
abstract/42/6/1724/737113. 

Meerow, Sara, et al. “Social Equity in Urban Resilience Planning.” Local Environment, vol. 24, no. 9, Sept. 2019, pp. 793–
808. Taylor and Francis+NEJM, doi:10.1080/13549839.2019.1645103. 

Mitchell, Bruce, and Juan Franco. HOLC “Redlining” Maps: The Persistent Structure of Segregation and Economic 
Inequality. National Community Reinvestment Coalition (NCRC), May 2018, https://ncrc.org/holc/. 

Moffatt, Hannah, et al. Let’s Talk Populations and the Power of Language. National Collaborating Centre for 
Determinants of Health at St. Francis Xavier University, 2013. 

  

Page 34 of 45

52

Page 38 of 48

74

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Finance/Level_3_-_General/19-11256-C%20-%20Final%20-RFP%20Pathway%20to%20Clean%20Energy%20Building%20Report%20(Re-Issued).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Finance/Level_3_-_General/19-11256-C%20-%20Final%20-RFP%20Pathway%20to%20Clean%20Energy%20Building%20Report%20(Re-Issued).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-30_Supp_3_Reports_Item_22_Rev_Davila_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-30_Supp_3_Reports_Item_22_Rev_Davila_pdf.aspx
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/resilience
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/2018-11-27_Item_24_Short-Term_Referral_to_City_Manager.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/11_Nov/Documents/2018-11-27_Item_24_Short-Term_Referral_to_City_Manager.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_(new_site_map_walk-through)/Level_3_-_General/FlierTaxRebateV4b.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_(new_site_map_walk-through)/Level_3_-_General/FlierTaxRebateV4b.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/07_Jul/Documents/2017-07-18_WS_Item_03_Update_and_Next_Steps.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/07_Jul/Documents/2017-07-18_WS_Item_03_Update_and_Next_Steps.aspx
http://www.citylab.com/housing/2017/01/gentrification-hurts-renters-more-than-homeowners/510074/
http://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,858135,00.html
https://www.kqed.org/lowdown/18486/redlining
https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2017/09/28/black-and-hispanic-families-are-making-more-money-but-they-still-lag-far-behind-whites/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2017/09/28/black-and-hispanic-families-are-making-more-money-but-they-still-lag-far-behind-whites/
https://academic.oup.com/ije/article-abstract/42/6/1724/737113
https://academic.oup.com/ije/article-abstract/42/6/1724/737113
https://ncrc.org/holc/


24 

Mohnot, Sona, et al. Making Equity Real in Climate Adaptation and Community Resilience Policies and Programs: A 
Guidebook. The Greenlining Institute, Aug. 2019. 

The Housing Development Consortium of Seattle-King County. Anti-Displacement Strategies. May 2019, 
https://www.housingconsortium.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Anti-Displacement.pdf. 

Nelson, Julie, and Lisa Brooks. Racial Equity Toolkit: An Opportunity to Operationalize Equity. Government Alliance on 
Race & Equity (GARE), Dec. 2016, https://www.racialequityalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/GARE-
Racial_Equity_Toolkit.pdf. 

Nyden, Philip, et al. The Differential Impact of Gentrification on Communities in Chicago. Loyola University Chicago 
Center for Urban Research and Learning, Jan. 2006. 

Peterson, Molly. Extreme Heat Killed 14 People in the Bay Area Last Year. 11 Takeaways From Our Investigation. KQED, 
17 Oct. 2018, https://www.kqed.org/science/1932903/extreme-heat-killed-14-people-in-the-bay-area-last-year-10-
takeaways-from-our-investigation. 

Powell, John A., et al. Targeted Universalism: Policy & Practice. Haas Institute for a Fair and Inclusive Society, May 2019, 
https://belonging.berkeley.edu/targeteduniversalism. 

Redlining and Gentrification | Urban Displacement Project. https://www.urbandisplacement.org/redlining. Accessed 23 
Feb. 2020. 

Residential Building Electrification in California: Consumer Economics, Greenhouse Gases and Grid Impacts. Energy + 
Environmental Economics (E3), Apr. 2019, www.ethree.com. 

“Resilient Cities, Resilient Lives: Learning from the 100RC Network.” 100 Resilient Cities, July 2019, 
http://100resilientcities.org/capstone-report/. 

Scally, Corianne Payton, and Dulce Gonzalez. “Homeowner and Renter Experiences of Material Hardship: Implications for 
the Safety Net.” Urban Institute, Nov. 2018, 
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99271/homeowner_and_renter_experiences_of_material_hards
hip_implications_for_the_safety_net_2.pdf. 

Scavo, Jordan, et al. Low-Income Barriers Study, Part A: Overcoming Barriers to Energy Efficiency and Renewables for 
Low-Income Customers and Small Business Contracting Opportunities in Disadvantaged Communities. California Energy 
Commission, Dec. 2016, https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/getdocument.aspx?tn=214830. 

Siders, David. “Jerry Brown Declares Emergency around Southern California Gas Leak.” The Sacramento Bee, Jan. 2016, 
https://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article53353615.html. 

The Greenlining Institute. Equitable Building Electrification: A Framework for Powering Resilient Communities, Sept. 
2019, https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-
driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf. 

The Importance of Building Codes in Earthquake-Prone Communities Fact Sheet. FEMA, July 2016, 
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1410554614185-
e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_Fact_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf. 

Visualizing Health Equity: One Size Does Not Fit All Infographic. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, June 2017, 
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/infographics/visualizing-health-equity.html. 

Yuen, Tina, et al. A Guide to Equitable, Community-Driven Climate Preparedness Planning. Urban Sustainability Directors 
Network (USDN), May 2017, https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-
driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf. 

Page 35 of 45

53

Page 39 of 48

75

https://www.housingconsortium.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Anti-Displacement.pdf
https://www.racialequityalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/GARE-Racial_Equity_Toolkit.pdf
https://www.racialequityalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/GARE-Racial_Equity_Toolkit.pdf
https://www.kqed.org/science/1932903/extreme-heat-killed-14-people-in-the-bay-area-last-year-10-takeaways-from-our-investigation
https://www.kqed.org/science/1932903/extreme-heat-killed-14-people-in-the-bay-area-last-year-10-takeaways-from-our-investigation
https://belonging.berkeley.edu/targeteduniversalism
https://www.urbandisplacement.org/redlining
http://www.ethree.com/
http://100resilientcities.org/capstone-report/
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99271/homeowner_and_renter_experiences_of_material_hardship_implications_for_the_safety_net_2.pdf
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99271/homeowner_and_renter_experiences_of_material_hardship_implications_for_the_safety_net_2.pdf
https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/getdocument.aspx?tn=214830
https://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article53353615.html
https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf
https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1410554614185-e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_Fact_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1410554614185-e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_Fact_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/infographics/visualizing-health-equity.html
https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf
https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf


Kate Harrison 
Councilmember, District 4 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704    Tel: 510.981.7140    TDD: 510.981.6903 
E-Mail: kharrison@CityofBerkeley.info

REVISED 
AGENDA MATERIAL 

for Supplemental Packet 2

Meeting Date: November 27, 2018 

Item Number: 24 

Item Description: Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and 
Sustainable Development to Draft Ordinance Amending 
Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52, Reducing Tax Imposed 
for Qualifying Electrification, Energy Efficiency and Water 
Conservation Retrofits 

Submitted by:  Councilmember Harrison 

Added Councilmember Hahn as a cosponsor. 

Page 37 of 45

55

Page 40 of 48

76



Kate Harrison 
Councilmember District 4 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7140 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-6903 
E-Mail: KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR 
November 27, 2018 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Councilmembers Harrison, and Davila and Hahn 

Subject: Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and Sustainable 
Development to Draft Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 
7.52, Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy Efficiency 
and Water Conservation Retrofits 

RECOMMENDATION 
Short-term referral to the City Manager and the Office of Energy and Sustainable 
Development to draft an ordinance amending Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Chapter 
7.52, reducing tax imposed for qualifying electrification, energy efficiency, and water 
conservation retrofits. 

BACKGROUND 
The City of Berkeley faces climate change and water usage emergencies. A recent UN 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change report highlighted the immediacy of the 
climate emergency, suggesting that in order to keep warming under 1.5 degrees 
Celsius, carbon emissions would need to be cut 45% by 2030.1 Though California is no 
longer in extreme drought, Berkeley is still categorized as abnormally dry, almost 50% 
of the state is in moderate drought or worse, and we can expect to face major droughts 
in the future.2  

The City is already leading the state and nation in pursuing stricter green building 
standards through the adoption of stretch and reach codes (codes beyond the minimum 
imposed by the state) favoring sustainable buildings and time of sale energy audits, but 
progress is still hindered by a significant lack of financial incentives to encourage the 
replacing and phasing-out of energy inefficient, carbon and water-intensive 
infrastructure in new and existing buildings. For example, even though electric heat 
pump water heaters can prevent significant carbon emissions and save money on 
heating bills, the relatively higher purchase and installation costs associated with heat 
pumps as compared to gas-fired heaters remains a major disincentive. 

1 IPCC Press Release, Summary for Policymakers of IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5ºC 
approved by Governments, 8 October 2018, 
http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/session48/pr_181008_P48_spm_en.pdf 

2 National Integrated Drought Information System, Drought in California, 
https://www.drought.gov/drought/states/california. 

Page 38 of 45

56

Page 41 of 48

77



Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and Sustainable 
Development to Draft Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52, 
Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy Efficiency and Water 
Conservation Retrofits 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
November 27, 2018 

Page 2 

The City has identified building retrofits as a key part of reducing emissions and energy 
and water usage. To achieve the ambitious sustainability goals set by the Council, the 
City cannot rely solely upon the market, state, federal and utility level incentives. It 
would do well to explore offering significant financial incentives to subsidize the 
transition towards sustainable building, including expanding the existing transfer tax 
subsidy for seismic retrofits to include qualifying sustainability retrofits.  

Following the devastating 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake, the Council passed Ordinance 
6072-NS in 1991 to reduce up to one-third of the transfer tax imposed on property 
owners who seismically retrofit any structure which is used exclusively for residential 
purposes, or any mixed use structure which contains two or more dwelling units. In 
passing the ordinance, forward-looking leaders acted independently of the state and 
federal government to subsidize critical building improvements in anticipation of 
relatively infrequent but exceedingly devastating earthquake emergencies. The seismic 
retrofit subsidy program offers a model for accelerating opportunities to address the 
major emergencies of our time.  

This referral asks the City Manager and Office of Energy & Sustainable Development 
(OESD) to develop amendments to BMC Chapter 7.52 that expand the existing seismic 
retrofit subsidy in order to include appropriate reductions in transfer tax imposed on 
sales of property for qualifying electrification, energy efficiency, and water conservation 
retrofits. According to a 2018 City Manager report, 737 Berkeley residences were 
transferred in 2017.3 

In drafting the ordinance, staff should consider existing City sustainability goals such as 
the 2009 Berkeley Climate Action Plan, and the framework for a just and equitable 
transition as set out in the Climate Emergency Declaration. Staff should tailor the 
subsidy to be commensurate with the emergency at hand and should design it to result 
in quantifiable reductions in emissions as well as energy and water waste.  

OESD staff recently issued a request for proposals (RFP) for expert analysis identifying 
a set of measureable policies and programs to transition Berkeley's building stock to 
efficient and 100% clean energy.4 The resulting analysis report should help inform staff 
in determining which types of greenhouse gas reduction measures transfer tax 
reductions could fund. Additionally, within the context of the City’s sustainability goals 

3 Placing a Measure on the November 6, 2018 Ballot to Increase the Transfer Tax on Property Sales to 
Pay for General Municipal Services Including Funding Homeless Services, City Manager, July 31, 
2018, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/07_Jul/Documents/2018-07-
31_Item_05_Placing_a_Measure_on_the_November_6.aspx 

4 Request for Proposals (RFP) Specification No. 19-11256-C for Pathway to Clean Energy Buildings 
Report: Existing Building Program Evaluation and Recommendations, OESD, October, 10, 2018, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Finance/Level_3_-_General/19-11256-C%20-
%20RFP%20Pathway%20to%20Clean%20Energy%20Building%20Report_revd%201017.pdf.  

Page 39 of 45

57

Page 42 of 48

78



Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and Sustainable 
Development to Draft Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52, 
Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy Efficiency and Water 
Conservation Retrofits 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
November 27, 2018 

 

Page 3 

and the RFP analysis, staff should specifically consider developing and codifying 
definitions of qualifying improvements, including but not limited to: 
 

 Electric service panel upgrades for the purpose of transitioning to electric 
appliances  

 Transitioning home appliances to efficient electric versions, e.g. replacing gas 
burning appliances and systems such as fossil fuel HVACs, cooktops and ovens, 
washers and dryers, and water heaters.  

 Solar or other clean energy generation installations 

 Electric vehicle charging stations 

 Building weatherization upgrades in coordination with the Building Energy Saving 
Ordinance (BESO)  

 Graywater recapture systems 

 Water efficient fixtures and irrigation systems 

The seismic retrofit program was limited to residential and mixed use buildings, but staff 
should consider the appropriateness and effectiveness of extending the subsidy 
program to commercial and/or industrial properties for the purpose of achieving city-
wide sustainability goals. It should also review whether the existing requirement for 
completing seismic retrofits following property transfers is appropriate for the 
sustainability retrofits outlined in this referral.  

Finally, staff should attempt to estimate the carbon, electrical, and water savings that 
are likely to result from adoption of their proposal, and determine whether alternatives 
exist which, at a similar cost the city, would result in greater reductions. 

This referral is compatible with OESD’s 2017 Climate Action Report update suggesting 
that the Council take bold steps to meet Berkeley’s 2050 emission reduction goals. The 
report highlighted the urgency of identifying resources for incentivizing electrification 
measures, building efficiency, generation of renewable electricity, and transitioning 
buildings and vehicles away from fossil fuel.5 
 

                                            
5 Berkeley Climate Action Plan Update, Office of Energy and Sustainable Development, December 7, 

2017, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/2017-12-
07%20WS%20Item%2001%20Climate%20Action%20Plan%20Update.pdf 

Page 40 of 45

58

Page 43 of 48

79



Short-Term Referral to City Manager and Office of Energy and Sustainable 
Development to Draft Ordinance Amending Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 7.52, 
Reducing Tax Imposed for Qualifying Electrification, Energy Efficiency and Water 
Conservation Retrofits 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
November 27, 2018 

Page 4 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
Possible reduction in tax revenue, the magnitude of which is dependent on which 
retrofits are found to be qualifying. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
Incentivizing electrification, energy efficiency, and water savings is directly in line with 
the City’s climate and environmental goals. 

CONTACT PERSON 
Councilmember Kate Harrison, Council District 4, (510) 981-7140 

Attachments: 
1. BMC Section 7.52.060

Page 41 of 45

59

Page 44 of 48

80



 

 

7.52.060 Exceptions. 

A. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to any instrument in writing 
given to secure a debt. 

 
B. Any deed, instrument or writing to which the United States, or any agency or 
instrumentality thereof, any state or territory, or political subdivision thereof, is a party 
shall be exempt from any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter when the exempt agency 
is acquiring title. 
 
C. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to the making, delivery, or 
filing of conveyances to make effective any plan of reorganization or adjustment: 

 
1. Confirmed under the Federal Bankruptcy Act, as amended; 

 
2. Approved in an equity receivership proceeding in a court involving a railroad 
corporation, as defined in subdivision (m) of Section 205 of Title 11 of the United 
States Code, as amended; 

 
3. Approved in an equity receivership proceeding in a court involving a corporation, 
as defined in subdivision (3) of Section 506 of Title 11 of the United States Code, as 
amended; or 

 
4. Whereby a mere change in identity, form or place of organization is effected. 

 
Subdivisions 1 to 4, inclusive, of this section shall only apply if the making, delivering or 
filing of instruments of transfer of conveyance occurs within five years from the date of 
such confirmation, approval or change. 
 
D. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to the making or delivering 
of conveyances to make effective any order of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1083 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1954; but only if: 
 

1. The order of the Securities and Exchange Commission in obedience to which 
such conveyance is made recites that such conveyance is necessary or appropriate 
to effectuate the provisions of Section 79k of Title 15 of the United States Code, 
relating to the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935; 
 
2. Such order specifies the property which is ordered to be conveyed; 
 
3. Such conveyance is made in obedience to such order. 
 

E.  
 

Page 42 of 45

60

Page 45 of 48

81



Page 2 

1. In the case of any realty held by a partnership, no levy shall be imposed pursuant
to this chapter by reason of any transfer of an interest in a partnership or otherwise,
if:

a. Such partnership (or another partnership) is considered a continuing
partnership within the meaning of Section 708 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1954; and

b. Such continuing partnership continues to hold the realty concerned.

2. If there is a termination of any partnership within the meaning of Section 708 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, for purposes of this chapter, such partnership
shall be treated as having executed an instrument whereby there was conveyed, for
fair market value (exclusive of the value of any lien or encumbrance remaining
thereon), all realty held by such partnership at the time of such termination.

3. Not more than one tax shall be imposed pursuant to this chapter by reason of a
termination described in subdivision 2, and any transfer pursuant thereto, with
respect to the realty held by such partnership at the time of such termination.

F. 

1. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to any transfer of
property from one spouse or domestic partner to the other in order to create a joint
tenancy or tenancy in common of their common residence.

2. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to any transfer of
property from one spouse to the other in accordance with the terms of a decree of
dissolution or in fulfillment of a property settlement incident thereto; provided,
however, that such property was acquired by the husband and wife or husband or
wife prior to the final decree of dissolution. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter
also shall not apply to any transfer from one domestic partner, as that term is used in
the City of Berkeley’s policy establishing domestic partnership registration, to
another, where (1) prior to such transfer an affidavit of domestic partnership has
been filed with the City Clerk pursuant to Section IV of the City of Berkeley’s policy
establishing domestic partnership registration; (2) subsequent to the filing of such
affidavit of domestic partnership, either or both domestic partner(s) files a statement
of termination with the City Clerk pursuant to Section V of the domestic partnership
policy; (3) such transfer of real property is made pursuant to a written agreement
between the domestic partners upon the termination of their domestic partnership;
and (4) the real property was acquired by either or both domestic partner(s) prior to
the filing of the statement of termination.

G. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to transfers, conveyance,
lease or sub-lease without consideration which confirm or correct a deed previously
recorded or filed.

Page 43 of 45

61

Page 46 of 48

82



 

Page 3 

 
H. Any tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply to transfers recorded prior 
to the effective date of the ordinance codified in this chapter. 

 
I. The tax imposed pursuant to this chapter shall not apply with respect to any deed, 
instrument, or writing to a beneficiary or mortgagee, which is taken from the mortgagor 
or trustor as a result of or in lieu of foreclosure; provided, that such tax shall apply to the 
extent that the consideration exceeds the unpaid debt, including accrued interest and 
cost foreclosure. Consideration, unpaid debt amount and identification of grantee as 
beneficiary or mortgagee shall be noted on said deed, instrument or writing or stated in 
an affidavit or declaration under penalty of perjury for tax purposes. 

 
J. Reserved. 

 
K.  

 
1. Up to one-third of the tax imposed by this chapter shall be reduced, on a dollar 
for dollar basis, for all expenses incurred on or after October 17, 1989 to "seismically 
retrofit" either any structure which is used exclusively for residential purposes, or any 
mixed use structure which contains two or more dwelling units. 
 
2. The term "seismically retrofit" within the meaning of this chapter means any of 
the following: 

 
a. That work which is needed and directly related to make the structure capable 
of withstanding lateral loads equivalent to the force levels defined by Chapter 23 
of the 1976 Uniform Building Code; 
 
b. Replacement or repair of foundations; replacement or repair of rotted mud 
sills; bracing of basement or pony walls; bolting of mud sills to standard 
foundations; installation of shear walls; anchoring of water heaters; and/or 
securing of chimneys, stacks or water heaters; 
 
c. Corrective work on buildings which fit the criteria in subsection K.1, which are 
listed on the City of Berkeley inventory of potentially hazardous, unreinforced 
masonry buildings when such work is necessary to meet City standards or 
requirements applicable to such buildings; 
 
d. Any other work found by the building official to substantially increase the 
capability of those structures, specified in subsection K.1, to withstand 
destruction or damage in the event of an earthquake. 
 

3. The work to seismically retrofit structures as provided herein shall be completed 
either prior to the transfer of property or as provided in subsection K.4. 
 

Page 44 of 45

62

Page 47 of 48

83



Page 4 

4. If the work to seismically retrofit the structures provided for herein is to be
performed after the transfer of property which is subject to the tax imposed by this
chapter, upon completion of such work and certification by the building official as to
the amount of the expenses of such work the City Manager or his/her designee may
refund such expenses not to exceed one-third of the tax imposed to the parties to
the sale in accordance with the terms of such sale. Any remaining tax shall be
retained by the City.

5. From the date of the recordation of the transfer document, the applicant shall
have one year to complete all seismic retrofit work and submit a seismic retrofit
verification application to the codes and inspection division of the City of Berkeley. If
the work is not completed at the end of one year, that portion which has been
completed may be credited to the applicant upon submission of a seismic retrofit
verification application and substantiating documentation, as required by the codes
and inspections division of the City of Berkeley, showing the dollar amount of work
completed up to that date. All other monies remaining in escrow will be returned to
the City of Berkeley upon written request by the Finance Department.

6. Within the one-year period established by paragraph 5, an applicant may
request, and the City Manager may approve, an extension of up to one year. The
City Manager or his/her designee may grant such an extension only for good cause.
The decision of the City Manager or his/her designee shall be entirely within his or
her discretion and shall be final.

a. "Good cause" includes (i) the inability of the applicant, after a prompt and
diligent search to find and retain the services of an architect, engineer, contractor
or other service provider whose services are necessary for the seismic retrofit
work; (ii) unforeseen and unforeseeable circumstances such as a significant
change in the scope of the seismic retrofit work due to circumstances in the field
which could not reasonably have been known earlier; and (iii) serious illness or
other extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances that prevented the timely
commencement or completion of the seismic retrofit work.

b. "Good cause" does not include (i) ignorance of the applicable City ordinances
or regulations concerning the seismic retrofit rebate provided in this chapter or
state or local laws relating to the standards with which seismic retrofit work must
comply; or (ii) any delays which were within the control or responsibility of the
applicant.

Page 45 of 45

63

Page 48 of 48

84



Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

To: Honorable Members of the City Council

From: Mayor Jesse Arreguín

Subject: Four Way Stop Signs on Eighth Street at Carleton Street and Pardee Street

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the City Manager a proposal to install stop signs at the intersections of Eighth 
Street and Carleton Street and Eighth Street and Pardee Street. 

BACKGROUND
Traffic in West Berkeley has steadily increased over the years as more development 
takes place and as businesses and manufacturers thrive. On October 7th, the Mayor’s 
Office participated in a Manufacturing Roundtable orchestrated by the Office of 
Economic Development as part of Manufacturing Week. At the meeting, businesses 
located in the light-industrial/mixed use residential neighborhood around Eighth Street 
at Carleton Street and Pardee Street raised safety concerns in regards to traffic. 
Specifically, the following issues were raised:

 Cars frequently speed through these intersections, especially at Carleton Street 
which has no painted crosswalk. 

 Parked cars and trucks double parking cause visibility issues at these 
intersections, leading to near misses.

 There has been increased pedestrian traffic from both customers and businesses 
transporting goods between buildings.  

Currently, these two intersections are two way stops, with traffic travelling on Eighth 
Street having the right of way. Out of the 22 intersections on Eighth Street, which runs 
from Jackson Street/Red Oak Avenue at University Village, Albany to Heinz Avenue 
near Berkeley Bowl West in Southwest Berkeley, the only intersection besides Carleton 
Street and Pardee Street not to have a stop sign or traffic light on Eight Street is Bataan 
Avenue, a small one-block residential road in Northwest Berkeley. Given that, drivers 
going down Carleton Street and Pardee Street may wrongly assume that those 
intersections at Eighth Street are a four-way stop, creating unsafe conditions.  

In November 2019, the City Council approved the Transportation Commission’s Stop 
Sign Warrant Policy as a way to determine when stop signs may be warranted to 
protect pedestrians, wheelchair users and/or bicyclists in the City of Berkeley 
(Attachment 1). This was in response to a referral from the Council in October 2017 
which was created after two middle school students were injured after being hit by a car 

Page 1 of 8

85

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.13



Four-Way Stop Signs – Eighth Street CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

Page 2

at an intersection that did not meet the criteria for stop sign installations at the time. If 
such installations are warranted, this can help Berkeley meet its goals to improve traffic 
safety via our Pedestrian and Bike Plans and Vision Zero.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time and cost associated with the stop sign installation.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7100

Attachments: 
1: Policy Guidelines for Multiway Stop Applications

Page 2 of 8

86



Page 3 of 8

87



Attachment 1

Department of Public Works
Transportation Division

Policy Guidelines for 
Multiway Stop Applications

INTRODUCTION:

Multiway stop control (a.k.a. all-way stops) can be useful as a safety measure if 
certain traffic conditions exist. Safety concerns associated with multiway stops include 
pedestrians, bicyclists, and all road users expecting other road users to stop. Multiway stop 
control is used where the volume of traffic on the intersecting roads is approximately equal.

The City of Berkeley’s policy guideline on multiway stop applications is based on the 
exact language from California Vehicle Code (CVC) 1 and the California Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) 2.

I. General Policy on Traffic Signs

The California Vehicle Code (CVC) provides that “(a) Except as provided in Section 
21374 [relating to directional signs for tourists] only those official traffic control devices that 
conform to the uniform standards and specifications promulgated by the Department of 
Transportation shall be placed upon a street or highway…” Hence, the City of Berkeley 
Public Works Department follows standard professional engineering practices as 
prescribed in the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices. The Manual has the following provisions, among others, that guide 
the City's policy and procedures for sign installation:

A. Excessive use of signs should be avoided.

B. Signs should be used where warranted by facts and field studies.

C. No traffic sign or its support shall bear any message that is not essential to traffic 
control.

D. Effective traffic control depends not only on appropriate application of devices, 
but on reasonable enforcement of regulations as well.

1 State of California Vehicle Code 
2 2014 Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Rev. 4

Page 4 of 7Page 4 of 8

88



Policy Guidelines for 
Multiway Stop Applications 
Page 2 of 4

E. Data obtained from traffic engineering studies of physical and traffic related 
factors should be used in determining where signs are necessary.

F. Care should be taken not to install too many signs. A conservative use of 
regulatory and warning signs is recommended as these signs, if used to excess, 
tend to lose their effectiveness.

II. Legal Authority for Stop Sign Installation

The California Vehicle Code (CVC) includes the following excerpts regarding local 
authority on stop signs.

A. Local Authority, CVC §21351: Local authorities in their respective jurisdictions 
shall place and maintain or cause to be placed and maintained such traffic signs, 
signals and other traffic control devices upon streets and highways as required 
hereunder, and may place and maintain or cause to be placed and maintained 
such appropriate signs, signals and other traffic control devices as may be 
authorized hereunder or as may be necessary properly to indicate and to carry 
out the provisions of this code or local traffic ordinances or to warn or guide 
traffic.

B. Stop Signs on Local Highways, CVC §21354: …a local authority may designate 
any highway under its jurisdiction as a through highway and may erect stop signs 
at entrances thereto or may designate any intersection under its exclusive 
jurisdiction as a stop intersection and erect stop signs at one or more entrances 
thereto.

C. Stop Signs, CVC §21355: …The Department of Transportation and local 
authorities in their respective jurisdictions may erect stop signs at any location so 
as to control traffic within an intersection.

D. Stop Requirements, CVC §22450(b). Notwithstanding any other provision of law, 
a local authority may adopt rules and regulations by ordinance or resolution 
providing for the placement of a stop sign at any location on a highway under its 
jurisdiction where the stop sign would enhance traffic safety.

III. Specific Policy on Stop Signs

The California MUTCD provides the following general policies with respect to the 
installation of Stop signs, which the Public Works Department will uphold:

A. Stop signs should not be used for speed control.

B. Stop signs shall not be erected at any entrance to an intersection when such 
entrance is controlled by an official traffic control signal, nor at any railroad grade 
crossing which is controlled by automatic signals, gates, or other train-actuated

Page 5 of 7Page 5 of 8

89



1947 Center Street, 4th   Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704   Tel: 510.981-7010   TDD: 510.981-6903   Fax: 510.981-7060

Policy Guidelines for 
Multiway Stop Applications 
Page 3 of 4

control devices except as provided in CVC §21355, Stop Signs. The conflicting 
commands of two types of control devices are confusing.

C. Portable or part-time Stop signs shall not be used except for emergency 
purposes.

IV. Multiway Stop Installation Warrants

The California MUTCD recommends that the decision to install multiway stop control 
should be based on an engineering study. The Public Works Department will conduct or 
sponsor an engineering study to determine the appropriateness of multiway stop control 
based on the warrants described below.

The California MUTCD specifies that any of the following locations (or 
conditions) may warrant multiway stop sign installation:

A. Where traffic control signals are warranted and urgently needed, the multiway 
stop may be an interim measure that can be installed quickly to control traffic 
while arrangements are being made for the signalization installations.

B. An accident problem, as indicated by 5 or more reported accidents within a 12- 
month period of a type susceptible of correction by a multiway stop installation. 
Such accidents include right- and left-turn collisions as well as right-angle 
collisions.

C. Minimum volumes:

1. The total vehicular volume entering the intersection from all approaches must 
average at least 500 vehicles per hour for any 8 hours of an average day, 
and

2. The combined vehicular and pedestrian volume from the minor street or 
highway must average at least 200 units per hour for the same 8 hours, with 
an average delay to minor-street vehicular traffic of at least 30 seconds per 
vehicle during the maximum hour, but

3. When the 85th-percentile approach speed exceeds 64 km/hr (40 mph), the 
minimum vehicular volume warrant is 70 percent of the above requirements.

V. Special Conditions

Based on the optional criteria prescribed by the MUTCD, the Transportation Division 
may require an engineering study for special situations on a case-by-case basis. In special 
situations where the multiway stop warrants from Section IV are not satisfied, the 
Transportation Division may recommend the installation of multiway stop control to protect 
pedestrians, wheelchair users, and bicyclists for the following specific special conditions, 

Page 6 of 7Page 6 of 8

90



1947 Center Street, 4th   Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704   Tel: 510.981-7010   TDD: 510.981-6903   Fax: 510.981-7060

based on professional engineering judgment and as determined by the Transportation 
Manager:

A. The need to control vehicle/pedestrian conflicts near locations that generate high 
pedestrian volumes, such as intersections adjacent to schools, commercial center 
or park.

B. The need to control vehicle/bicyclist conflicts where a street that is designated as a 
bikeway in Berkeley’s bicycle plan crosses a major street. Bikeways include all routes 
shown as part of the bikeway network in Figure 3.1: Existing Bikeway Network or in 
Figure 5.1: Low Stress Bikeway Network Vision in the Berkeley Bicycle Plan adopted 
on May 2, 2017.

C. Locations where a road user, after stopping, cannot see conflicting traffic and is not 
able to safely negotiate the intersection unless conflicting cross traffic is also required 
to stop.

Four-way stop signs may be installed but will not necessarily be installed at intersections that 
meet these supplemental criteria. The Transportation Division should compare the effects of 
stop signs and alternate controls on all forms of transportation, including public transit buses 
which employ professional drivers, before deciding whether to install it. For example, to 
protect bicyclists, HAWK Beacons may be more appropriate than stop signs at intersections 
where bikeways cross major streets with transit or very high traffic volume, to minimize the 
disruption of traffic flow on those major streets. Likewise, to protect pedestrians, Rectangular 
Rapid Flashing Beacons (RRFBs) may be more appropriate than stop signs on major streets 
with transit or very high traffic volumes to minimize the disruption of traffic flow.

If stop signs are allowed under these new criteria, it is not necessary to meet state criteria. 
Analyses for stop signs in all locations in Berkeley should consider the benefits of proposed 
stop signs, including safety benefits, and this analysis should be made available to the public 
before the decision is made.

Page 7 of 7Page 7 of 8

91



Page 8 of 8

92



Cheryl Davila
Councilmember 
District 2  

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

To:   Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From:   Councilmember Cheryl Davila 

Subject:  Implement Protocols for managing the City Council Meetings on Zoom 

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution with the following actions:
1. Implement the following protocols and criteria for City Council Meetings held on the Zoom 
Video Conferencing service, which shall take effect upon adoption, as well as adding the 
following section to the City Council Rules of Procedures: 

A. Gallery view showing the list of all participants and attendees;
B. Display the timer, during public comment on any item on the agenda, the timer for each 

speaker shall be displayed. The timer countdown shall start when the person starts 
speaking, and shall notify the speaker their time has exceeded the allotted time; but will 
stop when the speaker stops speaking. In the event of technical difficulties during a 
speaker presentation, the speaker time will stop and will resume when the speaker 
resumes speaking.

C. Time yielded, in order to yield extra time to the current speaker, attendees speaking 
shall state the name of the person yielding their time prior to speaking, each person 
yielding time must be on the zoom as an attendee at the time, time is yielded; 

D. The designated meeting host shall keep track of a list and record attendees requesting 
to speak in the order when they raised their hands for public comment. The list shall be 
presented on screen publicly that shows who raised their hand to speak on Zoom, how 
they were chosen and in what order.

E. Notify speakers they have exceeded their time, and allow to complete their sentence and 
state you are moving on to the next speaker, prior to cutting the speaker off;

F. Allow chat and reactions capabilities for attendees and participants; 
G. The chat should be saved and part of the public record.

2. Designate a third party community organization to host and manage the meeting with 
neutrality.

BACKGROUND
Since March 2020, the Berkeley City Council has held its Council Meetings on Zoom due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. For the last several Council meetings, many community members and 
public commenters have expressed concerns how the meetings are handled, currently. 

Page 1 of 4

93

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.14



Community members do not feel there’s full transparency of the meetings: 
● There is no attendee list present nor gallery view of attendees; 
● The meeting setup doesn't allow members of the audience to yield their time to a current 

member of the public while in line, as was the case prior to COVID;
● Timer inequities where the on-screen timer handled by the City for Public Comment 

would start early or late as community members speak;
● Some speakers receive more time and/or less time, or are cut off; 
● There is no transparent way to know when the public raise their hand to speak on Zoom, 

how they were chosen and in what order? 

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, when the City Council was holding its meeting in public, any 
member of the public who would like to give public comment to the City Council on any agenda 
item had to line up in order. Also, the public was able to see who was in the City Council 
meeting room. Finally, audience members were able to yield their time to the speaker on public 
comment.

Other protocols to consider for all zoom meetings throughout the COB: 
● Implement the recorded message at the beginning of all meetings including commission 

meetings and eliminate it being read by individuals;
● All meeting utilize timers for all items, on consent and action calendars throughout the 

City in all zoom meetings; 

Currently, Berkeley Community Media has a contract with the City of Berkeley to conduct the 
broadcast of the City Council meetings, whether they were held in person or on Zoom. Berkeley 
Community Media could be considered to manage the neutrality of the City Council Meetings on 
Zoom and implement the protocols. 

It is imperative that we must conduct our City Council meetings as accessible, equitable, fair, 
and transparent.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
To be determined.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
City Council must honor and respect the voices of our community, especially the most 
marginalized, in order to make sound policy decisions to protect our communities during this 
health and climate crisis.

CONTACT PERSONS
Cheryl Davila
Councilmember District 2                                                                                      
510.981.7120
cdavila@cityofberkeley.info

Eshal Sandhu
Jovi Tseng
Sanjita Pamidimukkala
District 2 Interns

ATTACHMENTS:

Page 2 of 4

94

mailto:cdavila@cityofberkeley.info


1. Resolution 

REFERENCE:
1. Berkeley City Council Rules of Procedure and order effective June 16, 2020

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA, 
IMPLEMENTING PROTOCOLS MANAGING CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ON ZOOM

WHEREAS, Since March 2020, the Berkeley City Council has held its Council Meetings on 
Zoom due to the COVID-19 pandemic. For the last several Council meetings, many community 
members and public commenters have expressed concerns how the meetings are handled, 
currently; and 

WHEREAS, Community members do not feel there’s full transparency of the meetings: 
● There is no attendee list present nor gallery view of attendees; 
● The meeting setup doesn't allow members of the audience to yield their time to a current 

member of the public while in line, as was the case prior to COVID;
● Timer inequities where the on-screen timer handled by the City for Public Comment 

would start early or late as community members speak;
● Some speakers receive more time and/or less time, or are cut off; 
● There is no transparent way to know when the public raise their hand to speak on Zoom, 

how they were chosen and in what order? 

WHEREAS, Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, when the City Council was holding its meeting in 
public, any member of the public who would like to give public comment to the City Council on 
any agenda item had to line up in order. Also, the public was able to see who was in the City 
Council meeting room. Finally, audience members were able to yield their time to the speaker 
on public comment; and

WHEREAS, Other protocols to consider for all zoom meetings throughout the COB: 
● Implement the recorded message at the beginning of all meetings including commission 

meetings and eliminate it being read by individuals;
● All meeting utilize timers for all items, on consent and action calendars throughout the 

City in all zoom meetings; 

WHEREAS, Currently, Berkeley Community Media has a contract with the City of Berkeley to 
conduct the broadcast of the City Council meetings, whether they were held in person or on 
Zoom. Berkeley Community Media could be considered to manage the neutrality of the City 
Council Meetings on Zoom and implement the protocols. 

WHEREAS, It is imperative that we must conduct our City Council meetings as accessible, 
equitable, fair, and transparent.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of Berkeley hereby implement  the 
following protocols and criteria for City Council Meetings held on the Zoom Video Conferencing 

Page 3 of 4

95

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_City_Council/City%252520Council%252520Rules%252520of%252520Procedure%252520-%252520June%2525202020%252520-%252520FINAL.pdf


service, which shall take effect upon adoption, as well as adding the following section to the City 
Council Rules of Procedures: 

A. Gallery view showing the list of all participants and attendees;
B. Display the timer, during public comment on any item on the agenda, the timer for each 

speaker shall be displayed. The timer countdown shall start when the person starts 
speaking, and shall notify the speaker their time has exceeded the allotted time; but will 
stop when the speaker stops speaking. In the event of technical difficulties during a 
speaker presentation, the speaker time will stop and will resume when the speaker 
resumes speaking.

C. Time yielded, in order to yield extra time to the current speaker, attendees speaking 
shall state the name of the person yielding their time prior to speaking, each person 
yielding time must be on the zoom as an attendee at the time, time is yielded; 

D. The designated meeting host shall keep track of a list and record attendees requesting 
to speak in the order when they raised their hands for public comment. The list shall be 
presented on screen publicly that shows who raised their hand to speak on Zoom, how 
they were chosen and in what order.

E. Notify speakers they have exceeded their time, and allow to complete their sentence and 
state you are moving on to the next speaker, prior to cutting the speaker off;

F. Allow chat and reactions capabilities for attendees and participants; 
G. The chat should be saved and part of the public record.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council designate a third party community 
organization to host and manage the meeting with neutrality.

Page 4 of 4

96



Susan Wengraf
Councilmember District 6

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7160 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7166
E-Mail: swengraf@cityofberkeley.info 

CONSENT CALENDAR
November 10, 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Wengraf

Subject: Consider Fire Safety Options for Fire Pit at Codornices Park

RECOMMENDATION
Referral to the Parks & Waterfront Commission to consider safety options regarding the 
future of the fire pit at Codornices Park. Please consider 1) Complete removal of fire pit 
or 2) Manufacture of a cover that can be secured and locked.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time to remove the fire pit. Unknown financial implications to design, craft and 
install the cover. 

BACKGROUND
Codornices Park, situated in the High Hazard Fire Zone on Euclid Avenue in the North-
East Berkeley Hills, has a playground, basketball courts, an open field and a forest of 
dawn redwood trees. The 12 foot by 12 foot fire pit, tucked away behind the meadow in 
the secluded, wooded area of Codornices Park, sits under the canopy of the trees. It 
has been a matter of concern for neighbors who fear a fire can easily start if users are 
careless and irresponsible. With climate change and the number of red flag days 
increasing, options for the fire pit and how and if it can be safely used should be 
considered. 

The large fire pit, is difficult to monitor because it is situated behind the meadow and not 
visible from Euclid Avenue.  Over the years, our office has received numerous calls of 
concern about the potential danger it presents.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
This item supports the City’s environmental sustainability goals. Fire prevention is 
critical for environmental sustainability. 

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Wengraf Council District 6 510-981-7160

Page 1 of 2

97

arichardson
Typewritten Text
02a.15



Page 2 of 2

98



 
 
 
 

Upcoming Worksessions – start time is 6:00 p.m. unless otherwise noted 

Scheduled Dates  

Jan. 12 1. Update: Zero Waste Priorities 
2. Undergrounding Task Force Update 

Feb. 16 1. BMASP/Berkeley Pier-WETA Ferry 
2. 

March 16 1. 
2. 

         

 

 

Unscheduled Workshops 
1.  Cannabis Health Considerations 
2.  Berkeley Police Department Hiring Practices (referred by the Public Safety Committee) 
 

Unscheduled Presentations (City Manager) 
1. Systems Realignment 
2. Digital Strategic Plan/FUND$ Replacement/Website Update 
3. Update: Berkeley’s 2020 Vision 
 

99

arichardson
Typewritten Text
05



 City Council Referrals to the Agenda & Rules Committee and Unfinished 
Business for Scheduling 

1. 47. Amending Chapter 19.32 of the Berkeley Municipal Code to Require Kitchen Exhaust 
Hood Ventilation in Residential and Condominium Units Prior to Execution of a Contract 
for Sale or Close of Escrow (Reviewed by Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, 
Environment, and Sustainability Committee) (Referred from the January 21, 2020 agenda) 
From: Councilmember Harrison 
Recommendation:  
1. Adopt an ordinance amending Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) 19.32 to require kitchen 
exhaust ventilation in residential and condominium units prior to execution of a contract for 
sale or close of escrow. 
2. Refer to the City Manager to develop a process for informing owners and tenants of the 
proper use of exhaust hoods.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140 
Note: Referred to Agenda & Rules for future scheduling. 

2. 25. Surveillance Technology Report, Surveillance Acquisition Report, and Surveillance 
Use Policy for Automatic License Plate Readers  (Continued from February 25, 2020. Item 
contains revised and supplemental materials) (Referred from the May 12, 2020 agenda.) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution accepting the Surveillance Technology Report, 
Surveillance Acquisition Report, and Surveillance Use Policy for Automatic License Plate 
Readers submitted pursuant to Chapter 2.99 of the Berkeley Municipal Code.  
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Andrew Greenwood, Police, (510) 981-5900; Dave White, City Manager's Office, 
(510) 981-7000 
Note: Referred to Agenda & Rules for future scheduling. 

3. Vote of No Confidence in the Police Chief 
From: Councilmember Davila (Author) 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution taking a Vote of No Confidence in the Police Chief.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Cheryl Davila, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 
Note: Item referred to the Agenda & Rules Committee as unfinished business from the 
9/15/2020 meeting pursuant to the Rules of Procedure.  Deadline to appear on a Council 
meeting agenda: 11/14/20. 

4. 22. Support Community Refrigerators (Continued from September 22, 2020) 
From: Councilmember Davila (Author) 
Recommendation:  
1. Adopt a Resolution to create an allocation of the homeless budget towards the purchasing 
of community refrigerators to be distributed in Council districts to provide access to food for 
those who have no refrigeration or may be food insecure.  
2. Allocate $8,000 of the budget for the purchasing of the refrigerators.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Cheryl Davila, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120 
Note: Item referred to the Agenda & Rules Committee as unfinished business from the 
10/13/2020 meeting pursuant to the Rules of Procedure.  Deadline to appear on a Council 
meeting agenda: 12/12/20. 

 

100

arichardson
Typewritten Text
06



Address Board/
Commission

Appeal Period 
Ends 

 Determination 
on Appeal 
Submitted

Public
Hearing

NOD – Notices of Decision
1510 Walnut St, Units A-F (establish pet store use) ZAB 10/30/2020
1920 Vine St (modify dwelling unit and replace accessory building) ZAB 10/30/2020
2221 Carleton St (single-family dwelling) ZAB 10/30/2020
2795 San Pablo Ave (construct mixed-use development) ZAB 11/3/2020
2724 Mabel St (single-family dwelling) ZAB 11/3/2020

Public Hearings Scheduled
0 (2435) San Pablo Ave (construct mixed-use building) ZAB 1/21/2021
1915 Berryman St (Payson House) LPC TBD
1850 Arch St (add bedrooms to multi-family residential building) ZAB TBD
1862 Arch St (add bedrooms to multi-family residential building) ZAB TBD

Remanded to ZAB or LPC

Notes

10/20/2020

CITY CLERK DEPARTMENT
WORKING CALENDAR FOR SCHEDULING LAND USE MATTERS

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL

101

arichardson
Typewritten Text
07



102



 
Office of the City Manager 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: manager@cityofberkeley.info  Website: http://www.cityofberkeley.info/manager 

October 22, 2020 
 
To: Berkeley Boards and Commissions 
 
From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager 
 
Subject: Commission Meetings During COVID-19 Emergency 
 
 
This memo serves to provide a summary and update of the status of meetings of Berkeley 
Boards and Commissions during the COVID-19 emergency declaration. 

On March 10, 2020, the City Council ratified the proclamation of the Director of Emergency 
Services for a state of local emergency related to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The emergency 
proclamation has been renewed twice by the Council and remains in effect. 

On March 17, 2020, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 69,331-N.S. which placed 
limitations of the meetings of City legislative bodies, including all boards and commissions.  
The resolution allows for commissions to meet to conduct time-sensitive, legally mandated 
business with the authorization of the City Manager.  Since that time, several commissions 
have obtained this approval and held meetings; many other commissions have not met at 
all since March. 

The City Manager has periodically reviewed the status of commission meetings with the 
City Council Agenda & Rules Committee.  Recently, at the October 12, 2020, Agenda & 
Rules Committee meeting, the City Manager presented a proposal to allow all commissions 
to meet under limited circumstances.  The Committee voted to endorse the City Manager’s 
recommendation. 

Effective October 12, 2020, all City boards and commissions may meet once to develop and 
finalize their work plan for 2021 and to complete any Council referrals directly related to the 
COVID-19 pandemic response.  A second meeting may be held to complete this work with 
specific authorization by the City Manager.  It is recommended that the meeting(s) occur by 
the end of February 2021. 

Commissions that have been granted permission to meet under Resolution No. 69,331-N.S. 
may continue to meet pursuant to their existing authorization, and may also meet to develop 
their 2021 work plan. 

Commissions that have not requested meetings pursuant to the Resolution No. 69,331-N.S. 
may meet pursuant to the limitations listed above. 

103

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
08



Page 2 
October 22, 2020 
Re:  Commission Meetings During COVID-19 Emergency 
 
 
To assist commissions with the development of their work plan and to provide the City 
Council with a consistent framework to review the work plans, the City Manager has 
developed the following items to consider in developing the work plan that is submitted to 
the City Council agenda. 

Prompts for Commissions to use in work plan: 

 What commission items for 2021 have a direct nexus with the COVID-19 response 
or are the result of a City Council referral pertaining to COVID-19? 

 What commission items for 2021 are required for statutory reasons? 

 What commission items for 2021 are required for budgetary or fund allocation 
reasons? 

 What commission items for 2021 support council-adopted or voter-adopted mission 
critical projects or programs? 

 What are the anticipated staff demands (above and beyond baseline) for analysis, 
data, etc., to support commission work in 2021 (baseline duties = posting agendas, 
creating packets, attend meetings, minutes, etc.)?  

The limitations on commission meetings are due to the need to direct staff resources and 
the resources of city legislative bodies to the pandemic response.  Many of the staff 
assigned as commission secretaries are engaged in work with the City Emergency 
Operations Center or have been assigned new specific duties related to the impacts of the 
pandemic. 
 
Meeting frequency for boards and commissions will continue to be evaluated on a regular 
basis by the City Manager in consultation with Department Heads and the City Council.  
More frequent meetings by commissions will be permitted as the conditions under COVID-
19 dictate. 
 
Thank you for your service on our boards and commissions.  The City values the work of 
our commissions and we appreciate your partnership and understanding as we address this 
pandemic as a resilient and vibrant community. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution 69,331-N.S. 
2. List of Commissions with Meeting Data 

 
 
cc: Mayor and City Councilmembers 

Senior Leadership Team 

104



105



106



107



Boards and Commissions Meetings Held Under COVID 
Emergency (through 10/11)

Scheduled Meetings in 
October

Regular Mtg. 
Date Secretary Department

Zoning Adjustments Board 10 1 2nd & 4th Thur. Shannon Allen PLD
Police Review Commission 9 1 2nd & 4th Wed. Katherine Lee CM
Fair Campaign Practices Commission 8 1 3rd Thur. Sam Harvey CA
Design Review Committee 5 1 3rd Thur. Anne Burns PLD
Landmarks Preservation Commission 5 1 1st Thur. Fatema Crane PLD
Open Government Commission 5 1 3rd Thur. Sam Harvey CA
Homeless Services Panel of Experts 4 1 1st Wed Brittany Carnegie HHCS
Disaster and Fire Safety Commission 3 1 4th Wed. Keith May FES
Parks and Waterfront Commission 3 1 2nd Wed. Roger Miller PRW
Planning Commission 3 1st Wed. Alene Pearson PLD
Public Works Commission 3 1 1st Thur. Joe Enke PW
Civic Arts Commission 2 4th Wed. Jennifer Lovvorn OED
Solano Avenue BID Advisory Board 2 Contact Secretary Eleanor Hollander OED
Elmwood BID Advisory Board 1 Contact Secretary Kieron Slaughter OED
Joint Subcom. on Implementation of State Housing Laws 1 4th Wed. Alene Pearson PLD
Mental Health Commission 1 4th Thur. Jamie Works-Wright HHCS
Personnel Board 1 1st Mon. La Tanya Bellow HR
Transportation Commission 1 1 3rd Thur. Farid Javandel PW

Animal Care Commission 0 3rd Wed. Amelia Funghi CM
Cannabis Commission 0 1st Thur. PLD
Children, Youth, and Recreation Commission 0 4th Monday Stephanie Chu PRW
Commission on Aging 0 3rd Wed. Richard Castrillon HHCS
Commission on Disability 0 1st Wed. Dominika Bednarska PW
Commission on Labor 0 3rd Wed., alternate monthsNathan Dahl HHCS
Commission on the Status of Women 0 4th Wed. Shallon Allen CM
Community Environmental Advisory Commission 0 2nd Thur. Viviana Garcia PLD
Community Health Commission 0 4th Thur. Roberto Terrones HHCS
Energy Commission 0 4th Wed. Billi Romain PLD
Homeless Commission 0 2nd Wed. Brittany Carnegie HHCS
Housing Advisory Commission 0 1st Thur. Mike Uberti HHCS
Human Welfare & Community Action Commission 0 3rd Wed. Mary-Claire Katz HHCS
Loan Administration Board 0 Contact Secretary Kieron Slaughter OED
Measure O Bond Oversight Committee 0 3rd Monday Amy Davidson HHCS
Peace and Justice Commission 0 1st Mon. Nina Goldman CM
Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product Panel of Experts 0 3rd Thur. Dechen Tsering HHCS
Youth Commission 0 2nd Mon. Ginsi Bryant PRW
Zero Waste Commission 0 4th Mon. Heidi Obermeit PW

108



Lori Droste
Councilmember, District 8

ACTION CALENDAR 
June 30, 2020 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Councilmember Lori Droste (Author) and Councilmembers Rigel Robinson 
(Co-Sponsor) and Rashi Kesarwani (Co-Sponsor)

Subject: Commission Reorganization for Post-COVID19 Budget Recovery

RECOMMENDATION
1) Reorganize existing commissions with the goal of achieving 20 total 

commissions.

2) Reorganize existing commissions within various departments to ensure that no 
single department is responsible for more than five commissions. 

3) Reorganize commissions within the Public Works Department to ensure Public 
Works oversees no more than three commissions.

4) Refer to the City Manager and every policy committee to agendize at the next 
meeting available to discuss commissions that are in their purview and make 
recommendations to the full Council on how to reorganize and address the 
various policy areas. Commission members should be notified and chairs should 
be invited to participate. Policy committee members are encouraged to consider 
the renaming of some commissions in order to ensure that all policy areas are 
addressed. 

Page 1 of 14

109

RThomsen
Typewritten Text
09



PROBLEM/SUMMARY STATEMENT
Demand for city workers staffing commissions is larger than the City’s ability to supply it 
at an acceptable financial and public health cost. Thirty-seven commissions require 
valuable city staff time and funding that could be better spent providing essential 
services. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the City of Berkeley in a myriad of 
ways, resulting in enormous once-in-a-lifetime socioeconomic and public health 
impacts.  While the City Manager and department heads are addressing how to best 
prepare and protect our residents, particularly our most vulnerable, they are also 
required to oversee an inordinate amount of commissions for a medium-sized city at a 
significant cost.

The City of Berkeley faces many challenges, including the COVID-19 pandemic and its 
resultant budget and staffing impacts. Prior to the onset of COVID-19, the City Council 
and staff spent significant Council time on items originating with the City's advisory 
commissions. As the Shelter in Place is gradually lifted, critical city staff will resume 
staffing these 37 commissions. As a result, too much valuable staff time will continue to 
be spent on supporting an excessive amount of commissions in Berkeley rather than 
addressing the basic needs of the City.

BACKGROUND
Review of Existing Plans, Programs, Policies, and Laws
The City of Berkeley has approximately thirty-seven commissions overseen by city 
administration, most of which have at least nine members and who are appointed by 
individual councilmembers. These commissions were intended to be a forum for public 
participation beyond what is feasible at the City Council, so that issues that come before 
the City Council can be adequately vetted.

Some commissions are required by charter or mandated by voter approval or 
state/federal mandate. Those commissions are the following:

1. Board of Library Trustees (charter)
2. Business Improvement Districts (state mandate)
3. Civic Arts Commission (charter)
4. Community Environmental Advisory Commission (state/federal mandate--CUPA)
5. Fair Campaign Practices Commission/Open Government (ballot measure)
6. Homeless Services Panel of Experts (ballot measure)
7. Housing Advisory Commission (state/federal mandate)
8. Human Welfare and Community Action (state/federal mandate)
9. Measure O Bond Oversight Committee (ballot measure)
10.Mental Health Commission (state/federal mandate)
11.Personnel (charter)

Page 2 of 14

110



12.Police Review Commission (ballot measure)
13.Sugar-Sweetened Beverages (ballot measure)

Berkeley must have its own mental health commission because of its independent 
Mental Health Division. In order to receive services, the City needs to have to have an 
advisory board. Additionally, Berkeley’s Community Environmental Advisory 
Commission is a required commission in order to oversee Certified Unified Program 
Agency (CUPA) under California’s Environmental Protection Agency. Additionally, some 
commissions serve other purposes beyond policy advisories. The Children, Youth and 
Recreation Commission, Housing Advisory Commission, and the Human Welfare and 
Community Action Commission advise Council on community agency funding. 
However, some of the aforementioned quasi-judicial and state/federal mandated 
commissions do not need to stand independently and can be combined to meet 
mandated goals.

In comparison to neighboring jurisdictions of similar size, Berkeley has significantly 
more commissions. The median number of commissions for these cities is 12 and the 
average is 15. 

Comparable 
Bay Area 
City

Populatio
n (est.)

Number of 
Commission
s Links

Berkeley 121,000 37
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Leve
l_3_-_Commissions/External%20Roster.pdf

Antioch 112,000 6
https://www.antiochca.gov/government/boards-
commissions/

Concord 130,000 14
https://www.cityofconcord.org/264/Applications-for-
Boards-Committees-Commi

Daly City 107,000 7
http://www.dalycity.org/City_Hall/Departments/city_clerk
/Commissions_Information/boards.htm

Fairfield 117,000 7 https://www.fairfield.ca.gov/gov/comms/default.asp

Fremont 238,000 15
https://www.fremont.gov/76/Boards-Commissions-
Committees

Hayward 160,000 12
https://www.hayward-ca.gov/your-government/boards-
commissions

Richmond 110,000 29
https://www.ci.richmond.ca.us/256/Boards-and-
Commissions

San Mateo 105,000 7 https://www.cityofsanmateo.org/60/Commissions-Boards

Page 3 of 14

111

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_Commissions/External%20Roster.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_Commissions/External%20Roster.pdf
https://www.antiochca.gov/government/boards-commissions/
https://www.antiochca.gov/government/boards-commissions/
https://www.cityofconcord.org/264/Applications-for-Boards-Committees-Commi
https://www.cityofconcord.org/264/Applications-for-Boards-Committees-Commi
http://www.dalycity.org/City_Hall/Departments/city_clerk/Commissions_Information/boards.htm
http://www.dalycity.org/City_Hall/Departments/city_clerk/Commissions_Information/boards.htm
https://www.fairfield.ca.gov/gov/comms/default.asp
https://www.fremont.gov/76/Boards-Commissions-Committees
https://www.fremont.gov/76/Boards-Commissions-Committees
https://www.hayward-ca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions
https://www.hayward-ca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions
https://www.ci.richmond.ca.us/256/Boards-and-Commissions
https://www.ci.richmond.ca.us/256/Boards-and-Commissions
https://www.cityofsanmateo.org/60/Commissions-Boards


Sunnyvale 153,000 10
https://sunnyvale.ca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?
blobid=22804

Vallejo 122,000 17 http://www.ci.vallejo.ca.us/cms/one.aspx?pageId=22192

Consultation and Outreach
To understand the impact on various departments and staffing capacity, the following 
table shows which departments are responsible for overseeing various commissions. 

Commission Name

Overseeing Department 
(Total Commissions in 

Department)
Animal Care Commission City Manager (7)
Civic Arts Commission City Manager (7)
Commission on the Status of Women City Manager (7)
Elmwood BID Advisory Board City Manager (7)
Loan Administration Board City Manager (7)
Peace and Justice Commission City Manager (7)
Solano Ave BID Advisory Board City Manager (7)

Cannabis Commission Planning (8)
Community Environmental Advisory Commission Planning (8)
Design Review Committee Planning (8)
Energy Commission Planning (8)
Joint Subcommittee on the Implementation of State 
Housing Laws Planning (8)

Landmarks Preservation Commission Planning (8)
Planning Commission Planning (8)
Zoning Adjustments Board Planning (8)

Children, Youth, and Recreation Commission Parks (3)
Parks and Waterfront Commission Parks (3)
Youth Commission Parks (3)

Commission on Aging
Health, Housing, and 
Community Services 
(HHCS) (10)

Commission on Labor HHCS (10)
Community Health Commission HHCS (10)

Page 4 of 14

112

https://sunnyvale.ca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=22804
https://sunnyvale.ca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=22804
http://www.ci.vallejo.ca.us/cms/one.aspx?pageId=22192


Homeless Commission HHCS (10)
Homeless Services Panel of Experts HHCS(10)
Housing Advisory Commission HHCS (10)
Human Welfare & Community Action Commission HHCS (10)
Measure O Bond Oversight Committee HHCS (10)
Mental Health Commission HHCS (10)
Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product Panel of Experts HHCS (10)

Disaster and Fire Safety Commission Fire (1)

Commission on Disability Public Works (5)
Public Works Commission Public Works (5)
Traffic Circle Task Force Public Works (5)
Transportation Commission Public Works (5)
Zero Waste Commission Public Works (5)

Fair Campaign Practices Commission/Open 
Government Commission City Attorney (1)

Personnel Board Human Resources (1)

Police Review Commission Police (1)

Board of Library Trustees Library (1)
Gray=charter
Red=state/federal mandate
Yellow=quasi-judicial
Blue=ballot initiative
Orange=state/federal mandate and quasi-judicial
Green=quasi-judicial and ballot initiative

The departments that staff more than five commissions are Health, Housing, and 
Community Services (10 commissions), Planning (8 commissions), and the City 
Manager’s department (7 commissions). At the same time, some smaller departments 
(e.g. the City Attorney’s office) may be impacted just as meaningfully if they have fewer 
staff and larger individual commission workloads.

With the recent addition of policy committees, proposed legislation is now vetted by 
councilmembers in these forums. Each policy committee is focused on a particular 

Page 5 of 14

113



content area aligned with the City of Berkeley’s strategic plan and is staffed and an 
advisory policy body to certain city departments.  Members of the public are able to 
provide input at these committees as well.  The policy committees currently have the 
following department alignment:

Department and Policy Committee alignment
1. Agenda and Rules–all departments
2. Budget and Finance–City Manager, Clerk, Budget, and Finance
3. Land Use and Economic Development–Clerk, Planning, HHCS, City Attorney, 

and City Manager (OED)
4. Public Safety–Clerk, City Manager, Police, and Fire
5. Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment and Sustainability 

(Clerk, City Manager, Planning, Public Works, and Parks)
6. Health, Equity, Life Enrichment, and Community (Clerk, City Manager, 

HHCS) 

CRITERIA CONSIDERED
Effectiveness
How does this proposal maximize public interest? For this analysis, the effectiveness 
criterion includes analysis of the benefits to the entire community equitably with specific 
emphasis on public health, racial justice and safety.

Fiscal Impacts/Staffing Costs
What are the costs? The fiscal impact of the proposed recommendation and various 
alternatives considered includes direct costs of commissions.

Administrative Burden/Productivity Loss
What are the operational requirements or productivity gains or losses from this 
proposal?  
The administrative burden criterion guides the analysis in considering operational 
considerations and productivity gains and losses.  While operational considerations and 
tradeoffs are difficult to quantify in dollar amounts, productivity losses were considered 
in its absence. 

Environmental Sustainability
The environmental sustainability criterion guides legislation in order to avoid depletion 
or degradation of the natural resources and allow for long-term environmental quality.

Page 6 of 14

114



ALTERNATIVES
Alternative #1–The Current Situation
The current situation is the status quo. The City of Berkeley would retain all 
commissions and no changes would be made.

Alternative #2–Collaborative Approach with Quantity Parameters
This approach would specify a specific number (20) of commissions the City of Berkeley 
should manage and set parameters around individual department responsibilities. 
Furthermore, it requires a collaborative approach and outreach to address specific 
policy areas by referring it to the Council policy committees for further analysis and 
specific recommendations.

Alternative #3–Committee Alignment, Mandated and Quasi-Judicial Commissions
This alternative would consist of five commissions aligned directly with the policy 
committees in addition to quasi-judicial bodies and ones required by charter, ballot 
measure or law.

● Budget and Finance Commission
● Facilities, Infrastructure, Transportation, Environment and Sustainability 

Commission (state/federal mandate--CUPA)
● Health, Equity, and Life Enrichment
● Land Use and Economic Development
● Public Safety
● Board of Library Trustees (charter)
● Civic Arts Commission (charter)
● Community Environmental Advisory Commission (state/federal mandate--CUPA)
● Fair Campaign Practices Commission/Open Government (ballot measure)
● Homeless Services Panel of Experts (ballot measure)
● Housing Advisory Commission (state/federal mandate)
● Human Welfare and Community Action (state/federal mandate)
● Landmarks Commission (quasi-judicial)
● Measure O Bond Oversight Committee (ballot measure)
● Mental Health Commission (state/federal mandate)
● Planning (quasi-judicial)
● Personnel (charter)
● Police Review Commission (ballot measure)
● Sugar-Sweetened Beverages (ballot measure)
● Zoning Adjustments Board (quasi-judicial)

Page 7 of 14

115



Alternative #4: Extreme Consolidation
This alternative represents a prescriptive approach with maximum consolidation in 
content area and mandated commissions, absent charter amendments.

● Board of Library Trustees (charter)
● Business Improvement District (state/federal mandate)
● Civic Arts Commission (charter)
● Community Environmental Advisory Commission/Energy/Zero Waste 

(state/federal--CUPA)
● Fair Campaign Practices Commission/Open Government (ballot measure)
● Homeless Services Panel of Experts (ballot measure)
● Human Welfare and Community Action (state/federal mandate)
● Measure O Bond Oversight Committee (ballot measure)/Housing Advisory 

Commission (state/federal mandate)
● Mental Health Commission (state/federal mandate)
● Personnel (charter)
● Planning Commission (quasi-judicial and appeals)
● Board of Appeals (land use appeals)
● Police Review Commission (ballot measure)
● Health and Sugar-Sweetened Beverages (ballot measure)

PROJECTED OUTCOMES (CRITERIA X ALTERNATIVES)

Current 
Situation

Collaborative 
Approach

Policy 
Committee 
Alignment 

Extreme 
Consolidation

Benefit/
Effectiveness

medium high medium low

Cost high medium low low

Administrative 
Burden

high low low medium

Relative 
Environmental 
Benefit

low medium medium high

Current Situation and Its Effects (Alternative #1)
Effectiveness of the Current Situation
Commissions serve a vital role in the City of Berkeley’s rich process of resident 
engagement. An analysis of agendas over the past several years shows that the 

Page 8 of 14

116



commissions have created policy that have benefited the community in meaningful and 
important ways. In 2019, approximately two-thirds of commission items submitted to 
Council passed. From 2016-2019, an average of 39 items were submitted by 
commissions to Council for consideration. Every year roughly 15-18 (~40-45%) 
commissions do not submit any items for Council policy consideration in any given year. 
The reason for this varies. Some commissions don’t submit policy recommendations 
(BIDs) and some commissions recommendations may not rise to Council level at all or 
come to Council as a staff recommendation (e.g. ZAB and DRC). Additionally, a few 
commissions struggle to reach monthly quorum as there are currently 64 vacancies on 
the various commissions, excluding alternative commissioners. 

It is also important to consider equitable outcomes and the beneficiaries as well. For 
example, the City’s Health, Housing and Community Development department serves 
an important role in addressing COVID-19, racial disparities, inequitable health 
outcomes, affordable housing, and other important community programs. Additionally, 
Health, Housing, and Community Development also staffs ten commissions, more than 
many cities of Berkeley’s size. Council needs to wrestle with these tradeoffs to ensure 
that we seek the maximum benefit for all of the Berkeley community, particularly our 
most vulnerable.

Staffing Costs
Based upon preliminary calculations of staff titles and salary classifications, the average 
staff secretary makes roughly $60-$65/hour. Based upon recent interviews with 
secretaries and department heads, individual commission secretaries work anywhere 
from 8-80 hours a month staffing and preparing for commission meetings. To illustrate 
this example, a few examples are listed below.

Commission Step 5 
Rate of 
Pay

Reported 
Hours a 
Month

Total Direct Cost of 
Commission per Month

Animal Care $70.90 8 $567.20

Landmarks Preservation 
Commission 

$57.96 80 $4,636.80 

Design Review Commission $52.76 60 $3,165.60 

Peace and Justice $60.82 32 $1946.24

Page 9 of 14

117



It is extremely challenging to estimate a specific cost of commissions in the aggregate 
because of the varying workload but a safe estimate of salary costs dedicated to 
commissions would be in the six-figure range. 

Many commissions--particularly quasi-judicial and land use commissions– require more 
than one staff member to be present and prepare reports for commissions. For 
example, Zoning Adjustment Board meetings often last five hours or more and multiple 
staff members spend hours preparing for hearings. The Planning Department indicates 
that in addition to direct hours, additional commission-related staff time adds an extra 
33% staff time.  Using the previous examples, this means that the Landmarks 
Preservation Commission would cost the city over $6,000 in productivity while the 
Design Review Commission would cost the City over $4,000 a month.  

Productivity Losses and Administrative Burden
Current productivity losses are stark because of the sheer amount of hours of staffing 
time dedicated to commissions. As an example, in 2019 one of the City of Berkeley’s 
main homeless outreach workers staffed a commission within the City Manager’s 
department. She spent approximately 32 hours a month working directly on commission 
work. While this is not a commentary on a particular commission, this work directly 
impacted her ability to conduct homeless outreach. The Joint Subcommittee on the 
Interpretation of State Housing Laws is another example. Planners dedicate 50 hours a 
month to that commission. Meanwhile, this commission has limited ability in affecting 
state law and the City Attorney’s office is responsible for interpreting state law. While 
this commission does important work on other issues, there is little nexus in interpreting 
state housing laws and could be disbanded and consolidated with an existing 
commission. If this commission were disbanded, the current planner could dedicate 
significant hours to Council’s top priorities in Planning. This year’s top Council priority is 
the displacement of Berkeley’s residents of color and African Americans (Davila). 

Environmental Sustainability
The current commission structure doesn’t have a large impact on the environment but, 
in relative terms, is the most burdensome because of the potential vehicle miles 
travelled by hundreds of commissioners (VMT) and printing costs associated with a 
large number of commissions.

Page 10 of 14

118



ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

Effectiveness
Alternative #2–Collaborative approach
While the outcome is unknown, a collaborative approach with a specified target quantity 
of commissions and departmental responsibility would likely yield significant benefit to 
the community. Due to the projected budget cuts, city staff will need to have more 
bandwidth to deliver baseline services and priority projects. Civic engagement will still 
be retained due to a myriad of ways to provide public input but more importantly, current 
commissioners and civic partners are invited to provide feedback to the policy 
committees for consideration. Additionally, this approach is a less prescriptive approach 
which allows Council to acknowledge that the current number of commissions is 
unsustainable and impacts baseline services. Instead of recommending specific 
commission cuts at this moment, this approach simply allows Council to state an 
appropriate number of commissions (20) and acknowledge the severe staffing impacts 
of the current configuration. Furthermore, twenty commissions is a reasonable starting 
point, especially when considering that most area cities that are approximately 
Berkeley’s size have seven commissions.

Alternative 3--Policy Committee Alignment
This approach would yield some benefit in that commissions would reflect current policy 
committees and would directly advise those bodies. This is beneficial because 
commissions directly aligned with policy committees would be an independent civic 
replica of the appointed policy committee bodies.  It further retains mandated 
commissions. However, this prescriptive approach doesn’t allow for flexibility in retaining 
historically important commissions and it does not address the benefit of potentially 
consolidating two commissions that address the same policy content area. For instance, 
it may be possible to combine the sugar-sweetened beverage oversight panel with the 
Health, Life, and Equity commission or the CEAC with the Facilities, Infrastructure, 
Transportation, Environment and Sustainability.

Alternative 4–Extreme Consolidation–
This approach is the most drastic alternative and the overall effectiveness is likely low, 
mainly due to potential community backlash due to Berkeley’s long history of civic 
engagement. Furthermore, the Planning Commission would likely become 
overburdened and less effective because land use appeals would have to be routed 
through the Planning Commission.

Page 11 of 14

119



Costs/Fiscal Impact
Alternative 2–Collaborative Approach
The fiscal impact of the Collaborative Approach is unknown at this time because this 
recommendation does not prescribe specific commission consolidations or cuts. 
However, if commissions are reorganized such that Berkeley will have 20 instead of 38, 
there will be significant direct cost savings. One can reasonably assume that the direct 
financial cost could reduce to almost half the current amount.

Alternative 3--Policy Committee Alignment
The fiscal impact of Policy Committee Alignment would yield significant savings due to 
commission consolidation. One can reasonably assume that the direct financial cost 
could reduce to more than half the current amount.

Alternative 4–Extreme Consolidation
Extreme Consolidation would yield the most savings due to commission consolidation. 
One can reasonably assume that the direct financial cost would reduce to 25%-30% of 
the current amount spent on commission work.

Productivity
Alternative 2–Collaborative Approach
The most glaring impact on the current commission structure is administrative impacts 
and productivity. Whether City Council consolidates commissions or not, attributable 
salary costs will still exist. The primary benefit of pursuing the Collaborative Approach 
would center on productivity. The City of Berkeley is likely to garner significant 
productivity gains by specifying a target number of commissions overall and within 
departments. Using the Peace and Justice and Joint Subcommittee on the 
Interpretation of State Housing Laws examples above, more staff will be able to focus 
on core services and priority programs. Thousands of hours may be regained by 
dedicated staff to tackle the tough issues our community faces, especially in light of 
COVID-19 and concerns around racial equity.

Alternative 3–Policy Committee Alignment
This alternative likely will yield the same productivity benefits as the collaborative 
approach, if not more. The City of Berkeley would likely garner significant productivity 
gains by specifying less than twenty commissions. Thousands of hours may be 
regained by dedicated staff to tackle the tough issues our community faces, especially 
in light of COVID-19 and concerns around racial equity.

Page 12 of 14

120



Alternative 4–Extreme Consolidation
This alternative would likely provide the most productivity gains and lessen 
administrative burdens overall. However, there could be unintended consequences of 
productivity within the planning department absent additional policy changes. For 
example, the quasi-judicial Zoning Adjustments Board and Planning Commission 
agendas are packed year round.  It is unclear whether eliminating one of these 
commissions would lessen the administrative burden and increase productivity in the 
Planning Department or whether those responsibilities would merely shift commissions. 
At the same time, the Planning Department could benefit from reducing commissions to 
increase productivity within the planning department.  

Environmental Sustainability
Alternative 2–Collaborative approach
This alternative doesn’t have a large impact on the environment other than potential 
vehicle miles travelled by hundreds of commissioners (VMT) and printing costs. 
However, these environmental impacts could be cut in half with commission 
reorganization.

Alternative 3--Policy Committee Alignment
This alternative doesn’t have a large impact on the environment other than potential 
vehicle miles travelled by hundreds of commissioners (VMT) and printing costs. 
However, these environmental impacts could be cut in half with commission 
reorganization.

Alternative 4–Extreme Consolidation
This alternative would have negligible impacts on the environment other than potential 
vehicle miles travelled by hundreds of commissioners (VMT) and printing costs. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 
The Collaborative Approach is the best path forward in order to pursue Berkeley’s 
commitment to 

● Create affordable housing and housing support services for our most vulnerable 
community members

● Be a global leader in addressing climate change, advancing environmental 
justice, and protecting the environment

● Champion and demonstrate social and racial equity
● Provide an efficient and financially-healthy City government
● Provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities
● Foster a dynamic, sustainable, and locally-based economy
● Create a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared City

Page 13 of 14

121



● Be a customer-focused organization that provides excellent, timely, easily-
accessible service and information to the community

● Attract and retain a talented and diverse City government workforce

The status quo–37 commissions– is too costly and unproductive. At the same time, civic 
engagement and commission work absolutely deserve an important role in Berkeley. 
Consequently, this legislation retains commissions but centers on overall community 
benefit, staff productivity, and associated costs. This is imperative to address, especially 
in light of COVID-19 and community demands for reinvestment in important social 
services.

Page 14 of 14

122



 
[First Last name] 
Councilmember District [District No.] 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704    Tel: 510.981.XXXX    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.XXXX 
E-Mail: xxxxx@CityofBerkeley.info 

 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL REVISED  
AGENDA MATERIAL 

for Supplemental Packet 2 
 
 
Meeting Date:   February 4, 2020 
 
Item Number:   2 
 
Item Description:   Statement on Item 2 - Amendments to the Berkeley Election  

Reform Act to prohibit Officeholder Accounts; Amending BMC  
Chapter 2.12 

 
Submitted by:  Councilmember Hahn 
 
This item seeks to outlaw Officeholder Accounts in Berkeley. I would like to offer an 
alternative: to allow Officeholder Accounts but establish regulations to limit them in ways that 
reflect Berkeley’s limitations on campaign donations and consider narrowing the uses for 
which Officeholder Account funds can be used.   
 
The action I advocate for Council to take is to refer a discussion of Officeholder accounts to 
the Agenda and Rules Committee, to consider a reasonable set of limitations and rules for 
such accounts and bring back recommendations to the full Council, for the Council to 
consider referring to the Fair Campaign Practices Committee. 
 
 

 

Page 1 of 72

123

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
10



 
ACTION CALENDAR 

February 4, 2020 
 
To:  Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:  Vice Mayor Sophie Hahn  
Subject: Statement on Item 2 - Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act to 

prohibit Officeholder Accounts; Amending BMC Chapter 2.12 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
This item seeks to outlaw Officeholder Accounts in Berkeley. I would like to offer an alternative: 
to allow Officeholder Accounts but establish regulations to limit them in ways that reflect 
Berkeley’s limitations on campaign donations and consider narrowing the uses for which 
Officeholder Account funds can be used.   
 
The action I advocate for Council to take is to refer a discussion of Officeholder accounts to the 
Agenda and Rules Committee, to consider a reasonable set of limitations and rules for such 
accounts and bring back recommendations to the full Council, for the Council to consider 
referring to the Fair Campaign Practices Committee. 
 
Officeholder accounts are accounts an elected official can open, and raise funds for, to pay for 
expenses related to the office they hold.1 They are not campaign accounts, and cannot be used 
for campaign purposes. The types of expenses Officeholder Accounts can be used for include 
research, conferences, events attended in the performance of government duties, printed 
newsletters, office supplies, travel related to official duties, etc. Cities can place limits on 
Officeholder Accounts, as Oakland has done.2 Officeholder Accounts must be registered as 
official “Committees” and adhere to strict public reporting requirements, like campaign 
accounts. They provide full transparency to the public about sources and uses of funds. 
 
The FCPC bases its recommendation to prohibit Officeholder Accounts on arguments about 
“equity” and potential “corruption” in elections. The report refers repeatedly to “challengers” and 
“incumbents,” suggesting that Officeholder Accounts are vehicles for unfairness in the election 
context. 
 
I believe that the FCPC’s recommendations reflect a misunderstanding of the purpose and uses 
of Officeholder Accounts, equating them with campaign accounts and suggesting that they 
create an imbalance between community members who apparently have already decided to run 
against an incumbent (so-called “challengers”) and elected officials who are presumed to be 

                                                
1 http://www.fppc.ca.gov/content/dam/fppc/NS-
Documents/LegalDiv/Regulations/Index/Chapter5/18531.62.pdf 
2 http://www2.oaklandnet.com/w/OAK052051  

Page 2 of 72

124

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/content/dam/fppc/NS-Documents/LegalDiv/Regulations/Index/Chapter5/18531.62.pdf
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/content/dam/fppc/NS-Documents/LegalDiv/Regulations/Index/Chapter5/18531.62.pdf
http://www2.oaklandnet.com/w/OAK052051


always running for office. The recommendations do not take into account some important 
framing: the question of what funds are otherwise available to pay for Officeholder-type 
expenses for Officeholders or members of the public. Contrary to the conclusions of the FCPC, I 
believe Officeholder accounts are an important vehicle to redress a significant disadvantage for 
elected officials, whose ability to exercise free speech in the community and participate in 
conferences and events related to their profession is constrained by virtue of holding public 
office, as compared to community members, whose speech rights are unrestricted in any 
manner whatsoever, and who can raise money to use for whatever purposes they desire. 
 
Outlawing Officeholder Accounts is also posited as a means to create equity between more and 
less wealthy Officeholders, on the theory that less affluent Officeholders will have less access to 
fundraising for Officeholder Accounts than more affluent Officeholders.  Because there are no 
prohibition on using personal funds for many of the purposes for which Officeholder Account 
funds can be used, prohibiting Officeholder Accounts I believe has the opposite effect; it leaves 
more affluent Officeholders with the ability to pay for Officeholder expenses from personal 
funds, without providing an avenue for less affluent Officeholders, who may not have available 
personal funds, to raise money from their supporters to pay for such Officeholder expenses. 
 
The question of whether Officeholder Accounts should be allowed in Berkeley plays out in the 
context of a number of rules and realities that are important to framing any analysis.   
 
First, by State Law, elected officials are prohibited from using public funds for a variety of 
communications that many constituents nevertheless expect. For example, an elected official 
may not use public funds to send a mailing announcing municipal information to constituents, 
“such as a newsletter or brochure, […] delivered, by any means […] to a person’s residence, 
place of employment or business, or post office box.”3 Nor may an elected official mail an item 
using public funds that features a reference to the elected official affiliated with their public 
position.4  Note that Electronic newsletters are not covered by these rules, and can and do 
include all of these features, even if the newsletter service is paid for by the public entity. That 
said, while technically not required, many elected officials prefer to use email newsletter 
distribution services (Constant Contact, MailChimp, Nationbuilder, etc.) paid for with personal 
(or “Officeholder”) funds, to operate in the spirit of the original rules against using public funds 
for communications that include a photo of, or references to, the elected official.   
 
Without the ability to raise funds for an Officeholder Account, for an elected official to send a 
paper newsletter to constituents or to use an email newsletter service that is not paid for with 
public funds, they must use personal funds. A printed newsletter mailed to 5-6,000 households 
(a typical number of households in a Berkeley City Council District) can easily cost $5,000+, and 
an electronic mail service subscription typically costs $10 (for the most basic service) to $45 per 
month, a cost of $120.00 to over $500 per year - in personal funds.   

                                                
3 http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-
funds/campaign-related-communications.html 
4 http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-
funds/campaign-related-communications.html 

Page 3 of 72

125

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-funds/campaign-related-communications.html
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-funds/campaign-related-communications.html
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-funds/campaign-related-communications.html
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/public-officials-and-employees-rules-/communications-sent-using-public-funds/campaign-related-communications.html


 
Second, Berkeley City Councilmembers and the Mayor of Berkeley are not paid enough for 
there to be any reasonable expectation that personal funds should be used for these types of 
expenses.5  For many Councilmembers and/or the Mayor, work hours are full time - or more - 
and there is no other source of income.  
  
Finally, and most importantly, local elected officials are restricted from accepting money or gifts. 
An elected official cannot under any circumstances raise money to pay for Officeholder 
expenses such as printed communications, email newsletter services, travel and admission to 
industry conferences for which the elected official is not an official delegate (e.g., conferences 
on City Planning, Green Cities, Municipal Finance, etc.), and other expenses related to holding 
office that are not covered by public funds. Again, without the possibility of an Officeholder 
Account, an elected official generally must use personal funds for these expenses, allowing 
more affluent elected officials to participate while placing a hardship or in some cases a 
prohibition on the ability of less affluent elected officials to undertake these Officeholder-type 
activities - which support expected communications with constituents and participation in 
industry activities that improve the elected official’s effectiveness.   
 
The elected official’s inability to raise funds from others must be contrasted with the ability of a 
community member - a potential “challenger” who has not yet declared themselves to be an 
actual candidate - or perhaps a neighborhood association, business or corporation (Chevron, for 
example) - to engage in similar activities. Nothing restricts any community member or 
organization from using their own funds - or funds obtained from anyone - a wealthy friend, a 
corporation, a local business, a community organization or their neighbors - for any purpose 
whatsoever.   
 
Someone who doesn’t like the job an elected official is doing could raise money from family or 
connections anywhere in the community - or the world - and mail a letter to every person in the 
District or City criticizing the elected official, or buy up every billboard or banner ad on Facebook 
or Berkeleyside to broadcast their point of view.  By contrast, the elected official, without access 
to an Officeholder Account, could only use personal funds to “speak” with their own printed 
letter, billboard or advertisement. Community members (including future “challengers”) can also 
attend any and all conferences they want, engage in travel to visit interesting cities and projects 
that might inform their thoughts on how a city should be run, and pay for those things with 
money raised from friends, colleagues, businesses, corporations, foreign governments - 
anyone. They are private citizens with full first amendment rights and have no limitations, no 
reporting requirements, no requirements of transparency or accountability whatsoever. 
 
The imbalance is significant. Outside of the campaign setting, where all declared candidates 
can raise funds and must abide by the same rules of spending and communications, elected 
officials cannot raise money for any expenses whatsoever, from any source, while community 

                                                
5 Councilmembers receive annual compensation of approximately $36,000, while the Mayor receives 
annual compensation of approximately $55,000.5   

Page 4 of 72

126



members, including organizations and private companies, can raise as much money as they 
want from any sources, and use that money for anything they choose.   
 
Without the ability to establish and fund an Officeholder Account, the only option an elected 
official has is to use personal funds, which exacerbates the potential imbalance between elected 
officials with more and less personal funds to spend.  Elected officials work within a highly 
regulated system, which can limit their ability to “speak” and engage in other activities members 
of the public are able to undertake without restriction. Officeholder Accounts restore some 
flexibility by allowing elected officials to raise money for expenses related to holding office, so 
long as the sources and uses of those funds is made transparent.   
 
By allowing Officeholder Accounts and regulating them, Berkeley can place limits on amounts 
that can be raised, and on the individuals/entities from whom funds can be accepted, similar (or 
identical) to the limits Berkeley places on sources of campaign funds. Similarly, Berkeley can 
restrict uses of funds beyond the State’s restrictions, to ensure funds are not used for things like 
family members’ travel, as is currently allowed by the State. Oakland has taken this approach, 
and has a set of Officeholder Account regulations that provide a good starting point for Berkeley 
to consider.6      
 
I respectfully ask for a vote to send the question of potential allowance for, and regulation of, 
Officeholder Accounts to the Agenda and Rules Committee for further consideration. 
 
CONTACT: Sophie Hahn, District 5: (510) 981-7150 
 

                                                
6 http://www2.oaklandnet.com/w/OAK052051 

Page 5 of 72

127



 
Fair Campaign Practices Commission 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-6998 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: sharvey@cityof berkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/ 

 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL  
AGENDA MATERIAL 

for Supplemental Packet 2  
 
 
Meeting Date:   February 4, 2020 
 
Item Number:   2 
 
Item Description:   Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act to prohibit 
Officeholder Accounts; Amending BMC Chapter 2.12 
 
Submitted by:  Samuel Harvey; Deputy City Attorney / Secretary, Fair 
Campaign Practices Commission 
 
Attachment 4 to the report (“Memorandum signed by City Attorney Manuela 
Albuquerque”) included an attachment which was erroneously omitted from the 
Council item.  Attached is Attachment 4 (for context) along with the additional pages 
which should be included to appear as pages 16 -17 of the item.   
 
 

 

Page 6 of 72

128

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Page 14 of 16Page 7 of 72

129



Page 15 of 16Page 8 of 72

130



Page 9 of 72

131



Page 10 of 72

132



Page 11 of 72

133



Page 12 of 72

134



Page 13 of 72

135



Page 14 of 72

136



Page 15 of 72

137



Page 16 of 72

138



Page 17 of 72

139



Page 18 of 72

140



Page 19 of 72

141



Page 20 of 72

142



Page 21 of 72

143



Page 22 of 72

144



Page 23 of 72

145



Page 24 of 72

146



Page 25 of 72

147



Page 26 of 72

148



Page 27 of 72

149



Page 28 of 72

150



Page 29 of 72

151



Page 30 of 72

152



Page 31 of 72

153



Page 32 of 72

154



Page 33 of 72

155



Page 34 of 72

156



Page 35 of 72

157



Page 36 of 72

158



Page 37 of 72

159



Page 38 of 72

160



Page 39 of 72

161



Page 40 of 72

162



Page 41 of 72

163



Page 42 of 72

164



Page 43 of 72

165



Page 44 of 72

166



Page 45 of 72

167



Page 46 of 72

168



Page 47 of 72

169



Page 48 of 72

170



Page 49 of 72

171



Page 50 of 72

172



Page 51 of 72

173



Page 52 of 72

174



Page 53 of 72

175



Page 54 of 72

176



Page 55 of 72

177



Page 56 of 72

178



Fair Campaign Practices Commission
CONSENT CALENDAR
July 28, 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Fair Campaign Practices Commission

Submitted by: Dean Metzger, Chairperson, Fair Campaign Practices Commission

Subject: Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act to prohibit 
Officeholder Accounts; Amending BMC Chapter 2.12

RECOMMENDATION
Conduct a public hearing and upon conclusion, adopt first reading of an ordinance 
amending the Berkeley Election Reform Act, Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 2.12, 
to prohibit Officeholder Accounts (See Section 18531.62. Elected State Officeholder 
Bank Accounts, Regulations of the Fair Political Practices Commission).

POLICY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
On June 29, 2020, the Agenda and Rules Committee adopted the following action: 
M/S/C (Hahn/Wengraf) to make a Positive Recommendation to the City Council that the 
item be referred to the Agenda & Rules Committee to be considered with other related 
referrals from the Fair Campaign Practices Commission.  The item will be calendared for 
the Consent Calendar on the July 28, 2020 agenda. Vote: All Ayes.

SUMMARY
Contributions to and expenditures from Officeholder Accounts provide an unfair 
advantage to incumbents. They also increase the reliance on private campaign 
contributions and risk increasing the perception of corruption. Amending the Berkeley 
Election Reform Act to prohibit Officeholder Accounts will help to level the playing field 
in municipal elections, which was also a goal of the Fair Elections Act of 2016.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
None.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The proposed amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act (BERA) were adopted 
by the Fair Campaign Practices Commission (FCPC) at its regular meeting of 
November 21, 2019.

Action: M/S/C (Smith/Saver) to adopt the proposed amendments to BERA related to 
Officeholder Accounts.
Vote: Ayes: Metzger, Ching, Saver, Blome, McLean, Tsang, Smith; Noes: none; 
Abstain: none; Absent: O’Donnell (excused).

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 • Tel: (510) 981-7000 • TDD: (510) 981-6903 • Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Page 57 of 72

179

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act 
to prohibit Officeholder Accounts CONSENT CALENDAR

July 28, 2020

Page 2

Pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code Section 2.12.051, BERA may be amended by the 
“double green light” process. This process requires that the FCPC adopt the amendments 
by a two-thirds vote, and the City Council hold a public hearing and adopt the 
amendments by a two-thirds vote.

BACKGROUND
The Fair Campaign Practices Commission has supported creating the circumstances in 
which the incumbent and challengers during an election play on as level a playing field 
as possible and reducing the influence of private campaign contributions. For instance, 
the Berkeley Fair Elections Act of 2016, which was passed by voters and recommended 
to Council by the Commission, included the following express purposes:

• Eliminate the danger of actual corruption of Berkeley officials caused by 
the private financing of campaigns.

• Help reduce the influence of private campaign contributions on Berkeley 
government.

• Reduce the impact of wealth as a determinant of whether a person 
becomes a candidate.

(Section 2.12.490(B)-(D).)

A recent inquiry to the Commission Secretary regarding the regulation of Officeholder 
Accounts resulted in a request from a Commissioner to have discussion of these 
accounts placed on the May 16, 2019 agenda for possible action. The following motion 
was made and passed at that meeting:

Motion to request staff work with Commissioner Smith to bring to a future 
meeting background information and a proposal to eliminate officeholder 
accounts (M/S/C: O’Donnell/Blome; Ayes: Blome, Ching, McLean, Metzger, 
O’Donnell, Saver, Smith, Tsui; Noes: None; Abstain: None; Absent: Harper 
(excused)).

Definition of an Officeholder Account

Under state law, an “officeholder account” refers to the funds held in a single bank 
account at a financial institution in the State of California separate from any other bank 
account held by the officeholder and that are used for “paying expenses associated with 
holding public office.” Officeholder Account funds cannot be used to pay “campaign 
expenses.” This definition is drawn from state law applicable to statewide elected 
officials: Government Code section 85316 (Attachment 2), and the accompanying 
regulation by the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) codified at Title 2, Division 
6, of the California Code of Regulations, Section 18531.62 (Attachment 3).

Contributions to or expenditures from an Officeholder Account are not subject to 
BERA’s reporting requirements.  (The FPPC still requires the reporting of activity 
relating to Officeholder Accounts, which is available to view on Berkeley’s Public Access 
Portal.)  If, however, a complaint is filed that an Officeholder Account is used for

Page 58 of 72

180



Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act 
to prohibit Officeholder Accounts CONSENT CALENDAR

July 28, 2020

Page 3

campaign contributions or to pay “campaign expenses,” BERA can be used to respond 
to the complaint. The legal arguments for these statements are contained in a 
memorandum signed by City Attorney Manuela Albuquerque to Aide to Mayor Shirley 
Dean, Barbara Gilbert, dated December 28, 1999 and a December 9, 1991 
memorandum by Secretary and Staff Counsel to the FCPC, Sarah Reynoso, that is 
attached to the December 28, 1999 memo. (Attachment 4.) Because the BERA 
provisions relied on in these memoranda have not been amended, and because no 
other BERA provisions have been added to regulate officeholder accounts, the 
memoranda’s conclusions remain valid and are still controlling guidance.

Contributions to Officeholder Accounts

Funds raised for Officeholder Accounts in Berkeley are not subject to any limitations, 
either from the FPPC or BERA. Neither is there a limit on the total amount the 
Officeholder Account fund may receive in contributions per year. Contributions to an 
elected official’s Officeholder Account may put that contributor in a more favorable light 
with the elected official than might otherwise be the case.

Expenditures from Officeholder Accounts

Except for the restriction that Officeholder Account funds cannot be used for “campaign 
expenses,” BERA does not restrict how funds from Officeholder Accounts can be used.

There are a number of permissible expenditures from Officeholder Accounts that could 
put an elected official in a favorable light with voters that are not available to a 
challenger for that office.  A donation to a nonprofit organization, although technically 
not a “campaign expense,” would be seen favorably by those receiving the funds as well 
as individuals favorably disposed to the nonprofit organization receiving the funds. An 
individual running against this incumbent would have to draw on their own resources to 
make contributions to nonprofit organizations.

As long as political campaigns are not included, newsletters mailed to constituents 
related to events, information, or an officeholder’s position on matters before the 
Council are a permissible Officeholder Account expenditure. This keeps the 
incumbent’s name in front of the voter in a way unavailable to a challenger unless they 
pay for a newsletter and its distribution from their own resources.

Expenditures from Officeholder Account funds for flowers and other expressions of 
condolences, congratulations, or appreciation, while technically not “campaign 
expenses,” also increase the probability that the recipient will be favorably predisposed 
toward the elected official as a candidate for reelection or election to another office.
Again, a challenger would have to draw on their own resources to express condolences, 
congratulations, or appreciation to their potential supporters.

Page 59 of 72

181



Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act 
to prohibit Officeholder Accounts CONSENT CALENDAR

July 28, 2020

Page 4

Further, officeholder accounts can be used to pay for a broad range of office expenses, 
such as meals, travel, parking tickets, or contributions to other candidates or political 
parties.1  Eliminating officeholder accounts would reduce reliance on and the influence 
of private contributions for these expenditures.

Recommendation

To make elections more equitable between challengers and incumbent and for the 
reasons given above, the Fair Campaign Practices Commission recommends 
prohibiting Officeholder Accounts.

Berkeley will not be the first to prohibit Officeholder Accounts. The San Jose Municipal 
Code was amended to prohibit officeholder accounts in January 2008.  (Chapter 12.06
– ELECTIONS, San Jose, CA Code of Ordinances, p. 10)

Part 8 - OFFICEHOLDER ACCOUNTS
12.06.810 - Officeholder account prohibited.

No city officeholder, or any person or committee on behalf of a city 
officeholder may establish an officeholder account or an account established 
under the Political Reform Act, California Government Code Section 8100 et seq. 
as amended, for the solicitation or expenditure of officeholder funds. Nothing in 
this section shall prohibit an officeholder from spending personal funds on official 
or related business activities.

The following additions to BERA are proposed:

2.12.157 Officeholder Account

“Officeholder Account” means any bank account maintained by an elected officer or by 
any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, and whose funds are used for 
expenses associated with holding office and not for direct campaign purposes.

2.12.441 Officeholder account prohibited

A. No elected officer, or any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, 
may establish an officeholder account.

B. No elected officer, or any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, 
may use contributions, as defined in 2.12.100, for expenses associated with 
holding office.

1 Under state law applicable to state elected officials, officeholders may use campaign contributions for 
“expenses that are associated with holding office.” (Govt. Code, § 89510.) To qualify, expenditures must 
be “reasonably related to a legislative or governmental purpose.” (Id., § 89512.) “Expenditures which 
confer a substantial personal benefit shall be directly related to a political, legislative, or governmental 
purpose.” (Ibid.)

Page 60 of 72

182



Amendments to the Berkeley Election Reform Act 
to prohibit Officeholder Accounts PUBLIC HEARING

January 21, 2020

C. Anyone holding an active Officeholder Account on the date this change to 
BERA is adopted on a second reading by the City Council has one year from 
that date to terminate their Officeholder Account, in accordance with FPPC 
guidelines.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no identified environmental effects related to the recommendation in this 
report.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
This proposed change to BERA will help to level the playing field between challengers 
and the incumbent running for elective office.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
A Subcommittee was formed to consider the options of (1) amending the Berkeley 
Elections Reform Act, BMC Chapter 2.12, to prohibit Officeholder Accounts, (2) 
amending BERA to mitigate possible advantages incumbents with an Officeholder 
Accounts have over challengers, or (3) doing nothing with regard to Officeholder 
Accounts. The four members of the Subcommittee recommended unanimously to the 
full Commission to amend the Berkeley Elections Reform Act, BMC Chapter 2.12, to 
prohibit Officeholder Accounts.

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager takes no position on the content and recommendations of this report.

CONTACT PERSON
Dean Metzger, Chair, Fair Campaign Practices Commission. 981-6998

Attachments:
1: Proposed Ordinance
2: Government Code section 85316
3: Section 18531.62 (Elected State Officeholder Bank Accounts), Regulations of the 
Fair Political Practices Commission, Title 2, Division 6, California Code of Regulations 
4: Memorandum signed by City Attorney Manuela Albuquerque to Aide to Mayor 
Shirley Dean, Barbara Gilbert (including attached memorandum signed by Secretary 
and Staff Counsel to the FCPC, Sarah Reynoso, to the FCPC)

Page 5

Page 61 of 72

183



ORDINANCE NO. ##,###-N.S.

OFFICEHOLDER ACCOUNT PROHIBITED; AMENDING BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE 
CHAPTER 2.12

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  That Berkeley Municipal Code section 2.12.157 is added to read as follows:

BMC 2.12.157 Officeholder account

“Officeholder Account” means any bank account maintained by an elected officer or by 
any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, and whose funds are used for 
expenses associated with holding office and not for direct campaign purposes.

Section 2.  That Berkeley Municipal Code section 2.12.441 is added to read as follows:

BMC 2.12.441 Officeholder account prohibited

A. No elected officer, or any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, 
may establish an officeholder account.

B. No elected officer, or any person or committee on behalf of an elected officer, 
may use contributions, as defined in 2.12.100, for expenses associated with 
holding office.

C. This provision does not affect a candidate’s ability to establish a legal defense 
fund or the requirements for such a fund, as set forth in the Political Reform 
Act or by regulation.

D. Any active Officeholder Account on the date this change to BERA is adopted 
on a second reading by the City Council has one year from that date to 
terminate their Officeholder Account.

Section 3. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation

Page 62 of 72

184



10/8/2019 Law section

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=85316. 1/1

Code: Select Code Section: Search

TITLE 9. POLITICAL REFORM [81000 - 91014]  ( Title 9 added June 4, 1974, by initiative Proposition 9. )
CHAPTER 5. Limitations on Contributions [85100 - 85802]  ( Chapter 5 added June 7, 1988, by initiative Proposition 73. )

85316.  

Highlight
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV

 

ARTICLE 3. Contribution Limitations [85300 - 85321]  ( Article 3 added June 7, 1988, by initiative Proposition 73. )

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Page 63 of 72

185



Page 64 of 72

186



Page 65 of 72

187



Page 66 of 72

188



Page 67 of 72

189



Page 68 of 72

190



Page 69 of 72

191



Page 70 of 72

192



Page 71 of 72

193



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL

AMENDMENTS TO THE BERKELEY ELECTION REFORM ACT

The Fair Campaign Practices Commission is proposing amendments to the Berkeley 
Election Reform Act related to the prohibition of officeholder accounts.

The hearing will be held on, February 4, 2020, at 4:00 p.m. in the School District Board 
Room, 1231 Addison Street.

A copy of the agenda material for this hearing will be available on the City’s website at 
www.CityofBerkeley.info as of January 30, 2020.

For further information, please contact Samuel Harvey, Commission Secretary at 981- 
6998.

Written comments should be mailed or delivered directly to the City Clerk, 2180 Milvia 
Street, Berkeley, CA 94704, in order to ensure delivery to all Councilmembers and 
inclusion in the agenda packet.

Communications to the Berkeley City Council are public record and will become part of 
the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please 
note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to the City Council, will become 
part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact 
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
or in person to the City Clerk.  If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please 
contact the City Clerk at 981-6900 or clerk@cityofberkeley.info for further information.

Published: January 24, 2020 – The Berkeley Voice
Pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code Section 2.12.051

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
I hereby certify that the Notice for this Public Hearing of the Berkeley City Council was 
posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek 
Building, 2134 Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on 
January 30, 2020.

Mark Numainville, City Clerk

Page 72 of 72

194

http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/
mailto:clerk@cityofberkeley.info


Open Government Commission
ACTION CALENDAR
September 15, 2020

To:      Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From:      Open Government Commission

Submitted by:     Brad Smith, Chair, Open Government Commission 

Subject:              Relinquishments and grants from Councilmembers’ office budgets

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution creating a temporary advisory committee consisting of three (3) 
members each of the City Council and the Open Government Commission (“OGC”) to 
enable discussion between the Council and the OGC to make recommendations 
governing relinquishments and grants from Councilmembers’ office budgets.  

FISCAL IMPACT OF RECOMMENDATION
None.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

The issue of D-13 accounts (Council Budget Funds) being used for purposes other than 
office expenses has been raised at the OGC.  While commission members agree that it 
is admirable to donate to organizations that serve the City, some members feel the 
practice of using office budget funds for this purpose and attaching individual 
Councilmembers’ names to the donation may provide unfair advantage to an 
incumbent.

The two main concerns identified by some commissioners with the current practice are:

1. Councilmembers are able to initiate grants to organizations, at their discretion, 
which may raise their public profile.

2. Attaching the name of a Councilmember to a grant from the City of Berkeley may 
confer an advantage for the incumbent over would-be challengers.

The current practice was established in the early 2000's because councilmembers were 
granting public money to individuals and organizations, without approval of the Council. 

Page 1 of 4

195

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
11



This led to a concern about the potential for corruption and favoritism. The City Attorney 
established the existing system, though because the councilmembers’ names are 
attached to the grants, some concern remains.

From recent discussion at OGC, commissioners are in general agreement that ending 
the practice of attaching the name of a councilmember to a grant will help to alleviate 
the main concerns: 1 & 2 above.  At the OGC’s April 23, 2020 meeting, commissioners 
unanimously approved forwarding a recommendation to Council to not include the name 
of an individual councilmember attached to a discretionary grant.

A review of the grants and relinquishment of funds from city council members for 2019 
amounts to $30,130. These are funds that could have been used for office, travel (on 
city business) and other expenses.

Commission members have discussed recommending to Council for consideration 
options to address the issue:

1. An amendment requiring that all disbursements from the General Fund be 
designated as coming from the Council as a whole, without individual names 
attached to the donations.

2. Create another account specifically for discretionary grants, without reducing the 
D-13 account budget, to allow Councilmembers to continue recommending a 
grant or donation to a particular organization, without an individual name 
attached to the donation.

3. Eliminate discretionary grants. 

BACKGROUND
On May 21, 2020, the OGC directed four of its members to draft a proposed 
recommendation to Council related to relinquishment of Councilmembers’ office budget 
funds.

On June 18, 2020, the OGC voted to present this recommendation to Council.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Not applicable.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
An advisory committee will enable collaborative discussion between the Council and the 
OGC to make recommendations governing relinquishments and grants from 
Councilmembers’ office budgets.  

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The OGC has discussed recommending removal of councilmember names from office 
budget relinquishments, banning relinquishments for grants to organizations, and 

Page 2 of 4

196



creating and funding a separate account for donations to organizations that Council 
would control, but which would not have councilmember names attached to it.

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager takes no position on the content and recommendations of the 
Commission’s Report.

CONTACT PERSON
Brad Smith, Chair, Open Government Commission

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Page 3 of 4

197



RESOLUTION NO.  –N.S.

RESOLUTION CREATING A TEMPORARY JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE TO 
REVIEW COUNCIL OFFICE BUDGET RELINQUISHMENTS AND GRANTS

WHEREAS, pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code § 2.06.190.A.2, the Open 
Government Commission (“OGC” or “Commission”) may “advise the City Council as to 
any . . . action or policy that it deems advisable to enhance open and effective 
government in Berkeley”; and  

WHEREAS, while Commission members agree that it is admirable to donate to 
organizations that serve the City, some members feel the practice of using office budget 
funds for this purpose and attaching individual Councilmembers’ names to the donation 
may raise the public profile of a Councilmember and provide unfair advantage to an 
incumbent; and

WHEREAS, the Commission has expressed a desire to work collaboratively with the 
City Council to consider recommendations governing grants made from relinquishments 
of funds from Councilmembers’ office budgets.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that a 
temporary joint advisory committee consisting of three (3) members of the City Council 
and three (3) members of the Open Government Commission is hereby created to 
enable discussion between the Council and the OGC to make recommendations 
governing relinquishments and grants from Councilmembers’ office budgets.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council and the Open Government 
Commission each shall, as soon as practicable and by majority vote, appoint three 
members to the committee created by this resolution.

BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the committee created by this resolution shall hold its 
first meeting within 60 days of passage of this resolution and at that first meeting shall 
determine the need for any subsequent meetings and shall adopt a schedule for any 
such subsequent meetings. 

Page 4 of 4

198


	10-26 Agenda - Agenda Committee
	10-13 Minutes - Agenda Committee
	Draft 11-10 Agenda - Council
	Draft Item 08 Berkeley Holiday Funds
	Draft Item 09 Open West Campus Pool
	Draft Item 10 Refer to the City Manager
	Draft Item 13 Four Way Stop Signs
	Draft Item 14 Implement Protocols
	Draft Item 15 Consider Fire Safety Options
	Item 05 Upcoming Workshops
	Item 06 Council Referrals
	Item 07 Land Use Calendar
	Item 08 Legistative Body Meetings
	Item 09 Commission Reorganization
	Item 10 Amendments to the Berkeley Election
	Item 11 Relinquishments and grants



